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PREFACE

The sixteen Gilbert and nine Ellice Islands form a chain of
coral atolls and reef islands that lies between latitudes 3°30'N
and 2°45'S and longitudes 172°30'E and 180° in the central Pacific
Ocean. Only Butaritari, Tarawa and Abemama in the Gilberts and
Nukufetau and Funafuti in the Ellice Islands offer safe lagoon
anchorages‘for ships with a draft in excess of fifteen feet.
Landing at the reef islands, for example at Nikunau and Tamana in
the Gilberts or at Nanumanga and Niutao in the Ellice, can be
hazardous in calm weather and is virtually impossible during
westerly storms. Poor soils, composed primarily of sand and
vegetal deposits, sparse and irregular rainfall, and the shallow
freshwater lens associated with low coral islands (maximum altitude
of about fifteen feet) all combine to place severe limitations on
the range of agricultural crops that can be grown. Pandanus,
breadfruit and the ubiquitous coconut are the main tree crops and
a coarse taro-like plant (known as babai in the Gilberts and pulaka
in the Ellice) is laboriously cultivated in pits up to eight feet
in depth on all islands. A wider range of exotic crops, bananas
and papaw for example,can be grown with ease in the Ellice Islands
but only with difficulty on most of the Gilbert Islands.

Throughout both groups, traditional systems of land tenure which
have led to extensive fragmentation make effective land utilisation

difficult; the problem is complicated on those atolls which

consist of a string of islets spread along a reef. It is clear
that, before the days of imported foodstuffs, the Gilbertese and
Ellice Islanders were forced to live in a delicate balance with

their environment.

Once the Colonial Office had reluctantly agreed to establish
Protectorates over the Gilbert and Ellice Islands in the late 19th
century it was then faced with the task of devising a means of
administering two groups of small islands that were not only
scattered over a distance of almost a thousand miles but were also
cut off from the mainstream of world and even regional transport
routes. The High Commissioner for the Western Pacific, the official

responsible for finding a solution, was forced to consider the basic
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conditions that existed in the islands themselves as well as a
Treasury edict that any administration established for the groups
was to be financially independent. The islands, with a total land
area of less than 115 square miles, showed little potential for
economic development save the limited cultivation of the coconut
for the export of copra. There were fundamental ethnic differences
between the Gilbertese (Micronesian) and the Ellice Islanders
(Polynesian) and cultural variations within the groups which were
reflected in the island governments that would have to form the
basis of any local administrative structure. The heterogeneous
nature of the island communities makes generalisation difficult for
any period in the history of the Gilbert and Ellice Islands; but,
with appropriate qualifications, patterns may be discerned and
general conclusions drawn for specific groups of islands at specific
times. In more than three-quarters of a century of colonial rule,
there have been constant pressures towards conformity, but the

identity of the individual islands has by no means been destroyed.

To some extent the structure of the administration designed
to meet the demands of the situation can be seen as fitting into a
traditional British pattern; but always the smallness of the
territory, its geographical fragmentation and isolation, and its
lack of economic resources have caused considerable modifications
to be made. From the outset the groups were treated as a single
administrative unit, an arrangement that was formalised in 1916
when, along with Ocean Island which had been annexed in 1900, the
Protectorates were combined to form a Colony. 1In the interests
of administrative convenience other groups of islands in the central
Pacific were subsequently included within the Colony's boundaries,
giving it a land area of 283 square miles spread over 2,000,000
square miles of ocean. Throughout the period of British rule the
Administration of the Gilbert and Ellice Islands has been responsible,
through the High Commissioner for the Western Pacific, to the
Colonial Office and, more recently, to the Foreign and Commonwealth

Office in London.

Prior to the Second World War the Government of the Colony was
concerned with little more, in the Gilbert and Ellice groups, than
the supervision of the island governments and the provision of a

minimum of social services and, at Ocean Island, with acting as an
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overseer for the phosphate industry. The war, with Japanese and

American occupation of some islands, marked a turning point. The

exposure of the islanders to large numbers of foreign troops of

various nationalities, new ideas and technology, coincided with

far-reaching reappraisals of British colonial policy. Post-war

policies were particularly concerned with political development

and the provision of social services and were designed to lead to ‘
eventual self-government. The scattered nature of the Colony led

to centralisation of Government and services on Tarawa - a |
development that haé had political repercussions. There has been
criticism of the Government for what is, with some justice, seen

as neglect of the outer islands; on Tarawa, racial tension between
Gilbertese and Ellice Islanders has become more evident as the
latter have travelled to Colony headquarters seeking education and
employment. To date, both Gilbertese and Ellice Islanders have
generally co-opefated in constitutional development but indications
have emerged, particularly in the past five years, that a split may

occur in the future, with the Ellice Islanders, numbering some 7,500

of a total population of 55,000, seeking to protect minority
interests. Many Gilbertese and Ellice Islanders see separation into
two political units as the only solution: a view that the Colony
Government is not prepared to accept at the present time. The
Colony will also have to face serious economic problems in the near
future. The phosphate deposits on Ocean Island,which currently
provide more than half of the Colony's ordinary revenue,will be
exhausted by 1978.  Attempts are being made to promote agricultural
and fisheries development and to discover new avenues for overseas
employment, but it is doubtful whether economic self-sufficiency

is possible if present living standards are to be maintained.

This thesis covers the period from 1893 when C.R. Swayne was
first appointed as the British Government's sole representative in
the groups, until the present, when the Colony's civil service
numbers nearly a thousand, of whom 120 are expatriates. Early in
1971 the Colony progressed to a 'member' system of government, as
a prelude to a ministerial system, with some legislative
responsibility being handed to a council with an elected majority.
The move represented a return to the orthodoxy of the 'Westminster
model' of constitutional development, but it is doubtful whether

the Colony will continue to progress along these lines. Some form
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of federation or a devolution of power to regional councils seems
likely if the Colony is to retain its present boundaries after

internal self-government or independence.

The thesis is concerned primarily with the Gilbert and Ellice
Islands as such; that is, the islands that were placed under
British protection in 1892. Other islands which were later
included in the Colony have been considered only in so far as they
have affected the policies of the Government or events within the
Gilbert and Ellice groups. The phosphate industry at Ocean Island,
for example, has been of crucial importance both as a source of
income and as a labour outlet and has been considered in that light.
The Gilbertese and Ellice Islanders believe that because the
deposits lie within the Colony, the industry can properly be taxed
for their benefit; the Banabans, the original landowners, believe
that Britain is subsidising a non-viable Colony at their expense.
The legal and moral issues have not been made the subject of
discussion; it has been accepted that the Colony is now

financially dependent on a wasting asset.

There are certain deficiencies in the historical material
relating to the Gilbert and Ellice Islands which should be noted.
For the years prior to the Second World War the only internal
official correspondence available is that which was forwarded to
the High Commissioner in Suva and is now preserved in the Western
Pacific Archives; all other records were destroyed during the
period of hostilities.. And while any study of a colonial
administration must, of necessity, be based largely on official
records, private accounts by participanfs or observers can present
a different point of view. Apart from mission records which are
only readily available for the years up to 1920, there are few
unofficial accounts, published or in manuscript, relating to the

Colony after that time.

The problem has been overcome to some extent by interviewing
former officers of the Administration, both expatriate and local,
and through discussions with community leaders on the outer islands.
For the more modern period I learnt much during seven months'
residence in the Colony in 1969, and on a short visit in 1970, from
discussions with Members of the House of Representatives, members

of Island Councils, civil servants, mission representatives and




others. I was also fortunate in being able to attend several of
the meetings held on the outer islands by the Members of the Select

Committee on the constitution during July and September 1969.

Because some of those people who made information available
did so in confidence, and because the Government, while not
placing any restrictions on my use of certain material, asked that
sources might not be divulged, I must apologise to readers for a
lack of documentation for some statements made in the later
chapters. Further, it should not be assumed that any official
manuscript records cited for the post-war period are necessarily

available to all research workers.
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Gilbertese
babai

boti

bubuti

eiriki

inaomata

I Matang
kainga
katei
kaubure

Kaubure

kaunga

maneaba

tia motiki-taeka

tinaba

toka

xii

GLOSSARY

a coarse calladium, similar to giant taro

area of the maneaba reserved for a
particular clan. By extension boti can
also be applied to the clan itself.

solicitation of goods or services

potential sex partners of a Gilbertese
(the wives of his uterine or classifcatory
brothers; the uterine sisters of his wife)

commoner or freeman |

European

clan hamlet

customary code of political relationships
councillor (corruption of faipule (Samoan))

local government councillor (in legislation
1894-1966) )

serf or slave

thatched meeting house; traditionally the
focus of all social activity, the local law
court and the seat of village government

spokesman in the maneaba who announced
decisions after community discussion

strictly, a man's tinaba were his sons'
wives, his brothers' wives, his wife's
mother and his wife's mother's sisters but
normally the only tinaba with whom a man
would have sexual relations would be the
wives of his brothers' sons

social rank immediatelj below high chief
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uea high chief
unimane 0old man/men (commonly applied to community
leaders)

Ellice
aumaga young men's club (adopted from Samoan)
faigqle councillor (adopted from Samoan)
fakamolemole solicitation of goods or services
Kaupuli local government councillor (corruption

of faipule)

kau taka unmarried men's 'club'
pulaka a coarse calladium, similar to giant taro
tupu high chief

Note: Where relevant, sources have been cited in the footnotes
when the terms are first used. Foreign words in the text,
apart from those appearing in the glossary, have not been
italicised.
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NOTE _ON ORTHOGRAPHY

Gilbertese

There are thirteen letters in the Gilbertese alphabet - a,

.e, i, o, u, my, n, ng, b, k, r, t and w.

ng is pronounced as in singer

b is sometimes pronounced as in English and sometimes
as English 'p'

t may be pronounced as in English; but
ti is pronounced as 'si' (see) or as 'chi' (chee)
tu is pronounced as 'soo' in the northern Gilberts and

as 'too' in the south

w is pronounced as English 'v' when followed by e.

Ellice

There are sixteen letters in the Ellice alphabet - a, e, i,

o, u, £, h, k, 1, m, n, ng, p, s, t and v. Each vowel has a short
and a long duration; every word ends in a vowel.

Note:

k, m, n, p, s and t are all pronounced as harder sounds
than in English

f and v are pronounced as softer sounds than in English

all vowels are sounded separately.

Macrons are used in some mission publications but this is
no longer common practice for either language.

Local usage has been adopted in the spelling of names.

Source : GEIC, The Structure of Gilbertese (Cowell), 1951;

Te Ngangana a te Tuvalu: Handbook on the Language of the
Ellice Islands (Kennedy), 1945.
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PART I

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND




CHAPTER 1

BEFORE THE FLAG

The racial origins of the first inhabitants of the Gilbert
Islands are shrouded in conjecture and folk-lore1 buthoral' _
traditions suggest that the group was already inhabited when large
parties of Samoén,invaders arrived, following their'defeat in civil
war, approximately twenty-three to twenty-five generations ago.
Allowing twenty-five years to a generation this would place the
invasion some time late in the l4th or early in ‘the 15th century.
For about two centuries the structure of Gilbertese society remained

uniform with four basic social grades of uea, toka, inaomata and

kaunga - the approximate equivalents of chiefs, nobles, commoners and
slaves. There were no fixed lines of descent for chiefship, and the
powers of the uea were by no means absolute. Eight or nine
generations after the invasion from Samoa, in the 17th century,
armies from the southern island of Beru conquered all the islands

as far north as Marakei in an attempt to introduce a new social
order, of Samoan origin, that had been developed and established on
Beru, Nikunau and Onotoa. At the centre of the new system‘was the
maneaba, a large thatched meeting house set on coral pillars,

which was the focus of the political and social life of its

. sﬁrrounding district.. Some clans were regarded as more influential
than others but chiefs were no longer recognised. Instead,
"political and social authority was placed firmly in the hands of

the unimane, or old men, meeting in counéilw Ceremonial functions
and speaking rights were allocated among the various boti, or

2
meneaba sitting places,. of the clan groups.

All the islands from Arorae to Nonouti were divided into

maneaba districts and the new order introduced with fair success.

1 For one account, based on oral traditions, see Grimble, "Myths
from the Gilbert Islands', Folklore, XXXIII (1922), 91-112.

2 Grimble, The Migrations of a Pandanus People, as traced from a
preliminary study of food, food-traditions, and food rituals in
the Gilbert Islands, 103; Maude, The Evolution of Leocal
Government in the Gilbert Islands, An Historical Reconstruction
(unpublished typescript, 1960), 1-5; Maude, The Evolution of
the Gilbertese Boti, An Ethnohistorial Interpretation, passim.




The decisions of the unimane were accepted by the populace at large .
but, in the event of défiance, resort to arms was inevitable. 1In
such cases, however, an individual's chance of success was limited
unless he could rely on the support of the dominant Karongoa clan.
Nonouti and Tabiteuea, much larger than the islands further south,
and with greater populations which placed considerable pressure on
land resources, were divided into several constantly-feuding

districts.

On the islands from Abemama to Marakei, more remote from Beru,
the uea remained, but as war-lords rather than dynastic chiefs, and
with considerably reduced authority. Here, the maneaba councils
had only acquired sufficient status to act as a check on undue
personal ambition. The political situation on these islands
encouraged political opportunism expressed in almost constant

warfare as rival uea strove for pre-eminence.

Butaritari and Makin in the far north remained free from
Beruan dinfluence. The traditional political system remained until
the end of the 18th century when Teauoki succeeded in uniting both
islands under his sole control.. He ruled with the assistance of a
council of his kinsmen and, although some authority was delegated
to subsidiary chiefs, Teauoki and his successors assumed and

retained the right to distribute all land.4

In pre-contact times the Gilbertese did notvlive in large
consolidated villages but in small hamlets which reflected the
clan organisation of society. To some extent these kainga were
concentrated near the maneaba but, more often,, :were’located on
family lands scatteréd through the maneaba district.5 Land,
because of its very scarcity, has always been of crucial
importance to the Gilbertese. With the exception of Butaritari
and Makin, land plots, which could vary in size from a few square
yards to several acres, were inherited by both men and women,

with the eldest receiving more than the youngest, and with males

3 Maude, The Gilbertese Boti, 45-8; Maude, Local Government, 5.

4  Maude, Local Government, 2.

5 Maude, The Gilbertese Boti, 28-32.




enjoying preference over females. Such a practice obviously
resulted in fragmentation and, given that individuals could inherit
from both parents, few enjoyed the advantages of a single
consoiidated holding. Land was seldom divided until the owner felt
he was near death and hence the custom provided an in-built security
against neglect in old age. Rules of inheritance were not rigid
and preference could be shown towards a favourite child. 1In
addition to the transference of lands by inheritance, plots could
be transferred on the occasion of a birth, an adoption or a
marriage, or in return for services rendered; for example, for
medical treatment or assistance during drought.6 The importance of
land is further illustrated by the fact that its confiscation was

one of the most common punishments for crime.

Despite the variation in political organisation throughout
the group the law showed a quite remarkable conformity. Murder,
theft, adultery, incest and assault were considered the most
serious crimes. The usual punishments were confiscation of one or
more pieces of land, enslavement, death or banishment. Less

serious crimes were usually punished by fines. in coconuts.

The use of the English terms 'incest' and 'adultery' requifes
some further explanation. Incest, in Gilbertese usage, was defined
as sexual relations between persons who could trace a common
ancestor up to and including three generations or who were members
of the same clan. Again, an exception must be made for the
families of high chiefs in the nofthern Gilberts who often married
first cousins, and who were permitted to take more than one wife.
Marital fidelity was generally enforced but was not as narrowly
defined as in English law. For example, according to the tinaba
custom, sexual relations were permitted between a man and the
wives of his brothers' sons, provided all parties were agreeable
and certain ritual and gift-obligations were fulfilled. Further,
on his marriage a man would acquire sexual rights over the uterine

sisters of his wife under the eiriki custom. Should he subsequently

6 Lundsgaarde, Cultural Adaptation in the Southern Gilbert
Islands, 115-41. '

7 Maude, Local Government, 7-11.




allow one of them to marry as a virgin both husbands would share
rights over a common group of women, thus giving rise to the
practice of 'wife-exchange; so bitterly criticized by the early
missionaries. Divorce was usually an uncomplicated process that
could be initiated by either partner. Often, but not necessarily,
‘divorce involved compensation in lands or the return of marriage

gifts.8

It is extremely difficult to assess with any accuracy the
population of any of the Gilbert Islands during the 19th century
or before. Estimates based on brief visits by ships' captains and
missionaries can generally be disregarded and even those of
resident traders must be treated with caution. For example in
1861 Randell, a trader on Butaritari, put the population of the
group at between 50,500 and 54;000.9 His estimates for the
northern islands, of which his knowledge was greatest, were similar
to those obtained by Captain Davis of the Rozalist'in 1892, but for
the most part his estimates for the southern islands were more than
double those of Davis. In the case of Nikunau, for example,
Randell's estimate was 5,000 to 6,000 compared with Davis' figure
of 1,779. Davis' estimate of the total population of the group was
25,430,10 approximately half the figure given by Randell. Whilev
the population of the central and southern islands had‘been reduced
by warfare; disease and labour recruiting, it is unlikely that the
overall population had been reduced by half in the course of thirty
~years. It would appear, therefore, that while Davis' figures are
themselves open to question, those of Randell are probably |

excessive, perhaps by as much as ten to fifteen thousand. It

8 Lands Commissioner to Acting Sec. to Govt., 5 Dec. 1938, enclosed
in R.C. to H.C., mno. 431, 13 Dec. 1938 - WPHC, F10/12; ,
Grimble, 'From Birth to Death in the Gilbert Islands', Journal of
the Royal Anthropological Institute, LI (1921), 27-8; GEIC,
Instructions and Hints to District Officers and Sub-Accountants
(Grimble and Clarke), 1929, 5-6; Maude, The Gilbertese Boti,
App. 3, 59-61. '

9 Published in The Friend, Sept. 1861.

10 'Papers respecting the Declaration of a British Protectorate over
the Gilbert Islands by Captain Davis, of Her Majesty's ship
""Royalist'; and General Reports upon the Gilbert, Ellice, and
Marshall Islands' [Royalist Report] - F.0.C.P. no. 6269, 48-50.




also seems that the Gilbertese had a clear view of the optimum
population that their islands could support. In addition to natural
checks on population growth, and'warfare, the Gilbertese resorted to
infanticide and abortion (although the incidence of these practices
cannot be ‘accurately assessed) and, in the event of undue pressure

induced by drought, to compulsory emigration.

Accounts of the origins and early history of the' Ellice
Islanders agree that a party of Samoans from Upolu, induced to
leave by defeat or dissension, arrived at Vaitupu early in the
16th century, and that it was from this island that others in the
group were settled. Smith, working on combined Samoan and Ellice
material, suggested in 1897 that the first two canoes had arrived
at Vaitupu in 1525.12 In 1931 Kennedy, basing his calculatiqns
on Vaitupuanbgenealogies, stated that settlement had probably taken
place some 400 years before, or-around 1530. 13 Occupatlon must
certainly have taken place by this t1me if one accepts Maude's

deduction that the 'Island of Jesus , where Mendafia was greeted by

five or six canoes in 1586, was, in fact Nui in the northern
14
Ellice.

Some of the traditions collected by Roberts at Nanumea and

" Nukufetau indicate Tonga as the land of origin, and Robefts himself
tentatively suggests thaf beliefs in Samoa as the ancestral
homeland of the Ellice Islanders may, in part, be derived fromlthe
teachings of Samoan pastbrs.15 Brady, arguing on 1inguistic

grounds, has recently supported the view that there was strong‘

11 GEIC, Report ... on [the] colonization of the Phoenix Islands
by the surplus population of the Gilbert and Ellice Islands
(Maude), 1937, 3.

12 Smith, 'The First Inhabitants of the Ellice Group', Journal of
the Polynesian Society, VI (1897), 210-11.

13 Kennedy, The Culture of Vaitupu, Ellice Islands, 2.

14 Maude, 'Spanish Discoveries in the Central Pacifici, in Of
Islands and Men: Studies in Pacific History, 54-8.

15 Roberts, 'Te Atu Tuvalu, A Short History of the Ellice Islands',
Journal of the Polynesian Society, LXVII (1958), 394-423.




Tongan influence in the northern Ellice Islands.16 It is probable,
therefore, that, prior to the Tongan slave raids of the 17th and
18th centuries, occasional canoes from the Tongan archipelago did
reach the group and that their occupants were assimilated into

Ellice society.

The political organisation of the Ellice Islands conformed to
a pattern common to much of Polynesia. On all islands the demands
of defence, especially against the Tongans, led to the emergence
of two or more chiefly families. Generally speaking, each island
had a tupu, or high chief, and a subsidiary chief chosen from
different families. On the death or deposition of the former, the
other would assume the superior position, and another subsidiary
chief would be chosen. The result of this practice was a
rotation of high office among the leading families. In time the
chief's role became essentially that of an arbiter and a
decision-maker after a consensus had been obtained by commhnity
discussion. Any tendency towards autocracy“resulted in a rapid

shift of public opinion and the election of a new tuEu.17'

Shortly affer its initial settlement the island of Nui
suffered an invasion from the Gilbert Island of Tarawa and
possibly there was a later influx of exiles from Tabiteuéé.

Since that time the Nui Islanders have been in an exceptional
position in the Ellice group. Although the island retained a
chiefly system of government, its social organisation has become a
hybrid mixture of the two cultures. The people speak a dialect of

Gilbertese.18

In contrast to the Gilbert Islands, land in the Ellice may
be held communally as well as individually. Customs governing the

ownership, exchange and inheritance of land are otherwise similar

16 Brady, Land Tenure, Kinship and Community Structure:
Strategies for Living in the Ellice Islands of Western
Polynesia (Ph.D. thesis, University of Oregon), 1970, 16.

17 D.O., E.I.D. to Seec. to Govt., mo. 47, 12 April 1948 - GEIC,
Secretariat, lst Series, F6/8/2 (Central Archives).

18 ibid., Grimble, 'Myths from the Gilbert Islands', 98-101;
Roberts, 'Te Atu Tuvalu', 403-4.




to those of the Gilbert Islands. Like the Gilbertese, the Ellice
Islanders have suffered from problems arising . from excessive
fragmentation of land plot‘s.19 The total area of the Ellice
Islands is less than ten square miles and the group has, as a
consequence, suffered from a degree of pobulation bressure fbr

some generations. In 1892 Davis estimated the population of the
group at 3,117 with populations per island ranging from 95 at
Nukulaelae to 690 at Nanumea.20 In the 19th century, several of .the
islands, particularly Nukulaelae and Funafuti, suffered from
Peruviaﬁ slave raids and this factor,21 combined with introduced
‘disease, probably caused a considerable decrease in population,
perhéps from a figure of between four and five thousand.

Artificial population controls in the form of infanticide and
abortion were common; traditions indicate that only the first male

and female child of any union were permitted to survive.

Although islands in both Gilbert and Ellice groups_.had been
.sighted by Mendafia and Quiros in the late 16th and early 17th
centuries, and Byron had visited Nikunau in 1765, it was not until
after the settlement of Port Jackson in 1788 that most of the
islands Qere discovered by Europeans. The discovery of the 'off-shore'
whaling grounds of the central Pacific in 1818, and the consequent
increase in shipping in the area in the following eight years, saw all

the islands sighted and placed, at least approximately, on the map.23

Until the 1840s contact between the crews of visiting ships and

the islanders were extremely limited, being confined to the barter

19 Brady, Kinship, Land Tenure and Community Structure, 103-55;
Kennedy, 'Land Tenure in the Ellice Islands', Journal of the
. Polynesian Society, LXII (1953), 348-58.

20 'Royalist Report', 52.

21 'Cruise of H.M.S. "Espiégle", April 24 - October 3, 1883. Report
on certain Groups of Islands visited' [Espiégle Report],
print, 1; Murray, Forty Years' Mission Work in Polynesia and
New Guinea, from 1835 to 1875, 381, 385. '

22 Roberts, 'Te Atu Tuvalu', passim.

23 Maude, 'Spanish Discoveries' and 'Post-Spanish Discoveries in
the Central Pacific', in Of Islands and Men, 35-135 passim;
Tower, A Short History of the American Whale Fishery, 58.




of trinkets, hoop-iron, simple implements and tobacco for
handicrafts, coconuts and, in the Gilbert Islands, for women.
Products usually associated with Pacific trade in the early 19th
century were either not available, as in the case of sandalwood or,b
like tortoise shell and béche-de-mer, available only in limited
quantities. Trade in the latter had an extremely limited

potential because of the laborious preparation involved.

The growth of the coconut oil trade, initially carried on by
whaling captains, gave new impetus to the growth of commerce in
the Gilbert Islands. Coconut o0il was already used domestically and
additional quantities were readily prepared in order to buy tobacco
which was, at this stage, almost the sole currency acceptable to
the Gilbertese. The range of goods available widened to include
alcohol, firearms, knives and cotton goods with the advent of

resident traders in the mid-l8403.24

Earlier settlers, deserters who had chosen a beachcombing
existence, or had had it chosen for them by a miserly or
dissatisfied ship's captain, had depended for their survival on a
ready acceptance of local customsiand habits, and an absence of any
material wealth; but their existence was always a precarious one.
For example, in 1851, Tem Baiteke, the uea of Abemama had the
thirty-four Europeans living within his demesne killed when he
decided they were becoming too troublesome.25 The early
beachcombefs, however, by their very presence, formed a valuable

contact between the islanders and itinerant traders.

The Gilbert Islanders had early acquired an unfavourable
reputation for their eagerness to pilfer from visitors and, if
possible, to cut off and plunder their ships.26 The introduction

of arms and alcohol by the traders did much to exacerbate the

24 Maude and Leeson, 'The Coconut 0il Trade in the Gilbert
Islands', in Of Islands and Men, 234-40.

25 Maude, 'Baiteke and Binoka of Abemama: arbiters of change in
the Gilbert Islands', in Davidson and Scarr (ed.), Pacific
Islands Portraits, 206.

26 Maude and Leeson, 'The Coconut 0il Trade', 236-9; Nautical
Magazine, XXXI, no. 8, Aug. 1862.




problem. Local warfare became a more lethal business and the
traders helped to make their own lives more pgrilous. Most traders,
especially the representatives of the Sydney firm of Smith, Randell
and Fairclough, sought political stability in order to foster trade
and accordingly intervened in island politics to this end. Some,
less scrupulous, encouraged dissension in order to promote the sale
of firearms.27 While the majority of commerce in the 1840s and
1850s was in the hands of Europeans, transactions at some northern
islands were controlled by the high chiefs who thus enjoyed a

virtual monopoly of the means of acquiring firearms.

Both itinerant and resident traders reached the Ellice
Islands at a considerably later date than the Gilberts. There were
only four traders resident in the group when the representatives of
the London Missionary Society [L.M.S.] arrived in 1865.28 By 1892
there were seven Europeans living in the group of whom five were
trading.29 Apart from an isolated incident at Niutao in the early
1860s, there was none of the disorder in the Ellice that accompanied
the growth of commerce in the Gilberts, nor were arms and alcohol
imported in significant quantities. Trade was generally confined
to an exchange of coconut o0il, and copra which replaced o0il in the
1870s, for tobacco and later for calico and cotton goods in order

to cater for the islanders' new-found 'modesty’.

A further hazard faced by traders in the Gilbert Islands from
the 1860s was the possibility of reprisals taken by Gilbertese who
had suffered insult, injury or loss at the hands of labour
recruiters or buccaneers like 'Bully' Hayes. A minor recruiting
venture conducted for Benjamin Boyd of Sydney at the islands of
Tamana and Arorae in 1847 was followed by a lull of more than a
decade until Peruvian raids again drew attention to the groups as
a source of labour. 1In 1863, 161 Gilbertese were shipped for the

Peruvian phosphate mines but permission to land them in Peru was

27 Maude, Local Government, 15-16.

28 Sollas, 'The Legendary History of Funafuti, Ellice Group',

Nature, LV, no. 1424, 11 Feb. 1897, 354-5; 'Espiégle Report', 3;
hature Lspiegle

Murray, Forty Years' Mission Work, 404-5.

29 'Royalist Report', 85-9.
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refused. Those who survived the trip were returned to the Cook
Islands where a mere 110 were landed at Penrhyn.30 In the same year
an estimated 200 to 250 were taken at Nukulaelae out of a

- population of a little over 300; 180 were induced to board ship at
Funafuti and a further three at Nukufetau, two of whom escaped at
Rotuma.,31 Recruiting for Tahiti and Fiji followed. 1In the 1870s
labourers from the Gilbert Islands began arriving in Honolulu. By
1880 it was estimated that there were almost a thousand Gilbertese
working in the Hawaiian islands.32 Ships from Fiji continued to
visit the Gilbert and Ellice Islands in search of labourers in the
1870s' and 1880s, aloﬁg with ships recruiting for Samoa and ‘
Queensland,.but met with little success. By 1885 the restrictions
placed on plantation owners and recruiters by the Queensland and
British Governments, combined with a reluctance to recruit on the
part of the islanders, brought a virtual halt to the traffic in the
groups.33 There was a brief revival in the early 1890s when
American recruiters sought labour for Mexican and central American
plantations. In 1891 the Tahiti with 400 Gilbertese labourers on
board overturned off California with a total loss of life when
headed for Mexico-34 In the following year, shortly after the
declaration of the frotectorate, the Monserrat left the Gilberts,

for Guatemala, with 388 labourers.35

The disorder that accompanied recruiting was often continued
with the repatriatioﬁ of labourers. When thirty Abaiang Islanders
Qere returned from Hawaii, with arms and ammunition, to Nonouti in
1883 spasmodic warfare soon broke out between the northern and
southern parts of the island. The northerners approached Tem Binoka

of Abemama for assistance with the result that his armies crossed to

30 Maude and Leeson, 'The Coconut 0il Trade', 268-9.

31 Murray, Forty Years' Mission Work, 381, 385-6; 'Espiégle
Report', 1. .

32 Bingham to Clark, 8 April 1880 - ABCFM Correspondence.

33 Scarr, Fragments of Empire, A History of the Western Pacific
High Commission, '1877-1914, 176-92 passim.

34 The Examiner (San Francisco), 15,16 Oct. 1892.

35 ibid., The Friend, Nov. 1892.
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Nonouti in a trading vessel and conquered the island which the uea
thereafter regarded as a part of his dominions - a view which he
publicised by the‘addifion of a fourth star to his flag. He was
disabused of the idea by Captain Moore of H.M.S. Dart in 1884 but
not before he had permitted a French labour vessel to carry off
150 of the Nonouti people.36 " The Ellice Islands suffered
recruiting and recruiters in the absence of the means to do '
otherwise. In this group and in the séuthern Gilberts, where
recrﬁiting had been concentrated until the 1880s, the trade made a
considerable psychological impact on the islanders. On large
jungle-covered islands the inhabitants could evade recruiters if
they wished, but such defence was impossible on small low coral
islands. The success of the early missionaries therefore must be
seen in part, but only in part, as a reaction againét the labour
trade.’

The L.M.S. extended its activities to the Ellice Islands in
1865 and five years later moved into the southern Gilberts.37
Until 1900 the work was carried on by Samoan pastors %upplemented
by an occasional Ellice or Cook Islander under the supervision of
European missionaries based in Samoa.38 No single factor can
adequately expiain the overwhelming success of the mission in
transfofming the islands into 'Christian"communities in tﬁe,short
space of a decade. True, the majority of the pastors came fiom'the
Ellice Islanders' traditional home, and spoke a similar language,
but this cannot account for the destrucﬁion of shrines in the
southern Ellice Islands, apparently on the advice of an itinerant
trader, several years before the arrival of the missionariesf' Nor
can it account for the enthusiastic reception given Elekana, a .
deacon of the L.M.S. at Manihiki who had been carried in a canoe

to Nukulaelae in 1861. Elekana was permitted to leave for Samoa

36 'Report of Proceedings of H.M.S. '"Dart'" in the Fiji, Ellice,
Gilbert, Marshall, New Britain, &c., Groups, from May to
September, 1884' [Dart Report]l, print, 14.

37 Murray, Forty Years' Mission Work, 375-93; see also journals
of A.W. Murray (1865) and S.J.Whitmee (1870) - IMS, South
Seas, Journals.

38 For visitation reports see IMS, South Seas, Journals, 1865-1900.
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only on condition that he would return with a teacher for the
people of the island.39 And the Peruvian raders did not reach
Nukulaelae until 1863, after Elekana's departure for Samoa, and

only the two southernmost islands were significantly depopulated.40

In the Gilberts the position was slightly different. Labour
vessels héd, by 1870, visited all of the southern islands and took,
for example, an estimated 1,000 from Nikunau Between 1868 and 1872.
It is clear that the pastors, together with the more responsible
traders formed the focus of opposition to the recruiters.41 The
mission's monopoly of education also served to consolidate its
influence. Education in the Ellice Islands was in Samoan, oriented
towards biblical studies, and available to adherents of all ages.42
By the time the first Ellice Islanders were admitted to church
membership in 1870 a large proportion of the population was

literate in spoken and written Samoan.

By the 1870s all the Ellice Islands as well as Tamana and
Arorae, and, to a lesser extent, the other Gilbert Islands as far
north as Beru, were nominal Christian communities, ruled by laws
suggested by the pastors and accepted by the deacons on behalf of
the people.44 Authority thus tended to accumulate in the hands of
the pastors to the point where they were able to usurp the power of
the traditional chiefs in the Ellice and the unimane of the southern

Gilberts.

The first mission station in the northern Gilbert Islands was
established at Abaiang by the Rev. Hiram Bingham, Junior, for the

American Board of»Commissioners for Foreign Missions [A.B.C.F.M.]

39 Murray, Forty Years' Mission Work, 375-80, 383, 385.

40 ibid., 381, 385; 'Espiégle Report', 1.

41 Journals of T. Powell (1871) and G. Pratt (1872) - LMS, South
Seas, Journals. .

42 Murray, Forty Years' Mission Work, 397-423 passim.

43 Journal of S.J. Whitmee (1870) - loc. cit.

44 'Espiégle Report', passim.
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in November‘1857.45 Bingham's greatest achievements lay in the
field of linguistics whetre he produced thé first Gilbertese grammar,
an English-GilBertese dictionary and, by 1873, the New Testament in
Gilbertese.46 In his attempts to produce a Christian society on-
Abaiang and to mould Kaiea, the uea, into a new Kamehameha he was

less successful.

The progress of the A.B.C.F.M. in the northern Gilberts was
inhibited by several factors. Firstly, the islands were
characterised by political instability. Apart from Abemama, where
the missionaries were forbidden permission to land,47 and
Butaritari-Makin, there was no island with strong centralised
political leadership but, rather, two or more uea constantly
étruggling for precedence. Abaiang was in a slightly different
position. Between 1855 and 1858 Kaiea had succeeded in defeating
his immediate rivals and having himself recognised as uea for the
whole island. But it was a tenuous supremacy that could be
maintained only at the cost of frequent campaigns on both Abaiang

and the neighbouring island of Tarawa.48

Most significantly, perhaps, the smoking of tobacco was
forbidden for church members on both medical and spiritual
grounds49 - a condition hardly likely to appeal to the tobacco-

addicted Gilbertese.50 The work of the pastors was virtually

45 Nautical Magazine, XXXI, no. 8, Aug. 1862.

46 The Friend, May 1873.

47 Pierson, 'Journal of a Voyage from the Sandwich Islands through
the Kingsmill and Mulgrave Islands to Strong's Island in the
Caroline Group, 1855' - ABCFM Correspondence.

48 Gunson, Abaiang and its Dynasty under Missionary Influence
(unpublished Typescript, n.d.); see also Bingham's letters
- ABCFM Correspondence.

49 For example: '... Mr. Walkup has a Church Law, that no smoker
shall be admitted into the fellowship of the Church .... He
says that Tobacco is an idol, an uncleanness, and that no true
and sincere christian can be a smoker'. Goward to Thompson,
12 Feb. 1908 - LMS, South Seas, Letters.

50 See, for example, Maude and Leeson, 'The Coconut 0il Trade',
passim; Wilkes, Narrative of the United States Exploring
Expedition during the vyears 1838, 1839, 1840, 1841, 1842, V, 62.
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unsupervised except during the brief visits of the Mission's vessel,

the Morning Star, when Bingham, until 1868, and his successors

Walkup and Taylor, would tour the islands as far south as Tabiteuea.
In 1881 the Mission's training school was removed to Kusaie in the
Caroline Islands and from that date the stations in the Gilberts

C s 5
were even less regularly visited.

The history of Abaiang during the decade of Bingham's
residence was marked by a series of fluctuations between war and
peace, between periods of drunkenness and periods of dancing, and
between phases of chiefly virtue and chiefly excess. Under Kaiea II,
in the 1870s and 1880s, the same pattern continued. 1In 1877 the uea
was admitted to church membership but three years later he crossed to
Tarawa to suppress a rebellion that posed a threat to his influence.
On the other northern islands where pastors were stationed the
A.B.C.F.M. had only limited success until the 1880s when the
influence of missién groups was sufficient to see new codes of laws

introduced.5

On Nonouti and Tabiteuea, with their maneaba governments, the
pastors found their task even more difficult. On the former island
the Mission made only slow progress for ten years and was then
obliged, from 1888, to meet the competition of two European Roman

Catholic priests who permitted both dancing and smoking.54 Two

Hawaiian pastors were stationed at Tabiteuea from 1868.55 Church .
membership rose rapidly in the 1870s when Kapu, one of the pastors,
forsook the Bible for the sword and succeeded in converting the
northern part of the island. In 1880 he rallied his forces with a
mixture of preaching, threats of extermination and promises of the
land to be captured, and embarked on a crusade against the people of

the south who had rejected his teaching. In the principal battle an

estimated 600 to 1,000 of the southerners were killed and their

51 Gunson, Abaiang and its Dynasty; The Friend, 1857-1917, passim.
52 ibid.

53 The Friend, March 1889, April 1890.

54 ibid., April 1889, May 1890.

55 ibid., July 1869.
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bodies burned. Kapu then proceeded to rule the island through
village church committees until he was removed by the Mission two
years later. Within a few years his successors reported that
they were unable to’curb drinking, dancing and gambling on the

island.57

Prior to European contact, the maneaba system of government
‘was firmly established in the southern Gilberts while in the north
the influence of the unimane was increasing steadily at the expense
of chiefly power.58 A similar erosion of chiefly authority was
taking place in the Ellice Islands. There, the absenée of any
external threat for more than a century, together with the presence
of two or more chiefly families on each island, had prevented any

individual or family from enjoying absolute or unchallenged power.

The arrival of Europeans in the northern Gilberts, however,
led to a strengthening of the powers of the uea. Missionaries and
traders tended to recognise a single uea as a paramount chief or
'king'. The increase in disorder and faction warfare that
accompanied the introduction of firearms into the group also .
contributed towards a centralisation of power; power that was, on
occasion, followed by or derived from the possession of a trading

agency which enabled its owner to enjoy a monopoly of firearms.

In the Ellice and southern Gilbert Islands the'péstofé4of the
L.M.S. were undoubtedly responsible for the most sigﬁificant changes
in the island governments in this period.’ Fear of labour recruiters,
educational opportunitities and the strong personalities of the
Samoan pastors were all factors which contributed towards strong-

‘mission control.

From the 1870s, labour recruiting, increased trading activity
and the frequent disputes that arose among foreign residents and

between foreign residents and the islanders drew the attention of

56 Interviews conducted at north and south Tabiteuea, September -
October 1969; see also, 'Espiégle Report', 5; 'Royalist
Report', 128; R.C. to H.C., not numbered, 1 July 1895 - WPHC,
Inwards Correspondence, General, 215/189.

57 The Friend, April 1889.

58 Maude, Local Government, 32-3.
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the metropolitan governments to the island groups of the Pacific.
Under'the Western Pacific Order in Council of 1877 the High
Commissioner, with his offices in Suva, was given considerable
judicial power over British subjects residing in such 'Western
Pacific Islands' as were outside Her Majesty's Dominions and not
'within the jurisdiction of any civilized Power'. As a result four
British naval vessels visited the Gilbert and Ellice groups between
1881 and 1886. Their commanders, who were empowered to act as
Deputy Commissioners under the Order, were concerﬁed primarily with
offences by or against British subjects but on occasion a liberal
interpretation of instructions allowed them to intervene or
~arbitrate as fhey_saw fit. Traders often complained of laws which
prevented their visiting ships on Sundays, and to trading tabus
imposed by the islanders in an attempt to raise the price of copra
or to lower the cost of gooas, but commanders tended to take the
view that residents on the islands were obliged to accept local
laws. Fines in copra were sometimes infiicted as compensation to
traders for theft or pilfering, but in disputes between islanders
and traders judicial sympathy was almost invariably with the
former.59 Naval captains, with their guidance and advice, backed
by coercive power if necessary, played a significant role in the
development of the governments of the Gilbert and Ellice Isiands
prior to the declaration of the Protectorates by assisting the
island leaders to sett¥e their own affairs and by giving them

support in their dealings with foreign residents and visitors.

By the 1890s, then, traders, recruiters, missionaries and
naval commanders had combined to stimulate considerable changes in
the island governments in more than fifty years of significant
contact. The islénds had, however, been subjected to varying
degrees of influence and each had accepted, adapted or rejected
‘new ideas depending on its particular circumstances and the

inclinations of its leaders.

Butaritari, the island most visited by trans-Pacific shipping

had developed into the main commercial centre with twenty-one

59 See, 'Report on the Ellice, Gilbert, Marshall and Caroline
Islands' (H.M.S. Emerald, 188l) - WPHC, Inwards Correspondence,
General, 128/1881; 'Espiégle Report' (1883); 'Dart Report'
(1884); 'Report of Proceedings of H.M.S. Miranda' (1886), print.
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foreign residents of whom twenty were, at least nominally,.trading.60
Competition among the various trading interests for the business of
the 2,000 inhabitants of the island had led to the evolution of the
'clip' system - credit in return for future copra production -
which had resulted in heavy indebtedness on the island.6 ‘
Tebureimoa, the uea, was influenced at times by certain traders,

- particularly the representatives of Crawford and Co@pany of
California who had arranged, at a price, the gggfs trip to San
Francisco in 1891?2 And although he ruled with the advice of a
council of his own choosing, he still retained effective control
over the island and its neighbour, Makin. Traders were levied $100
a year for licences and the laws, made by uea and enforced By his
police, carried heavy money fines - a practice that accelerated the
descent into indebtedness of many of the island's inhabitants.
Except for a few Roman Catﬁolics the island was a Protestant enclave

with a law for compulsory church attendance.

Although Kanoho, the Hawaiian pastor on Marakei, reported in
1888 that the people of the island had 'been setting their hands
to the making of laws for their better government, and for the
suppression of evil practices',‘G4 the authority of the uea, Ten Tatun,
was by no means secure. Ten Tatun had seized power with the
assistance of Kanoho in 188665 and,'although he was able to charge
$50 for trading licences, and levy an annual head tax, traditional

clan rivalries continued. By 1892 only 600 of the estimated

60 'Royalist Réport', 50.

61 ibid., 66-8; R.C. to H.C., Gilberts no. 38, 13 March 189 -
WPHC, Inwards Correspondence, General, 105/1894; Gilberts
no. 44, 21 March 1894 - ibid., 106/189%4.

62 The Examiner, 15,16 Oct. 1892.

63 -'Rozalist Report', 66-8; The Friend, May 1894. Various forms
of currency, especially Chilean dollars, were introduced by
traders prior to the declaration of the Protectorate -
$5 = £1.

64 The Friend, April 1888.

65 MAude; Local Government, 28.
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population of 2,000 were Protestant and many old customs, for

example polygamy and infanticide, were still practised.

At Abaiang, Kaiea II, the uea, had been able to consolidate
his position by the 1880s and ruled the island with his council of
four and seventeen'police.67 Both he and his councillors were
members of the A.B.C.F.M. and a new code of laws had been
promulgated in 1889.68 There was an annual levy of $50 on traders
and a fine of $25 for drunkenness. Adultery and theft were
punished by the confiscation of lands as compensation for the

injured parties.

Tarawa had probably the least stable government in the northern
Gilbert Islands. The island was torn by civil war between the
northern and southern districts of the island, led by their
respeétive uea. Firearms and liquor had both been imported in
large quantities.70 Walkup reported in 1891 that a new code of
laws had been introduced but that its acceptance had been undermined
by a party of Tem Binoka's envoys who advised dancing instead of
church attendance.71 It is doubtful, theréfore, given the state of
war and the fact that only a small proportion of the populatioﬁ
gave allegiance to the church, whether the laws were enforced to any
significant degree.72 There is no evidence to suggest that there
was a 1oca1‘government to compare with those of the islandé further

north with a uea's council and a police force.

Maiana was little visited in the 19th century because of its

difficult 1agoon.entrance. By 1892, however, there were four traders

.66 'Royalist Report', 68-9.

67 ibid., 69-70.

68 The Friénd, April 1889.

69 'Royalist Report', 69-7Q.

70 ibid., 70-74; Maude, Local Government, 29.
71 The Friend, May 1891.

72 'Royalist Report', 49. Davis states that 600 of a population
of 3,000 were Protestant.
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resident on the island,73 two of whom were to play significant

roles in the British administration -»Corrie‘as interpreter and
Murdoch as government agent and District Magistrate. The populace
was essentially Pagan, and polygamy had been abolished only in 1891.
Customary punishments'were enforced for adultery, theft and

murder.74 '

Tem Binoka, the ggg>of Abemama, Aranuka and Kuria, died in
1891 to be succeeded by his brother Timon and, a few months later,
by the latter's son, Bauro, a boy of ten years who ruled through a
council of regents.75 Twenty-éight years eariier Tem Baiteke,
Binoka's father, had led devastating raids on Aranuka and Kuria.
As a’'result, many fled to Maiana, Tarawa and Abaiang; the few
survivors became the slaves of Baiteke and Binoka.76 \Following
upoanaiteke'é campaigns Binoka had even further reduced the\
population of all three islands and’ took advantage of his monopoly
of firearms to rule with absolute authority. In 1861 Randell's
population estimates were 5,000 for Abemaﬁa, 1,000 for Aranuka and
1,500 for Kuria.77 The figures giVen by Davis were 700, 100 and
30 respectively.78 Binoka altered the traditional seating pattern
in the maneaba to favour his own boti of Kaburara.79 All trade
was kept in the hands of the uea or his agents. Binoka's whim

was law.

Although the majority of the inhabitants of Nonouti were
nominally Christian by 1892, with the numbers of Catholics and

Protestants about even, the maneaba system of government and

73 ibid., 74.

74 ibid.

75 ibid.

76‘ Letter from Bingﬁam in the Missionary Herald (Boston),
Aug. 1864, 244; Maude, 'Baiteke and Binoka', 211;

Sabatier, Sous 1'Equateur du Pacifique, Les Iles Gilbert et
la Mission Catholique, 113518.

77 The Friend, Sept. 1861.

78 'Royalist Report', 48-9.

79 Maude, The Gilbertese Boti, 45.
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customary law prevailed. The existence of eight more or less
independent maneaba districts with their traditional rivalries, the
size of the island, and the presence of two religious creeds
precluded the establishment of a mission-dominated government.80

A similar situation existed at Tabiteuea. The brief reign of Kapu
and his mission committees, and the attempts of his. successors to
introduce new laws,81 represented but a passing phase in the
history of the island. 1In 1892_£he majority of the people were
still Pagan and, following the civil war of 1880, governed by the
unimane in the maneaba councils of the north. Traditional laws

. e aeas . : : . 2
with traditional punishments were still enforced.8

The five smail islands,of‘the southern Gilberts had
traditionally been governed under maneaba councils. Within a
decade of their arrival the representatives of the L.M.S. had
succeeded in transferring power to'the‘kaubure,83.who were in‘
practice the village deacons. The practice for district councils
to meet together to discuss island affairs was retained. Often the
deacons were chosen from émong the unimane bdt thé basis of the old
men's power had changed. The maneaba remained, but as a shadow of
its former self. The maneaba itself was still a centre for Village
~social life but it had lost a great deal of the.sénctity accdrded it
by custom, and the spiritual sanctions that had operated against
those who offended its customs were no longer effective.84

Christian laws were introduced. At Onotoa church attendance was

80 'Royalist Report', 75; Maude, Local Government,'30.

81 The Friend, Nov. 1889.
82 'Royalist Report', 78-9; Maude, Local Government, 31.

83 Samoan pastors first introduced the title of faipule to describe
the officers of the mission governments. In time the title
became kaupuli in both groups and, later kaubure in the Gilbert
Islands. In order to avoid confusion the term faipule has been
applied to the Ellice Islands and kaubure to the Gilberts for
the period before 1892. For positions in the island
governments established by the Native Laws of 1894, and

. subsequent legislation, Kaupuli and Kaubure, for the Ellice and
Gilbert groups respectively have been used. In general
discussion Kaubure has been used for both groups.

84 Maude, Local Government, 31; The Gilbertese Boti, 22.
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compulsory three times a week with a fine of ten nuts for
non-observance. A fine of 1,000 nuts was standard for fornication

at Tamana and for adultery the punishment was a fine of $50 and a
flogging for both parties. Large numbers of police, paid by

results, were common. At Nikunau there were 200 police for an
estimated population of 1,779 and at Beru 138 for 2,277 peop_le.85
Fines were usually divided among the pastoré and the kaubure.86

The role of the pastors in the political organisation was significant.
Not only did they rule through the church but the church, in practice,
became the civil éuthority on the islands,87 At the same time the
pastors showed little interest in furthering the education of the
islanders and the majority of church members were almost totally

ignorant in matters of doctrine.88

In the Ellice Islands the authority of the tupu had been
rapidly eroded leaving them with 1itt1é more than a ceremonial role.
The deacons and leading church supporters were at the centre of the
new political system when they met as the council of faipule. Some
members of chiefly families held office in the new structure, but
by grace rather than by right and, in the council, were regarded as
a single voice among equals. The faipule were responsible for thev
administration of the islands, under the guidance of the pastor, and
for the dispensing of justice in lieu of, or in conjunction with, a

judge. The role of police was usually assumed by the faigule.89

The laws introduced by the faipule were concerned primarily
with 'morals' and with inculcating a due respect for.miséionaries,
mission property and the sabbath. At Nukufetau, for example,
fornication usually rated a fine of 300 coconuts but when committed

on the sabbath the fine was 1,300 nuts. There were also fines for.

85 'Royalist Report', 79-82.

86 Maude, Local Governmeﬁt, 32.

87 1ibid.; 'Report of Work in the Tokelau, Ellice and Gilbert
Groups, L.M.S., September 1900 to September 1902' - LMS,
South Seas, Reports.

88 'Report ... L.M.S.', ibid.

89 Journals of S.H. Davies (1882) and J. Marriott (1883) - LMS,
South Seas, Journals; 'Royalist Report', 85-9.
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non-attendance at church, 10 nuts, and quarrelling with the mission
teacher, 100 nuts. Vigilance in upholding the laws was encouraged
by allowing for fixed sums to be paid to injured parties and cash
gratuities for persons witnessing an offence or making an arrest,

in additioﬁ to the fines which were divided among the pastors and
faipule. Conviction for adultery at Vaitupu resulted in payments

to the faipule of $5, $3 each to the 'injured' spouses, and 50 cents
to the person(s) witnessing the offence.go Generally speaking,
however, fines in the Ellice Islands were moderate compared with

those in the Gilberts.91

Under an Anglo-German declaratlon of 1886 the western Pacific
was divided into two recognised spheres of influence separated by
a line drawn from New Guinea, north of the Solomon and Gilbert
Islands and south of Nauru and the Marshall Islands.92 The Gilbert
and Ellice Islands thus fell within the British sphere but for six
years no Briti§h naval vessel visited the groups and the High
Commissioner, hampered by a lack of funds and transport, was unable

. . e . . 9
to exercise effectively his jurisdiction in the islands. 3

At the same time the northern Gilbert Islands in particulér
became the focus of rivalry between American and German trading
interests in the central Pacific with the latter receiving support
from the visits of four German naval vessels between 1888 and
1892.94 Because of ‘restrictions placed on the.labour trade in the
German zone the recruiters, too, began to look southwards.95
American traders on Butaritari, and especially Adolph Rick who had
sought and obtained the post of United Statés Commercial Agent,

pressed for the visit of an American man-of-war, the establishment

90 'Native Laws of the Gilbert and Ellice Islands' - WPHC,
Miscellaneous Papers, General.

91 'Royalist Report', 85-9.

92 S. of S. to H.C., Circular Despatch, 3 May 1886 - WPHC,
Despatches from S. of S.

93 H.C. to S. of S., Confidential, 3 May 1889 - CO 225/30. See
also Scarr, Fragments of Empire, 115-77 passim.

94 'Royalist Report', 66, 70.

95 H.C. to S..0of S., Confidential, 3 May 1889 - loc. cit.
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of a coaling station, or treaties with island authorities as an
expression of U.S., Government interest in the group, but to no
avail.9 When recruiting for central American plantations, in
which some American trading firms were involved, took place in 1891,
however, the German Government approached the Foreign Office with a

request that a protectorate be declared over the Gilbert Islands.97

The request, made by the German Ambassador in London, was
based primarily on the need to establish some form of law and order
in the'grbup. Subsequent representations emphasised irregularities
in the labour trade, as conducted by some American interests, and
expressed the hope that Britain would act in order to prevent the
United States Government from making official treaties and thus
precluding intervention by other powers. German interests, it was
stated, were primarily concerned with keeping the area open as a
source of labour for plantations in Samoa. All representations
were made on the understanding that such recruiting would be
allowed to continue in the event of a protectorate being established.
The German Government also emphasised that the islands lay within
the British sphere of inflﬁence and that, accordingly, Germany had
declined to meet a petition signed by German traders in 1888 for
annexation by Germany.98 The advantages enjoyed by American
traders in the Butaritari credit-war may have been an additional,

although unstated, redason behind the request.

While there were certainly strong reasons in favour of
establishing some form of effective jurisdiction in the group, to
maintain law and order and to control labour recruiting, the other
arguments put fofward by the German Government carry less weight.
Rick, as U.S. Commercial Agent, had certainly advocated treaties
but his Government had shown little interest in assuming formal
control over any Pacific islands. Following the Anglo-German

declaration the United States Government, mindful of its own past,

96 See, for example, Rick to Assistant Secretary of State (U.S.A.),
14 Aug. 1888 - Despatches from U.S. Consul in Butaritari,
1888-1892. :

97 S. of S. to H.C., Confidential, 5 April 1892 (with enclosures)
- WPHC, Confidential Despatches from S. of S.

98 1ibid.
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pointed out that colonial acquisition was not a declared policy of
the Government, even though it could claim rights over certain
Pacific islands on the grounds that they were settled by American
citizens, and expressed confidence that other, colonial oriented,
powers would not discriﬁinate against its citizens in trade or
other matters.99 When Captain Davis visited Butaritari at the
conclusion of his flag-raising'tour of the Gilbert Islands he 7
sparked off a considerable round of diplomatic correspondence by
refusing to recognise Rick as a representative of.the United States
Government. Davis argued that Rick had been accredited only to the
.uea of Butaritari, and not to Her Majesty's Government, and that

he could not, therefore, be recognised.

With little regard for accuracy, and little knowledge,
representatives of the United States in London argued that:

the germs of civilization were planted in the Gilbert

group by the zealous endeavours of American citizens

more than half-a-century ago. The result of this work,

carried on by American citizens and money, has been, in

fact, to change the naked barbarism of the island natives

into enlightened communities, and to lay the foundation

of the trade and commerce which have given those islands

importance in the eyes of Europe today.1
It was again argued that the United States Government had 'slept
upon its rights to reap the benefits of the development produced by
the effort of its citizens'. The 'expediency, and indeed that
necessity' of maintaining consular representation in the Gilbert
Islands following Davis' 'strange conduct' was also pointed out:.]"02
Henry White, the Chargé d'Affaires for the United States in.London,
was'evidently unaware, when he wrote the above in November 1892,
that his home Government's interest in the Gilbert Islands was
minimal. In April of the same year the Under Secretary»of State

had written to instruct Rick to close the Commercial Agency

99 Washington Post, 8 Sept., 1892 - reprinted as enclosure to
no. 33 in F.0.C.P., no. 6328.

100 Rick-Davis correspondence - no. 66 in F.0.C.P., no. 6328.

101 White (U.S. Chargé d'Affaires, London) to F.O0., 21 Nov. 1892
’ - no. 77 in F.0.C.P., no. 6328.

102 ibid.
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at Butaritari - a decision that had been made effective -in
September 1892.1q3

©

In 1889 Thurston, as High Commissioner, had suggested the
appointment of a Deputy Commissioner for the Solomon, Gilbert and
Ellice Islands as a means of controlling German recruiting in the
area and the expansion of German interests generally.104 Two years
later, with a foreign power more direétly involved, the Colonial
Office had to consider again its role in the western Pacific. It
was reluctant to take action because of the costs involved aﬁd the
absence of any Strategic advantage to be gained.105 In the final
analysis it was the prospect of German annexation, and the
consequent defeat of the intentions of the 1886 declaration, that
stimulated action.lo6 The Admiralty was instructed to make a
vessel available from the Royal Australia Station for the purpose
of raising the flag.107 vCaptain Davis, commanding H.M.S. Royalist,
sailed for the group and declared a Protectorate over the Gilbert

Islands at Abemama on 27 May 1892.108

The Ellice Islands had been virtually ignored in these:
discussions but Davis had been given instructions to visit the
group during his return voyage to Suva. At all islands he received

a clear mandate for a British Protectorate.109 In June 1892

103 Rick to Assistant Secretary of State, 24 Sept. 1892
(acknowledging instructions dated 28 April 1892) - Despatches
from U.S. Consul in Butaritari, 1888-1892.

104 H.C. to S. of S., Confidential, 3 May 1889 - loc. cit.

105 S. of S. to H.C., Confidential, 5 April 1892 (with
enclosures) - loc. cit.

106 C.0. to F.O0., 21 Jan. 1892, enclosure - ibid.

107 Admiralty to Commander of Royal Australia Station,
5 Feb. 1892, enclosure - ibid.

108 'Royalist Report', 10.

109 ibid., 85-9.




26

Thurston put the case for the group being included in the Gilbert

Islands Protectorate:

From an Admiralty point of view I do not suppose that
the possession of these islands would be considered of
any advantage to the Crown: but two of them, that is
to say, Nukufetau and Funafuti, embrace large and
extensive lagoons easily accessible to large ships,
and as they are all possessed of commercial value, I
venture to submit that it would be inexpedient if in
the present circumstances they passed under the
control of any foreign power.l10

Thurston also pointed out, not quite accurately, that the trade
of the group was entirely in British hands. He also assured the
Colonial Office that their inclusion in the Gilbert Islénds
Protectorate would not involve any additional expenditure.111
These arguments were accepted by the Colonial Office and a
separate Protectorate was declared over the Ellice Islands at

Vaitupu on 9 September 1892 by Captain Gibson of H.M.S. Curagoa.112

110 H.C. to S. of S., Confidential, 23 June 1892 - WPHC,
Confidential Despatches to S. of S.

111 1ibid.

112 Gibson to Scott, 20 Sept. 1892 - enclosure in no. 100
in F.0.C.P., no. 6328. :




PART II

PENURY, PATERNALISM AND PHOSPHATE:

DOMINANT THEMES BEFORE THE SECOND WORLD WAR




27

CHAPTER 2

THE INITIAL IMPACT OF GOVERNMENT, 1892-1908

Sir John Thurston, the High Commissioner for the Western
Pacific, saw the establishment of law and order as the main
problem that would be faced by the new administration in the
Gilbert and Ellice Islands. The people, he wrote, needed
protection from labour recruiters, avaricious traders,the effects
of the introduction bf.liquor and firearms and from 'the criminal
waifs and strajs who drift or who are driven into the Pacifié
from civilized societies'.1 But there were practical difficulties
to be faced. Under existing Orders in Council the High
Commissioner had jurisdiction only over British subjects living
in the groups and none, save persuasion, over non-British
residents and islanders.2 Without official transport at his
disposal, the difficulties faced by a Resident would be greatly
increased, Above all, the Treasury had stipulated that an
appointment could be made only if there was a guarantee that there

would be no need to call upon imperial funds.3

It was essential, then, if a British Resident was to be
appointed, that there should also be established some means of
collecting the taxation required to support an administration.
Thurston envisaged the development and expansion of existing
institutions to accompiish this end. With respect to the island
governments, however, the powers of the Resident would be
strictly limited:

the Resident would do no more, ... [Thurston

wrote] than advise the Chiefs, aiding them as far as

possible, with his moral support, but leaving to

them the exercise and responsibility of police and
magisterial functions. He would bring before and

1 H.C. to S. of S., Confidential, 31 Aug. 1892 - WPHC,
Confidential Despatches to S. of S.

2 Scarr, Fragments of Empire, 252-6.

3 Treasury to C.0., 25 Feb. 1893, enclosed in S. of S. to H.C.,
no. 8, 13 March 1893 - WPHC, Despatches from S. of S.
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and explain to them from time to time simple laws
and regulations for the better conduct of their
affairs, which when passed by the established and
recognized authority would upon receiving the
Resident's assent become law,4

Thurston beljeved that the best solution to the problems caused
by-the presence of about eighty foreigners (British and non-British)
in the groups lay in complete annexation by Britain and the creation
of_a comprehensive administration. It'was unsatisfactory, he
argued, to appoint a Resident would would be dependent on a large

,‘number:of petty governments for many of his powers.

Ripon, as Secretary of State; was opposed to annexation. He
was not prepared to go beyond the declaration of a protectorate
overvthe islands and the provision of the minimum administrative
staff.6 Cost was another factor. By Colonial Office standards the
scheﬁe was expensive with recurrent expenditure being estimated at
£2,700 a year.7 Thurston's original proposal, for the islands to
‘ remaih as Protectorates and for the appointment of a single
officer, was approved. Expenditure-was estimated at £875 a year.8
A Colonial Office suggestion that a representative body should be
created, similar to the Council of Arikis recently established in
the Cook Islands, ﬁas rejected by Thurston. The Gilbert Islands
were too scattered, he replied, and 'the degree or civilization
" attained by the natives of the Cooks Group is far in advance of

that of the Gilbert _'.[slanders'.9

Problems concerning the High Commissioner's jurisdiction over
non-British residents were solved by the Western Pacific Order in

Council of 1893 which granted him wide powers over all non-native

-4 H.C. to 8. of S., Confidential, 31 Aug. 1892 - loc. cit.
5 ibid.

6 C.0. to Treasury, 20 Jan. 1893, enclosed in S. of S. to H.C.,
no. 8, 13 March 1893 - loc. cit.

7 H.C. to S. of S., Confidential, 31 Aug. 1892 - loc. cit.
8 ibid.

9 ibid.; S. of S. to H.C., Confidential, 5 April 1892 - WPHC,
Confidential Despatches from S. of S.
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persons residing in British-protected islands of the western Pacific.
In the course of a tour through the Gilbert and Ellice groups in

mid-1893 Thurston signed jurisdictional treaties with all the island

_ 10
governments and was thus empowered to act under the Order. Queen's

Regulations No. 3 and ‘No. 4 of 1893, made by the High Commissioner,
prohibited the sale or supply of liquor and firearms to all native

persons in the Protectorates.

- After his tour of the groups Thurston realised that the
Resident would, at least in the first instance, require legal
training and judicial experience. With this in mind he recommended
that C.R. Swayne, a Stipendiary Magistrate in the Fiji service since
1878, should be loaned to the High Commission for a period of six to
twelve months.11 His appointment was provisional, and his salary of
£500 a year was to be paid temporarily from unspent funds allocated

for a Deputy Commissioner in the Solomon Islands.12

Swayne's first task on taking up hisbappointment was to
investigate trading debts, amounting to $32,439, owed by the people
of Butaritari and Makin. He found that most debts had been ;
contracted under the 'clip' system - the mortgage of the produce of
specified pieces of land in return for credit - which had been
introduced by Hawaiian traders in the 1860s and thereafter adopted
by all traders on Butaritari and Makin. - 'In their attempts to pay
fines of up to $100 for breaches of the uea's laws, the islanders
had exacerbated the problem by trading 'clips' among themselves.
Following a visit of H,I.G.M.S. Sperber in 1891, the mortgage of
land and crops had been forbidden by the uea, but, from that time
until January 1894, no action had been taken to investigate claims.
After hearing all submissions, in which debtors freely volunteered
information to assist claimants, Swayne found that valid claims
totalled $18,953 at Butaritari and $4,984 at Makin. In accordance

with a custom which allowed the uea to collect the produce of any

10 H.C. to S. of S.,.no. 28, 2 Sept. 1893 - WPHC, Despatches to
S. of S.

11 ibid.

12 C.0. minute on H.C. to S. of S., no. 29, 2 Sept. 1893 - CO 225/42.
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land on either island for either personal or public benefit, the
Resident suggested that a tabu be declared on the sale of nuts and
copra, and that the newly-formed island government should assume
responsibility for the debts - a course immediately adopted by the

. 1
uea and his council.

In the course of his first tour through the groups Swayne made
a close survey of the structure of the island governments and their
laws as a first stage towards producing a consolidated code of laws
for the grOups.14 Bearing in mind the minimal supervision that
would be possible, he was obliged to build on existing institutions
to a considerable degree. Accordingly, the local government
constitution drawn up provided for a different form of government
for the southern Gilbert Islands from that designed for the chiefly

societies of the northern Gilbert and Ellice Islands.

In the latter, the High Chief was made responsible for the
good order of the island assisted by a council of Kaubure. The
High Chief, Kaubure, and other government officials were to meet
mpnthly. Island governments were permitted to pass regulations for
'the good order and cleanliness' of the islands with maximum
punishments of a fine of ten shillings or one month's imprisonment.
In the southern Gilbert Islands the Kaubure were made jointly
responsible for good order and at each meeting were to elect one of
their number as president. On all principal islands (that is,
excluding Makin, Kuria and Aranuka, which were regarded as
dependencies) one or two Magistrates were to be appointed to hear
all offences under the Native Laws and island regulations.
Magistrates could call up to six Kaubure as assessors and were
obliged to call twelve for a murder trial. An island Scribe and
village police completed the complement of island officials. All fines
and » a  landowners' levy were to be paid into an Island Fund

under the supervision of the Scribe. Magistrates, Scribes, and

13 Report of enquiry into debts on Butaritari, enclosed in R.C. to
H.C., Gilberts no. 38, 13 March 1894 - WPHC, Inwards ’
Correspondence, General, 105/1894. Swayne's official title was
British Resident and Deputy Commissioner for the Western
Pacific. Within a few years the title had been shortened to
Resident Commissioner.

14 R.C. to H.C., Gilberts no. 6, 21 Dec. 1893 - ibid.,‘22/1894.
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police were to be paid salaries from the Funds at rates to be

determined by the island governments.

It would appear, however, that after he had collected the laws
of the various islands, and they had been translated by Corrie,

Swayne prepared the Native Laws and submitted them to the High

: 16
Commissioner prior to their being approved by the island governments.

The Laws were printed and then introduced and explained on the
islands but this was the limit of consultation between the Resident

and the governments.

In the Native Laws simplicity, in concept and expression, was
the keynote. As far as he considered possible Swayne based the
laws on custom, as it had been modified by mission and other alien
influences, and with due regard for indigenous views of the

. . 18
seriousness of any given offence.

‘Theft, assault, adultery, rape, carrying naked fire, abuse;

slander, drunkenness, fornication (defined as sexual intercourse with

" a woman betrothed to another man), and cutting down trees were all

regarded as offences and carried fines ranging from 10s.

to £5 or imprisonment from two weeks to two years. Floggingtwas
also sanctioned for second and subsequent theft offences;
Cbmpensation, in cases of fornication (up to £10) and adultery (up
to £20) and to the extent of loss by theft, could also be enforced.

The death penalty, requiring the Resident's sanction, was retained

15 Native Laws of the Gilbert Islands (1894); Native Laws of
the Ellice Islands (1894).

16 H.C. to S. of S., no. 22, 13 June 1894 - WPHC, Despatches to
S. of S.; R.C. to H.C., no. 6, 21 Dec. 1893 - loc. cit.; Gilberts
no. 11, 29 Dec. 1893.- WPHC, Inwards Correspondence, General,
27/189%4.

17 ibid.; Swayne arrived at Butaritari on 7 December after
travelling through the Ellice and Gilbert groups on his way from
Fiji. The draft laws were sent to Thurston on 28 December (R.C.
to H.C., no. 10, 28 Dec. 1893 - WPHC, Inwards Correspondence,
General, 22/1894). As Swayne did not leave Butaritari in the
interim it follows that the code could not have been submitted to
the island governments before it received Thurston's approval.

18 R.C.. to H.'C‘.’,:G"i'iisé‘r‘és no.:11, 29 Dec: 1893 - loc. cit.
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for murder. Sabbath observance and school attendance for children
were included in the code without stated penalties for non-observance.
Although High Chiefs and Kaubure could appeal to the Resident for
advice at any time the latter's only obligatory function was to

confirm or commute death penalties.

In drafting the laws Swayne drew heavily on such codes as were
available, but in the matter of punishments important modifications
_were made. The death penalty, previously enforced on some islands

for adultery with a chief's wife, incest or persistent anti-social

behaviour, was abolished for all crimes save that of murder. ‘
Confiscation of land, as a punishment, had been replaced by fines in %
the Ellice and some southern Gilbert Islands as a result of mission |
influence, but was still enforced on most Gilbert Islands for a wide

range of offences. To the Gilbertese, land was almost as important

as life itself. The replacement of land confiscation by

imprisonment, itself an alien concepﬁ, or fines, which after all

only required a short-term effort,to pay, therefore had grave

consequences for the traditional leaders of society in that their

most effective means of ensuring conformity to social norms was

removed.

The Native Laws of 1894 introduced a further new concept to
both groups of islands. As in most primitive societies, crimes had
previously been regarded as against a person, or the community at
large and not against an impersonal gbvernment. Prior to the
introduction of the laws the Victiﬁ of any offence had been
compensated and, throughout the islands, such fines as were paid
were for the personal benefit of the rulers. In the north the uea
received fines and in the southern Gilbert and Ellice Islands any

fines collected were divided among the kaubure and faipule.

Traditionally and, later, under their mission inspired
governﬁents neither Gilbertese nor Ellice Islanders had any notion
of a division between legislative, executive and judicial functions
of government. The appointment of Magistrates was therefore a
significant innovation, even though there had been a traditional

tia motiki-taeka (giver of the deciding word) under the maneaba

19 Gilbe;t Islands and Ellice Islands, Native Laws.
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governments,20 and one that was to have profound effects on the
island governments and the nature of island society. The Magistrate,
like the law, was soon seen as dependent on the central Government,
and responsible to it, rather than to the uea or the people. From
the time that Magistrates were first appointed their eventual

domination over the uea and Kaubure was inevitable.

The recognition of a single high chief in the Ellice and
northern Gilbert Islands was also significant. 'Only Butaritari,
Abaiang and Abemama had stfong and stable chiefly governments; The
position of the ggg on the other northern islands was tenuous to say
the least and represented little more than temporary dominance in
island politics. In the Ellice, too, chiefs could not hold office
contrary to public opinion. An important element of flexibility
traditionally designed to meet changing circumétances on the

islands was thus removed.

: Aﬁart.from trading licences and a levy of £1 on all non-native
persons save ministers of religion,the administration of the Gilbert
and Ellice Islands Protectorate21 was dependent on the 'Queen's Tax',
or the contributions of the island governments, for its revenue.
Swayne's assessments ranged from £5 to £100 per island and were
calculated on a basis of 2s. per man.22 On the islands themselves,
individual taxes were usually assessed in copra at rates ranging
upwards from 50 lb - worth about 4s. The deducation of local
expenses, which were minimal, and the Queen's Tax thus allowed a

fair accumulation in the various Island Funds-23

Swayne spent the major part of his two years in the Protectorate
touring the islands establishing, supervising and advising the new

governments. Misunderstandings and abuses of authority were frequent

20 Maude, Local Government, 37.

21 Although the groups were, technically, separate Protectorates,
they were always administered as a single unit and were usually
(even in legislation) given the designation of 'The Gilbert and
Ellice Islands Protectorate'. This 'legal fiction', as it was
later called by im Thurn, has been preserved for convenience of
reference.

22 R.C. to H.C., Gilberts no. 6, 21 Dec. 1893 - loc. cit.

23 ibid.
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and, as his term of office proceeded, Swayne found it necessary to

assume a more active role than had been envisaged by Thurston.

Where possible Swayne insisted on the election of all officials
at full maneaba meetings but always assumed the right to»confirm
appointments. On occasion he dismissed officials but then allowed
their successors to be elected.24 Where hé felt strong action was
necessary Swayne was careful to seek legal justification. For
example when the uea of Marakei and Tarawa were deported in 1894 and
1895 respectively, action was taken under the Order in Council of
1893. 1In neither case could the deposed uea be regarded as the most
influential man on his island and both had sought to consolidate
their positions by partial judgements and the use of their powers

under the Native Laws to suppress rivals.

In the southern Gilberts administration had traditionally been

vested in the unimane. With the introduction of the Native Laws all

the unimane from the various maneaba districts met as the Kaubure and,

as Swayne observed, spent most of their time quarrelling. 1In the
interests of orderly government the Resident induced the.pgople to
reduce the number of Kaubufe~from 181 to 34 at Nonouti, for

example, and from 120 to an unknown number at Beru.26 According to
the constitution a president was to be elected by the Kaubure at each
monthly meeting. Swayne found it impossible to persuade the southern
Gilbertese to accept a permanent appointment as Chief of Kaubure
(envisaged as the equivalent of a High Chief) in view of their strong
repugnance for any man who raised himself, or was raised, above his‘
fellows. A compromise was reached whereby Chiefs of Kaubure were

2
elected for a two-year term. 7

24 R.C. to H.C., Gilberts no. 79, 7 Aug. 1894 - WPHC, Inwards
Correspondence, General, 198/1894; Gilberts no. 6, 25 Jan.
1895 - ibid., 46/1895.

25 R.C. to H.C., Gilberts no. 79, 7 Aug. 1894 - loc. cit.

26 R.C. to H.C., Gilberts no. 13, 30 Dec. 1893, enclosed in H.C.
to S. of S., no. 8, 21 Feb. 1894 - CO 225/45; Gilberts no. 79,
7 Aug. 1894 - loc. cit.; not numbered, 1 July 1895 - WPHC,
Inwards Correspondence, General, 215/1895.

27 R.C. to H.C., Gilberts-no. 79, 7 Aug. 1894 - loc. cit.; Gilberts

no. 3, 19 Jan. 1895 -~ WPHC, Inwards Correspondence, General,
41/1895.
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Financial considerations had excluded the possibility of a
vessel fdr the British Resident, andISwayne, therefore, was dependent
on irregular commercial shipping for his tours of the southern
islands. He made frequent use of the Archer, owned by Henderson and
Macfarlane of Auckland, and appointed Clarke, the ship's supercargo,
as his tax collector in the Ellice.28 It was not until January 1895
that Swayne had an opportunity of distributing the Native Laws in
the Ellice Islands and when he did so the position of the L.M.S. was
strengthened by his insistence that all Magistrates should be able to
read the Laws printed in Samoan.29 Swayne accepted the domination of
the Ellice Islands governments by mission interests and made no
attempt to separate éhurch and government affairs. Taxation for
Protectorate funds was assessed at between £5 and £20 per island
- considerably less than either pastors' salaries or contributioms

to the L.M.S. vessel, John Williams.30 On occasions, however, the

islanders asked Swayne to supervise the election of a new government
to replace persons previously dismissed in 'palace revolutioms',

. . . . 31
sometimes for excessive sloth and sometimes for excessive zeal.

Partly by necessity, and partly be conviction, Swayne interfered

in the affairs of the island governments as little as possible. He

generally accepted rule by uea, gnimane or the church, and was careful
to emphasise that his role was one of arbiter. In the settlement of
trading debts at Butaritari, Tarawa and Abemama, in hearing disputes
between the representatives of rival missions, in supervising elections

'cat' be substituted for the brutal tail

and in suggesting that the
of the giant ray, he tried to act as an outsider concerned with

assisting disputants to reach agreement among themselves.

28 R.C. to H.C., not numbered, 7 July 1895 - ibid., 216/1895.
29 R.C. to H.C., Ellice no. &4, 17 Jan. 1895 - ibid., 42/1895.

30 ibid.; R.C. to H.C., Ellice no. 6, 25 Jan. 1895 - ibid., 46/1895;
Ellice no. 75, 1 Sept. 1895 - ibid., 367/1895. For example, the
tax at Vaitupu for 1895 was £20 ($100). Contributions to the
L.M.S. for 1894 had totalled $168 in addition to $141 paid to
the mission teacher. In 1895 contributions to the L.,M.S. totalled
$451.

31 R.C. to H.C., Ellice no. 75, 1 Sept. 1895 - loc. cit.

32 R.C. to H.C., Dec. 1893 to Sept. 1895, passim.
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For the first two years of its existence the administration of
the Protectorate rested on a shaky financial base. The drought in
' the southern Gilberts, which Thurston had reported after his trip,
did not break until 1894 and it took several more months for the
coconut trees to récover sufficiently to allow their exploitation for
copra. As a result, only £100 of Swayne's salary for the year 1894-5.
could be met from local revenue and the Treasury, despite its earlier

edict, was obliged to provide the balance from imperial funds.33

Partly because of the lack of finance and ﬁartly because of
Colonial Office instructions there was no expansion of the |
establishment during Swayne's term. Others whom he employed, Corrie
and Clarke in particular, were engaged only on a temporary and

ad hoc basis.

. There was no official headquarters. Swayne spent more time on

Butaritari than on any other island but the arrangement was regarded ©
as temporary. In 1895 Swayne was instructed to choose a suitable site |
for his successor's headquarters. Thurston favoured Abemama because
of its lagoon harbour and central location. Swayne, however,

selected Tarawa and purchased land at Betio, an islet on the south-

west tip of the'atoll.34

Although Swayne had made little progress in establishiﬁg a
comprehensive central administration before he returned to Fiji in
November 1895 he had laid the foundations of a system of local
administration that left a great deal of responsibility with fhe
island governments. Wittingly or unwittingly, however, he haﬁ created
a machinery that could be built upon and expanded, by those who
followed him, in a manner that was to destroy itS‘origihal purpose by

placing greater powers in the hands of European officers.

William Telfer Campbell, a northern Irishman with a military
background and administrative experience in New Guinea, was chosen

as Swayne's successor. An irritable ‘and abrupt man, Campbell rapidly

33 H.C. to S. of S., no. 28., 2 Sept. 1893 - loc. cit.; R.C. to
H.C., Gilberts no. 6, 21 Dec. 1893 - loc. cit.; S. of S. to
H.C., no. 14, 28 April 1894 (with enclosure Treasury to C.O.,
no. 88, 11 Jan. 1894) - WPHC, Despatches from S. of S.

34 to S. of S., no. 28, 2 Sept. 1893 - loe. cit.; R.C. to

HO C.
H.C., not numbered, 1 July 1895 - loc. cit.
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became unpopular with most Europeans living in the groups. He
attacked missionaries for interfering with the island governments,
traders for their unscrupulous (as he saw them) dealings and the few
remaining beachcombers whom he considered to have an undesirable
influence on fhe islanders. Campbell, self-righteous, autocratic,
intolerant and forceful, was to have a lasting impact on the g

government and people of the Gilbert and Ellice Islands.

As an administrator, Campbell believed in close supervision over
the island governments and, where possible, direct control over their
affairs. He has been seen as an anti-mission or, more specifically,

-as an anti-Catholic administrato‘r,35 but such an explanation is too
simple. Campbell was not opposed to mission activity per se, but
only in so far as missionaries, mission teaching or inter-mission
rivalries inhibited the development of the islands in accordance with
his plans. Inevitably, though, because of his personality and the

~nature of expatriate society in the islands, his official career in

the Protectorate, which lasted from 1896 to 1908, was marked by a

series of personal feuds - with beachcombe;s, with missionaries, and

with his own staff.

Campbell saw the effective enforcement of law and order as the
first stage towards efficient local,g?vernment. To this end the
island administrations werevencouraged to pass regulations to
supplement the Native ‘Laws. For example, shortly after his arrival,
Campbell recommended that flogging should be introduced as a deterrent
punishment for drunkenness. When Thurston refused to sanction such
action, Campbell had the island governments pass an appropriate
regulation.36 By the time that Campbell left the Protectorate, in
1908, a standard set of regulations had been accepted by all governments
from Makin as far south as Tabiteuea and, with minor modifications,

by all other islands.37' It is of interest that of the fifty-nine

35 See, for example, Sabatier, Sous 1'Equateur du Facifique, 128-9,
227-8.

36 R.C. to H.C., no. 14, n.d., and ensuing correspondence - WPHC,
Inwards Correspondence, General, 214/1896.

37 Assistant H.C. to H.C., Gilbert and Ellice no. 23, 23 March
1909 - ibid., 393/1909.
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regulations no less than one-third contravened the maximum

punishments stipulated for island regulations in the Native Laws.

Campbell soon discovered that, throughout the islands, few
Kaubure had a clear idea as to their duties and responsibilities.
They were often dominated by the pastors, served as Magistrates and/or
police and collected fines for personal.benefit.38 Campbell reported
one extreme case, from Butaritari, where a Kaubure had fined his wife:

. a woman had been fined £12 for dreaming of a man

who was not her husband, the latter inflicted the fine,

without any authority whatever, with the hope evidently

of deterring his wife from dreaming of other men.

Another woman who had been informed of the dream and
had repeated it was also fined a similar sum.39

Campbell showed little hesitation in dismissing inefficient
Kaubure or in inflicting finés upoﬁ them individually or as a group.
In the southern Gilbert Islands the bodies of Kaubure were reduced to
‘more Wdrkable size. At Onotba, where the practice of dividing fines
among the unimane, meeting as Kaubure, had continued, Campbell
reduced the Kaubure from 130 to 13 and ordered all the previous
Kaubure fo be fined 4s. as a basis for the Island Fund.40 A rival of
the uea who had seized the office of Magistrate at Maian;, and ruled
for the benefit of himself, his family, and a clique of his
supporters among the Kaubure, was summarily removed from the
government.41 One Kaubure at Abemama, on his second conviction for
drunkennéss, was removed to Tarawa by Campbell for an indefinite
period and his fine of £1 returﬁed; Campbell'reported that 'an
example of some sort was necessary in order to impress upon the
natives something of the power and intentions of the Protectorate
Government'.42 .Again, during a tour of the Ellice group in December

1896, Campbell ordered the NanumangawMagistrate dismissed, and fined

38 R.C. to H.C., Ellice no. 1, 9 Jan. 1896 - ibid., 79/1896; Ellice
no. 8, 15 Dec. 1896 - ibid., 68/1897; Gilberts no. 42, 3 Sept.
1896 - ibid., 388/1896.

39 R.C. to H.C,, Gilberts no. 7, 3 May 1897 - ibid., 266/1897.

40 R.C. to H.C., Gilberts no. 1, 2 Jan. 1897 - ibid., 76/1897.

41 R.C. to H.C., Gilberts no. 42, 3 Sept. 1896 - loc. cit.

42 ibid.
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8s. for failing to attend a meeting called on his arrival, and then
reduced the number of Kaupuli from twelve to four.43 In the remedial
measures that he took, Campbell appointed Magistrates, Kaubure and
Kaupuli who were compliant to his views. After a series of dismissals
made in his absence, especially in the Ellice Islands, he insisted |
that changes in the island governments could_only be made with his

approval,

The policy initially pursued by the Magistrates of inflicting
fines for almost all offences, and the passihg of the drought in the
southern islands in 1894, helped the growth of the Island Funds.
Further advances were made when Campbell ordered the registration of
land plots and the introduction of a fixed tax on land or trees.
With few modifications, Campbell's basic taxation system remained in
effect until the 1950s when size and productivity were also taken

into account.

It was clear, however, that additional staff would be required
if Campbell's plans were to be fulfilled. The appointment of
T.C.T. Potts as Clerk and Chief of Police doubled the establishment
in 1896. 1In the same year Thurston agreed to the temporary
appointment of Arthur Mahaffy as a government agent to supervise the
island governments of the central and southern Gilbert Islands.46 In
the first two years of his administration Campbell increased the
'Queen's Tax' on prosperous islénds, but after the death of Thurston
- early in 1897 his proposals for increasing the revenue and staff of
the Protectorate met with a less sympathetic response.47 For almost.
‘two years, O'Brien, Thurston's successor, refused to sanction any
increase in taxes to meet the salaries of Campbell's proposed
government agents or any other expense. Finally, however, he did

accept Campbell's argument that the appointment of agents who could

43 R.C. to H.C., Ellice no. 8, 15 Dec. 1896 - loc. cit.

44 R.C. to H.C., Ellice no. 2, 10 May 1897 - WPHC, Inwards
Correspondence, General, 416/1897; Gilberts no. 42, 3 Sept.
1896 - loc. cit.

45 R.C. to H.C., Gilberts no. 38, 18 July 1896 - ibid., 434/1896.

46 H.C. to S. of S., no. 33, 25 July 1896; no. 57, 28 Oct. 1896
- CO 225/50.

47 See, for example, minute by O'Brien on R.C. to H.C., no. 35,
9 Oct. 1897 - WPHC, Inwards Correspondence, General, 463/1897.
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supervise the collection and sale of tax copra, in addition to other
duties, would increase Protectorate revenue.48 O'Brien was careful
to point out, however, that agents' salaries were to be drawn from
the appropriate Island Funds and that no responsibility could be

assumed for their payment.49

The first agent appointed was George McGhee Murdoch, who had-
traded for some years on Abemama, Tarawa and Maiana and had fiavelled
to Guatemala as an overseer with Gilbertese labourers recruited on
the Monserrat.50 Others, recruited iocally for the most part, were
subsequently appointed during the ten years that the office was:retained,
but none had greater influence than Murdoch on the formation of the
island governments. He was at least as authoritarian in his approach
to administration as Campbell and subjected the island governments
-under his control to rigorous supervision. He appointed younger men
with some education, often returned labourers, as Kaubure and
carefully supervised the work of the M'agistrates.51 Massive coral
limestone prisons still stand as eloquent monuments to the influence

of Murdoch in the central Gilbert Islands.

In 1909 when Mahaffy, then Assistant High Commissioner, revisited

the Protectorate for several months, as Acting Resident Commissioner,
he ..commented at length on the transformation of the islands

brought about by Campbell:

The. greatest difference which I noted ... was the
excellent housing accommodation on almost all the islands
of the Gilbert Group. A system of extraordinary
uniformity has been developed and the best types of
native houses have been finally evolved after a series of
experiments which may have been somewhat exasperating to
the natives but which have undoubtedly resulted in their

48 H.C. to R.C., no. 60, 9 Dec. 1898 - WPHC, Despatches to
R.C.

49 ibid.

50 'Royalist Report', 101; R.C. to H.C., no. 18, 9 June 1897
- WPHC, Inwards Correspondence, General, 403/1897.

51 See, for example, Murdoch to Campbell, 18 Oct. 1900, enclosed
in R.C. to H.C., no. 5, 24 Jan. 1901 - ibid., 50/1901.



41

general good. The villages are kept.in admirable order
and the roads are scrupulously clean. Hospitals are
‘established on all islands ....52

Mahaffy also stated that it 'would be difficult to praise too highly
the work done by the ... Resident Commissioner, Mr. W. Telfer .
Campbel-l'.5 At the same time he noted a great increase in dancing
and card playing and a decline in educational standards. He also had
reservations about the benefits of some of the changes made by
Campbell, especially with reference to the island governmeﬁts._ In
his drive for efficient. control over the islanders' lives Campbell
had abolished the position of High Chief in the northern Gilbert
Islands and fuled, as in the south, through Kaubure chosen and

approved by himself or his agents.54‘ The Assistant High Commissioner

commented:

The Kaubure are now recruited from among the younger men
who may be supposed to be more progressive, less dilatory,
and less wedded to ancient customs and methods, but who
are certainly less interesting and have less authority
among the people. It is, I fancy, a rare thing for any of
the modern Kaubure to differ from the opinion of any
European Government Officer, or if he differs, to have the
courage of his opinions and the ability to explain and
maintain them.55

The High Chiefs of the Ellice Islands had met their fate even
earlier. As an observer on Funafuti in 1897 Mrs Edgeworth David

wrote:

I tried hard to see the advantage of being a king in
Funafuti, but couldn't. The king's hut was not so good
as the native pastor's, his clothes were no better than
those of his subjects; and his food was the same -
cocoa-nut, fish and taro. He had only one voice in the
making of laws on the island, and seemed to look up to

52 Report by Mr Arthur Mahaffy on a visit to the Gilbert and Ellice
Islands, 1909'[Mahaffy Report], enclosed in S. of S. to H.C.,
no. 141, 12 Nov. 1909'- WPHC, Despatches from S. of S. (A heavily
edited version of the report was later published as a Command
Paper - Cd 4992.)

53 ibid.

54 R.C. to H.C., no. 49, 11 Nov. 1907 (Report for the years 1901-

1906) - WPHC, Inwards Correspondence, General, 28/1908.

55 Mahaffy Report.
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the Samoan pastor as an authority in things temporal as
well as spiritual. He certainly received a salary of
five dollars per annum from his subjects (that is, one-
tenth of what is considered necessary for the pastor),
and he had a fair amount of cocoa-nut and taro land,
but less than some of his subjects. Since the island
has been under British protection the king is a nominal
king only, an ornamental, but not very expensive, head
to a nice little republic.56

For nearly thirty years prior to Campbell's arrival the pastors
of the L.M.S. had enjoyed almost complete control over the temporal
and spiritual affairs of the southern Gilbert and Ellice Islands.
Campbell found that not only did they exercise effective control over
the island governments but that they continued to introduce and
enforce church laws, and to collect and appropriate various fees as
well as the produce of mission-leased land. From the Government's
point of ﬁiew the pastors' authority amounted to a challenge but, in
the absence of staff and transport, remedial measures were difficult
to implement. None the less, Campbell did his utmost to diminish
their authority and to instill the principle that obligations to

local and central governments took precedence over church affairs.

At Funafuti, Campbell's authority was openly challenged by a
_pastor - a clear indication of the relative status of church and
government on the island. The islaﬁd government had sought, and
obtained, permission from Swayne to celebrate New Year's day with
dancing. The decision was later overruled by the pastor. In a public
meeting complaints were made to Campbell whereupon the pastor asked if
the people were to be ruled by the Bible (as interpreted by him) or
the 1aw.57 Campbell's reply, and the events of the ensuing decade
left little room for doubt - if 'law' is interpreted to mean the word

of the Resident Commissioner.

'Native dancing' though, was to remain a contentious issue
between the church and the administration long after Campbell's
departure from the Protectorate. It was condemned by European
missionaries, pastors and, later, by their converts as an indecent

and immoral pastime characteristic of heathenism. The missionaries

56 David, Funafuti, or three months on a coral island, 118-19.

57 R.C. to H.C., Ellice no. 6, 17 Oct. 1896 - WPHC, Inwards
Correspondence, General, 392/1896.
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argued that the dances led to the promotion of personal rivalries,
drunkenness and adultery - the latter especially in dances invoking
the tinaba custom.58 Campbell, like Swayne, insisted that 'indecent
dances' (not defined) should be suppressed but that on public holidays

‘the people were free to dance if they wished.59

When faced with illegal or what he considered to be undesirable
practices on the part of pastors, Campbell's reaction was usually
swift and severe. On a visit to Nanumanga in 1899, for example,
Campbell found that a mere 7s. worth of copré had been collected for
the Queen's Tax while the pastor's yard had 'the appearance of a
thriving trader's establishment' with more than 7,000 1lbs of‘copra,
worth about £36-10-0, ready for shipmeht. Without hesitation he
insisted that the two lots of copra be exchanged, as a punishment,
and 'in order to place the Island Fund on a more satisfactory
footing'.60 On discovering that the pastors were charging exorbitant
amounts for the performance of marriages, Campbell authorised the
island governments to perform civil marriages without charge.

Pastors were also found to be trading on their own accounts, selling
the produce of mission-leased land fOr‘personal benefit, charging for
admission to church>member$hip and committing a multitude of other
sins which appalled William Goward, the first resident European -
L.M.S. missionary, at least as much as they did the Resident

Commissioner.

The arrival of Goward in 1900, together with his dismissal of
several pastors and closer supervision over those who remained, saw

some improvement in the situation. Goward himself believed that

58 R.C, to H.C., Gilberts no. 6, 29 Jan. 1896 - ibid., 83/1896;
Goward (L.M.S.) to Wakeman (District Magistrate), 28 Dec. 1910,
enclosed in Goward to Thompson, 9 Jan. 1911 - LMS, South Seas,
Letters. -

59 R.C. to H.C., Ellice no. 6, 17 Oct. 1896 - loc. cit.

60 R.C. to H.C., Ellice no. 2, 10 Jan. 1900 - WPHC, Inwards
Correspondence, General, 185/1899.

61 R.C. to H.C., Ellice no. 8, 15 Dec. 1896 - loc. cit.
62 'Report on the Tokelau, Ellice and Gilbert Groups, L.M.S.,

1900-1902' - IMS, South Seas, Reports; Goward to Thompson,
27 Feb. 1902 - LMS, South Seas, Letters.




44

6
Campbell had succeeded in reducing the power of the pastors, 3 but in
practice Campbell achieved little more than a reduction of the
pastors' direct interference in government affairs. Their influence

over the islanders, through the church, remained untouched.

The A.B.C.F.M. had virtually withdrawn from the Gilbert Islands
field by the time the Protectorate was declared. Walkup continued to
visit the group, and a missionary was placed at Ocean Island after
the establishment of the phosphate industry, but the ﬁission was
conducting little more than a holding operation in the absence of
funds and staff. An earlier agreement, by which the A.B.C.F.M. and
the L.M.S. agreed to limit their respective activities to north and
south of the Equator was waived following discussions in the early
1900s. As an interim measure to a complete take-over, the L.M.S.
agreed to assume responsibility for the printing of mission material
and to admit students from the northern islands to its school at’
Rongorongo, Beru. For financial reasons the L.M.S. was unable for
some years to post pastors to the northern Gilbert Islands to replace

those withdrawn by the A.B.C.F.M.64

Apart from occasional sarcastic references to the effete nature
of the A.B.C.F.M., and to Walkup's unwillingness for him to attend
church because he smoked, Campbell was little concerned with the
mission.65 Its few pastors, located on islands under his personal

supervision, presented no problem.

A greater threat to the Resident Commissioner's scheme for the
Gilbert Islands lay in the Sacred Heart Mission [S.H.M.] which had
established its headquarters at Nonouti in 1888.66 With a larger
European staff than either of the other missions the S.H.M. quickly
extended its activities to Tabiteuea, Beru, Tarawa and Butaritari, and

thereafter to all other northern islands. By 1904 the Mission claimed

63 'Report ... L.M.S., 1900-1902'- loc. cit.

64 Goward to L.M.S.(London), 1900-1905 (includes correspondence with
A.B.C.EM.)- IMS, South Seas, Letters, passim.

65 Memorandum by Campbell, 19 Jan. 1899 - WPHC, Inwards
Correspondence, General, 192/1898.

66 Sabatier, Sous 1'Equateur du Pacifique, 147.
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a total of 12,000 adherents on eleven islands.67 The expansion of
the mission, especially in the L.M.S. strongholds south of Nonouti,

immediately aroused opposition from Protestant adherents.

Attempts to land priests in the Ellice and southern Gilbert
Islands in the 1890s were met initially with organised opposition
from the island governments, pastors and their followers, resulting,
on more than one occasion, in threatened violence. On Beru, Onotoa,
Nikunau and Nonouti in particular, conflict between the rival missions,
and their adherents in the island governments was frequent. Disputes '
over dancing and alleged interference with religious services often

required intervention on the part of the Resident Commissioner.

As he had attempted to restrict the powers of the L.M.S. pastors,
so Campbell conducted a constant campaign against priests and
teachers of the S.H.M. who interfered with, or tried to influence,
island governments. The Roman Catholics, on the other hand, saw
Campbell's whole administrative policy as an Orangeman's attempt to
harass and even persecute the members of their faith. Intransigence
on both sides quickly transformed the Campbell-Catholic clash into
something of a mutual crusade. Bitter and often biassed criticism
of Campbell was forwarded to the High Commissioner by Bishop Leray
in particular while Campbell never ceased in his attempts to prevent
the spread of the S.H.M. and to ensure but a single faith on any

given island.69

In the face of opposition from established Protestant interests
supported by Campbell (as it seemed to the Roman Catholics), it is
not surprising that the priests of the S.H.M. sought to protect their
adherents while vigorously working for the propagation of the faith.
Such protection was interpreted by Campbell as interference and, as
in the case of the L.M.S. pastors, treated as such. After incidents
at Butaritari, between 1896 and 1898, in which a priest tried to have

©

67 Merg (S.H.M.)to H.C., 16 March 1904 - WPHC, Inwards Correspondence,
General, 192/1898.

68 Sabatier, Sous 1'Equateur du Pacifique, 189-208; R.C. to H.C.,
Gilberts no. 1, 2 Jan. 1897 - WPHC, Inwards Correspondence,
General, 76/1897; Gilberts no. 7, 3 May 1897 - ibid., 266/1897.

69 See correspondence in WPHC, Inwards Correspondence, General,
192/1898.
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a court decision changed, the Native Laws were amended to include
penalties df up to £10 or six months' imprisonment for persons who
aésumed, or attempted to assume, magisterial powers.70 After a priest
had tried to persuade the court at Nikﬁnau to substitute a fine for a
prison term for one of his followers, and another at Nonouti, again
without success, had called upon his followers to flog the Magistrate,
Campbell forbade all foreigners from attending meetings of the island
gbvernments and issued instructions to the police to eject all who
did so.71 Representatives of the S.H.M. also aroused Campbell's ire
by their willingness to perform child marriages for converts or

. . . 72
potential converts contrary to island regulations.

Such clashes between Campbell and the representatives of the
S.H.M. were minor, however, when compared with the conflict which
occurred over land purchase, and the location of mission buildings in
or near villages. In 1900, with O'Brien's approval, Campbell
introduced a 'distance regulation' which stipulated that churches
were to be built at least 400 yards from a village maneaba, or
another church, and a lesser distance from any dwelling, thus
effectively removing churches from village areas.73 From 1893 the
sale of lands to non-native persons had been prohibited in the Gilbert

Islands and all leases restricted to a maximum of twenty-one years.

Subsequent developments in the dispute over land sales and the
distance regulation illustrate cléarly the relationships which
existed between Campbell and successive High Commissioners and the
degree of autonomy allowed the Protectorate administration. Thuréton,
for example, recognised that the Resident in the Gilbert and Ellice

Islands was faced with severe financial and transport problems, and

70 R.C. to H.C., Gilberts mo. 12, 7 May 1896 --ibid., 212/1896;
- - 'Gilberts no. 41; 16 Oct. 1897 -.ibid., 495/1897; Gilberts no.29,
16 Sept. 1905 - ibid., 192/1898.

71 R.C. to H.C., Gilberts no. 31, 8 Sept. 1899 - ibid., 7/1900;
Gilberts no. 13, 8 May 1901 - ibid., 192/1898; Murdoch to
Campbell, 18 Oct. 1900, enclosed in R.C. to H.C., Gilberts no. 4,
19 Jan. 1901 - ibid., 192/1898.

72 R.C. to H.C., Gilberts no. 28, 30 Sept. 1898 - ibid., 355/1898.

73 R.C. to H.C., no. 61, 28 Oct. 1904 - ibid., 192/1898.

74 Queen's Regulation; No. 3 of 1893.
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that a considerable degree of initiative and independent action was
required for the development of central and local administration.
While he occasionally declined to approve some of Campbell's more
irregular actions, Thurston geherally approved of Campbell's proposals
as far as financial considerations would allow. As the author of the
Queen's Regulation of 1893, and in accordance with the policy that

he followed in Fiji, Thurston made it clear that he disapproved of
land sales to foreigners and that he was preparéd to support

Campbell in this regard.

0'Brien, High Commissioner from 1897 to 1901, lacked his
predecessor's knowledge of the groups and showed little interest in
their affairs beyond scrutinising the annual estimates, in an effort
to cut expenditure to the minimum, and passing, with some modifications,
regulations proposed by Campbell as essential for administrative
efficiency. When the S.H.M. applied to O'Brien for permission to
purchase land in the Gilbert Islands in 1899 Swayne, who was consulted
personally in Fiji, firmly stated, in accordance with the policy
followed by Thurston, Campbell and himself, that:

any amendment of the Regulation would be a breach of

faith with the natives and would be considered as such

by them .... [and] any alteration of the law in the

direction asked for by the Revd. E. Merg would be a

very bad policy. In the Gilberts particularly land is

life. A man without land was and to a less extent is
still a slave.’>

O'Brien concurred, and the matter was left in abeyance for the

duration of his term.

Sir Henry Jackson, High Commissioner from September 1902 to
March 1904, took a different view. He frequently criticised
Campbell's administration, insisted on a greater degree of
consultation and, as a Roman Catholic, listened to complaints made by
the representatives of the S.H.M. with a rather more sympathetic ear
than had either Thurston or O'Brien. After discussions with Father
Merg, Visitor Extraordinary.to the Gilbert Islands, Jackson not only
made significant amendments t6 draft regulations submitted by
Campbell but also altered existing regulations to meet most of Merg's
demands. Such decisions, taken without consulting Campbell, sparked

off a round of heated correspondence between Jackson and Campbell

75 Swayne to King (Secretary, W.P.H.C.), 29 Jan. 1899 - ibid.,
22/1899.
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with the latter ignoring the instructions of his superior where

possible.76

Although English coin had replaced various South American
denominations in the 1890s, and was accepted as standard currency by
1900, Jackson, at Merg's request, legalised tobacco as currency 'in
localities in which coin is not in current use' - an obvious concession
to the S.H.M. which had already met with opposition from Campbell for
its practice of generously distributing tobacco among adherents. The
limit of leases for lands outside village areas was extended from
twenty-one to ninety-nine years and, most importantly, the sale of
lands could be approved by the High Commissioner after investigation
by the Resident Commissioner. Sales Qere henceforth permitted for
parcels of land with maximum areas of one acre within a village, five
acres in the vicinity of a village, and fifty acres in other

localities.77

Merg's reaction to the revised regulation, as revealed in a

letter to Jackson, was characteristic:

[Our discussion] ... made me realize once again - what
I have ever expected from the very name of British Rule
- that sooner or later fair-play, justice and liberty
would for a certhinty, be the moving spirit of all its
Laws, either at Home or in the lonely and distant islands
of the Pacific. Confidence has been restored; peace and
harmony will follow, provided that whoever holds the
position of Resident Commissioner will loyally carry out,
as we are certain they will, the definite and clear
lines laid down by Your Excellency.

This happy conclusion of our negotiations adds
another jewel to the wealth of signal services Your
Excellency has already rendered the British Crown; for
no one cannot but esteem and love its Rule, when it is
animated by that liberal and fair minded spirit which
characterizes Your Excellency's administration.’8

Campbell's reaction, on the other hand left little doubt that he

considered that Jackson, through ignoraﬁce and lack of guidance, had

subverted his administration. Campbell also resented Jackson's written

76 See correspondence and minutes in WPHC, Inwards Correspondence,
General, 192/1898.

77 King's Regulation, No. 3 of 1904.

78 Merg to Jackson, private, 19 March 1904 - WPHC, Inwards
: Correspondence, General, 192/1898.
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assurances to Merg and his promulgation of the Regulations prior to
consultation with himself.79 Despite his official comment, however,
Campbell ignored the Regulation, and delayed its implementation for
almost three years. When the S.H.M. learned of the publication of

the Regulation, and submitted applicétions for the purchase of land;
Campbell omitted to conduct the required surveys. The matter was

then brought to the attention of im Thurn, Jackson's successor, who
calledvupon Campbell to explain the delays. The Resident Commissioner
denied having failed to publicise the change and pointed out that the
lack of efficient transport had prevented his investigating the claims.
To do so in a chartered trading vessel, Campbell pointed out, would
cost the Protectorate some £800. Campbellvasked if the High
Commissioner was prepared to sanction such expenditure, whereupon the

correspondence lapsed.80

Campbell took similarly evasive action after Jackson's repeal
of the 'distance regulation':

I have not suspended the Regulation, [he wrote] and I most

respectfully ... decline to do so until I am relieved,

in writing, of all responsibility for disturbances

following the suspension or repeal of the Regulation ....

I cannot be guilty in a criminal acquiescence in a

decision arrived at through the misrepresentations, not

to say deceit, of individuals opposed to my

administration.8l
Campbell received a strongly worded reply from im Thurn but avoided
any serious confrontation by having the local authorities pass their

. . 82
own distance regulations.

Jackson also wrote at length, and with little accuracy, on the
subject of the laws enforced in the Protectorate. He was unable, he
reported to the Under Secretary of State, to find any trace in the
High Commissioner's office of changes made to the Native Laws of 1894

and complained that Campbell had been a 'law unto himself' making

79 R.C. to H.C., no. 41, 3 Aug. 1904 - ibid., 129/1902.

80 R.C. to H.C., no. 5, 4 March 1907; no. 18, 29 May 1907 - ibid.,
192/1898.

81 R.C. to H.C., no. 61, 28 Oct. 1904 - ibid.

82 Assistant H.C. to H.C., Gilbert and Ellice no. 23, 23 March
1909 - loc. cit.
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such regulations as he saw fit.83 In reply Campbell showed that all
amendments to the Native Laws had been sanctioned by Jackson's
predecessors and that all island regulations were, quite legally,
passed by the island governments and did not require the sanction of
any British official although they were, in practice, submitted to

the Resident Commissioner.84

Campbell found Jackson's interference intolerable. Accustomed
to opposition within the Protectorate, he was now obliged to fight for
his policies on two fronts - a situation that moved him to comment
somewhat harshly, but With a degree of justice, on Jackson's

administration, after the latter had deﬁarted for England:

I feel sure [he wrote] that had not Sir Henry
Jackson been grossly misinformed by certain prejudiced
individuals or had His Excellency been acquainted with
the Native Laws, or with the pdlicy of his predecessors,
a policy of continuity and impartiality, or had Sir
Henry Jackson had any personal experience or knowledge
of the Gilbert and Ellice Groups and their particular
position, both administrative and social, then His
Excellency would not have expressed disapproval of my
endeavours to administer these Protectorates ... in
the face of universal opposition from non-native
persons possessed with selfish aims utterly opposed to
a policy aiming at protecting and advancing the
interests of a numerous native community.85

In his condemnation of 'non-native persons' Campbell included
not only missionaries but also traders, for their high profit margins,
and those other Europeans who may or may not have been nominally
trading but who, in fact, lived the lives of beachcombers more or
less dependent on the islanders for their existence. Two members of

the latter group, Lodge of Tarawa and Collins of Nukulaelae, were

"particular objects of Campbell's attention. In his first year of

office Campbell deported Collins to Fiji, ostensibly for breaches of

the liquor regulations. Thurston declined to approve the deportation

Q

83 Jackson to UnderIS. of S., 29 June 1904 (from England), enclosed
in S. of S. to H.C., no. 36, 3 Aug. 1904 - WPHC, Despatches from
S. of S. -

84 R.C. to H.C., no. 29, 16 Sept. 1905 - WPHC, Inwards
Correspondence, General, 192/1898.

85 1ibid.
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and returned Collins to Nukulaelae, but under a liquor prohibition
order.86 Addington, commanding H.M.S. Phoebe, visited Tarawa in 1901
to investigate a variety of charges made by Lodge and T.C.T. Potts
whom Campbell had dismissed from his post as Clerk and Chief of

Police in the previous year.

For the remainder of Campbell's administration Potts, for
himself and Lodge, instigated questions in the House of Commons
critical of the Protectorate administration and forwarded articles
and letters, notable for their inaccuracy and extravagant prose-style,
to English and Australian newspapers.88 In 1901 Campbell first
confined Lodge to Betio islet on Tarawa, as an 'undesirable alien',
and later in the same year had him arrested and sent to Fiji. The
Resident's initial action had been declared ultra vires by O'Brien,
but Campbell ignored instructions to rescind the order. When this
became known to Allardyce, the Acting High Commissioner, he wrote to
Campbell: 'I can only assume that ... the High Commissioner's
opinion unfortunately escaped your memofy'.89 Lodge, like Collins,
was returned at government expense, and Campbell asked to explain
his illegal action, but no further official sign of disapproval was

forthcoming.

In 1905 im Thurn visited the Gilbert and Ellice Islands to
investigate charges made against Campbell by missionaries, other
resident Europeans, and by both groups on behalf of the local
populace. He reported that traders generally had'no personal
complaints against Campbell but wished to limit the number of traders
by an increase in trading fees. Im.Thurn considered that the Bishop
of the S.H.M. was unable to control his subordinates, many of whom he
felt acted exclusively for the benefit of their church with little
regard for the interests of either the islanders or the administration.

I am satisfied in my own mind [im Thurn commented] that
the trouble between the Roman Catholics and the Resident

86 R.C. to H.C., Ellice no. 1, 10 May 1897 (with minutes) - ibid.,
415/1897.

87 H.C. to Potts, 3 Aug. 1900 (copy) - ibid., 357/1898.

88 See, for example, 'The Rule of Rotters', Truth (Australia),
10 March 1901. :

89 H.C. to R.C., no. 41, 2 Oct. 1901 - WPHC, Despatches to R.C.
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Commissioner is due in the first place to the great,
almost excessive, claims made by the Catholics to
liberty of action, even though such action would involve
infringing of the regulations and injury to the natural
rights to the natives, [sic] and in the second place to
Mr. Campbell's unnecessary irritability in dealing with
such claims ....90
Lodge's charges against the Resident Commissioner were all dismissed
by im- Thurn, but the High Commissioner noted, with regret, that
'Mr. Campbell's abruptness of manner and impatience ... [had] stirred
to an unnecessary extent the almost imbecile assertiveness of Lodge's
91
character'. Henceforth Lodge's letters were largely ignored in

the Colonial Office and by the High Commissioner.

Im Thurn recommended a transfer for Campbell after more than
ten years 'in as trying a climate and as lonely circumstances as
are ... to be found in any Government station in the British
Empire'.92 Although im Thurn believed Campbell's administration to
be excessively paternalistic, and many of his regulations too severe,
he none the less acknowledged that Campbell had been responsible for
significant developments in the Protectorate especially in the light
of opposition within the territory and frequent unsympathetic
treatment from a succession of High Commissioners. Im Thurn freely
admitted that some King's Regulations had 'been initiated without or

even against his [Campbell's] advice by those in authority over him'.

Throughout the period of his administration Campbell had, either
by special despatch, or by the inclusion of new items in the annual
estimates, attempted to persuade his superiors that the staff of the
Protectorate should be increased and the scope of its activities
widened. He had, however, met with little success. When, in 1906,
im Thurn pointed to the Resident Commissioner's failure to forward

any report on his administration since 1900, a rather disgruntled

90 H.C. to S. of S., no. 45, 17 May 1906 - WPHC, Despatches to
S. of S.

91 ibid.

92 Minute by im Thurn, 23 Aug. 1907 - WPHC, Inwards Correspondence,
General, 203/1905.

93 H.C. to S. of S., no. 45, 17 May 1906 - loc. cit.
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Campbell replied:

A report of any value for the years 1901 to 1905 could
not be furnished by me without reference to certain
proposals I have made from time to time for the better
administration of these Protectorates. These proposals,
made after considerable attention to, and knowledge of
local requirements, have been either ignored, in some
cases totally, or abandoned. %

Four government agents were employed by 1900, although paid by,
and theoretically responsible to, their respective island governments,
and a medical officer had been appointed to the Protectorate staff in
1905.95 Few of Campbell's other schemes for increased personnel were
approved. The Colonial Office, in the absence of recommendations to
the contrary from the High Commissioner, adhered to its original view
that the staff of the Protectorate should be kept at a minimum. The
Resident had no official transport in the islands and was forced to

rely on occasional naval vessels and erratic and expensive commercial

shipping.96

By 1906 the Protectorate had accumulated a surplus in excess of
£8,000 (with an annual expenditure of £3,000), which, together with
£13,000 representing the balances of the various Island Funds, were"
invested with other Pacific administrations and in London stocks.97
A large proportion of the Protectorate's surpluses had been derived

from capitation taxes on non-native persons residing in the territory.

The increase under this head was the direct result of the establishment

of the phosphate industry at Ocean Island in 1900 and the inclusion
of the island, for the purposes of administration, within the

territorial limits of the Protectorate.

Im Thurn agreed with Campbell, in 1905, that a permanent
official was required at Ocean Island. He also believed that if

Campbell was to remain he should have his headquarters at Ocean Island

94 R.C. to H.C., no. 52, 16 Nov. 1906 - WPHC, Inwards Correspondence,
General, 102/1901.

95 H.C. to R.C., no. 58, 3 Sept. 1904 - WPHC, Despatches to R.C.

96 R.C. to H.C., no. 49, 11 July 1907 (Report for the years
1901-1906) - loc. cit.

97 ibid.; R.C. to H.C., no. 15, 25 May 1901 (Report for the years
1896-1900) - WPHC, Inwards Correspondence, General, 102/1901.
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and expressed the hope that the company of other Europeans would have

a salutary effect on the Resident Commissioner's temper.

It was two years before a revised plan of administration was
approved. The key to the plan lay in a vessel for the Protectorate
and the removal of headquarters to Ocean Island. An Assistant
Resident Commissioner, resident in the Gilbert group, was to be
appointed together with an establishment of four District Magistrates

and a police officer and a clerk for Ocean Island.99

The decision to remove the Resident Commissioner's headquarters
from the Gilbert group to Ocean Island was to have far-reaching |
effects on the development of the territory. At Ocean Island
successive Resident Commissioners became embroiled in land litigation
over phosphate-bearing land and the problems of administering an
island with a heterogeneous population composed of the indigenous
Banabans, Europeans employed by the Pacific Phosphate Company (and

its successor the British Phosphate Commissioners), as well as

several hundred Gilbertese, Ellice and Asian labourers. The inevitable

result of such preoccupations, when combined with inadequate transport,

was a break in communication between the Resident Commissioner and
his subordinate staff in the Gilbert and Ellice Islands, and a lack
of awareness from the Resident Commissioner upwards of the particular
problems of local administration in the territory. From 1908 until
the Second World War the Gilbert and Ellice Islands: became, even

more than previously, a neglected backwater of the Empire.

98 Minute by im Thurn, 23 Aug. 1907 - loc. cit.

99 H.C. to S. of S., no. 15, 3 Feb. 1908 - WPHC, Despatches to
S. of S.; mno. 112, 26 Aug. 1908 - ibid.
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CHAPTER 3

OCEAN ISLAND: THE SINGLE MANDATE

In 1899 Albert Ellis, an employee of the Pacific Islands
Company, deduced from a rock sample that extensive deposits of
phosphate ores existed at both Ocean Island aﬁd its neighbour, Nauru.
Lord Stammore, chairman of the.Pacific Islands Company and formerly,.
.as Sir Arthur Gordon, a Governor‘of Fiji and High Commissioner for
ﬁhe Western Pécific, mobilised peféoﬁal and official contacts in
London in a successful attempt to secure a phosphate mining licence
for his-Company in respect of Ocean Island and to have the island
declared a British possession.2 Later, Nauru, which had been
annexed by Germany in 1888, became the sﬁbject of special negotiations
with the Jaluit Gesellschaft which ‘ended with the Pacific Islands

_ 3
Company extending its activities to that island in 1906.

Sténmore's initial demand, that Ocean Island should be annexed,
and included within the Gilbert and Ellice Islands Protectorate met
with opposition from almost all officials concerned. Both Campbell
and O'Brien argued that the island was 240 miles from the Gilbert
group, lacked harbour facilities and that, in the absence of any
compensating revenue, would be a liability rather than an asset to

the Protectorate. O'Brien added that, in his view, the only reason

1 Ellis, Ocean Island and Nauru, 50ff. While Ellis' account of
the phosphate industry from 1900 to 1934 offers many valuable
insights into day to day operations, his material on negotiations
with the Banabans and the Government is meagre and apt to be
misleading. On occasions his version departs somewhat from that
revealed in correspondence among the various parties. Significantly,
Ellis does not mention the terms of the agreement which he signed
with the Banabans in 1900. '

2 Correspondence in WPHC, Inwards Correspondence, General, 26/1900.
For more detailed accounts of the events leading to annexation
see Langdon, 'The Ocean Islanders', New Guinea, I (1965-6), no. 4,
42-7; Scarr, Fragments of Empire, 270-1.

3 Ellis, Ocean Island and Nauru, 127ff. For a copy of the agreement
see Schedule 1 in Agreement, His Most Gracious Majesty King
George V. and others and the Pacific Phosphate Company, Limited,
print, 25 June 1920.
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~ for annexation would be:

to facilitate the acquisition ... [by] the Pacific

Islands Company of rights over the Guano which it is

supposed to contain, and I fail to see why the

Company should not be left to make such arrangements

as may be satisfactory to both parties.
Stanmore continued to express fears of intervention by rival interests
and to bring pressure to bear on the Colonial Office. A licence was
issued in 1900, for an annual fee of £50 payable to imperial funds,
and the High Commissioner was given instructions to include Ocean
Island within the Gilbert Islands Protectorate. O'Brien, however,
decided on annexation. When his action was queried he pointed out
that the Company's licence referred to 'a certain island belonging
to Her Majesty' and that Cox, of the Colonial Office, had written to
the Admiralty expressing the view that 'the issue of a licence is

. 5
equivalent to annexation'.

By King's Regulation No. 1 of 1902 the laws of the Gilbert and
Ellice Islands Protectorate were applied to Ocean Island but until
1908 the Company was left virtually to its own devices. From 1902
operations were conducted by the Pacific Phosphate Company [P.P.C.],
a subsidiary‘of the Pacific Islands Company, under a transferred
licence. The P.P.C. purchased land from the Banabans, introduced
contract labour, and ruled its employees by means of its own

regulations.

The attitude  of the Company Eowards its mining operations on
Ocean Island was clearly revealed in the agreement signed with the
Banabans by Ellis in May 1900. In return for a meré £50 per year in
cash or trade to be divided among the Banabans, the Company was
granted the exclusive right to remove phosphate from the island for
a period of 999 years.6 Later, it became evident that the Banabans

had not understood the conditions of the agreement, or their

4 H.C. to S. of S., no. 9, 9 Feb. 1900 (with enclosures) - WPHC,
Despatches to S. of S.

.5 H.C. to S. of S., no. 21, 24 April 1901 - ibid.
6 Agreement between the Pacific Islands Company and the Banabans,

3 May 1900, enclosed in R.C. to H.C., no. 40, 12 Dec. 1903 -
WPHC, Inwards Correspondence, General, 26/1900.
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implications. They had little idea of the value of their land and,
obviously, were not enlightened by Ellis. 1In 1910 George Murdoch
interviewed Temori, a Nui Islander, who had acted as Ellis' interpreter.
He found that Temori was unable to read the agreement in English and
had been told its terms by Ellis. Temori also stated that Ellis had‘
not mentioned that the concession was for 999 years but had simply

said that it would continue after his death.7

Within three years of the agreement being signed disputes
between the Company and the Banabans led, for the first.time, to the
involvement of the Protectorate Government as mediator between the
two. Under the agreément of 1900 the Company had undertaken 'not to
remove any alluvial phosphate from where coconut or other trees or
plants cultivated by the said natives are growing'.8 Land had been
purchased by the Company before the Banabans had any concept of the
ﬁode of operations and before the introduction to the island of the
Proteétorate law which forbade iand sales. Once land had been bought,
however, it was stripped of all vegetétionandrﬁnedin a manner designed

to produce the maximum phosphate with the minimum effort and expense.

‘As a result of the negotiations conduéted by Cogswell, the Acting

Resident Commiséioner, the Company's land purchases were legalised by
Ordinance No. 1 of 1903 and 'phosphate and trees' agreements - by which
the Banabans received compensation for the destfuction of food-bearing
trees - were introduced. It was clear, however, even at this eariy
stage, that Banaban and Company interests were, and w9u1d remain,

incompatible.

From 1903 Campbell constantly agitated for the £50 rental to be
paid to local rather than imperial funds and: for a permanent official
to be stationed at Ocean Island. The former proposal was resisted by
both the Treasury and the Colonial Office. The latter proposal was
opposed with some heat by Stanmore,.on behalf of the P.P.C.,
especially as it had been suggested that the Company should meet the
costs of such an appointment: |

.. the Board [he wrote] cannot consider that at the
present time the civil government of a handful of white
employes of the Company and less than a thousand

7 Murdoch to R.C., no. 29, 12 May 1910 - ibid., 491/1909. .

8 Agreement ... 3 May 1900 - loc. cit.
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natives - the greater part of whom are also working for

it - can afford constant employment to a resident

officer of the Government nor can they overcome their
apprehension that if not so constantly employed, the
probability of over interference in the Company's

affairs by such an official will be perilously increased.?

Under the terms of its revised licence the P.P.C. was obliged to
pay £50 per annum to the British Government until 1905 and, from
1 January 1906, a royalty of 6d. per ton on all phosphate exported
from Ocean Island. Campbell estimated the income from this source at
-£2,000 a year, and again asked that at least part of the sum be used
to defray the exbenses.of a government official for the_island.10
In fact, in 1906 the royalty amounted to some £3,500, but until

im Thurn's plan for a completely revised administration was accepted

in 1908 the royalties were paid to imperial funds.ll

By this time the high profits being made by the Company had
made it the subject of comment in Britain. In 1908, for example,
the P.P.C., with an ordinary capital of £125,000, made a profit of
almost £300,000, paid a 50 per cent inidend and made a two for one
bonus share issue.12 Attacks on the Company were immediately made
in the press by T.C.T. Potts, who argued that the Company's profits
were being made by exploiting the Banabans and with the connivance

of the Colonial Office.13

Even before press and parliamentafy publicity instigated by
Potts had brought the affairs of the Company to public notice, the
Colonial Office had begun to take a less indulgent attituae towards
the Company's ac_tivities.14 In 1907 Crewe, the Sécretary of State,

had emphasised the changed attitude when he overruled Company protests

9 P.P.C. to C.O., 29 Dec. 1904, enclosed in S. of S. to H.C., no. 2,
12 Jan. 1905 - WPHC, Despatches from S. of S. '

10 R.C.'to H.C;, no. 27, 5 Sept. 1905 - WPHC, Inwards Correspondence,
General, 26/1900. :

11 S. of S. to H.C., no. 62, 10 Aug. 1908 - WPHC, Despatches from
S. of S. :

12 P.P.C. Prospectus, July 1917 - J.T. Arundel Papers.
13 See, for example, John Bull, 15 Aug. 1908.

14 S. of S. to H.C., no. 62, 10 Aug. 1908 - loc. cit.
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- and insisted that the capitation tax of £5 per head should be paid

by, or on behalf of, all non-native employees of the Company at

Ocean Island.lS'This decision may also have been designed to discourage
the Company from pursuing its plans for introducing cheap Indian

1abour16 - a proposal that met with little favour in official circles.

Finally, after three years of discussion, and furﬁher criticism
in the House of Commons, the Colonial Office accepted im Thurn's
suggestion that Protectorate headquarters should be moved to Ocean
Island so that the phosphate industry could be more closely
supervised and to allow the Resident Commissioner more contact:with
other Europeans. Accordingly, Mahaffy, as Acting Resident Commissioner
from January to March 1909, and John Quayle Dickson as substantive
Resident Commissioner from that time were given the task of

organising the transfer.

Initially, Quayle Dickson favoured the retention of the
prevailing price of £20 per acre for phosphate land on the grounds
that the Banabans showed little inclination to sa&é against times of
scarcity. Nevertheless he-believed that the Company should be
obliged to make a"liberal contribution' towards a trust fund for the
Banabans.17 After a few months at Ocean Island, however, his
attitude changed to one of open hostility towardé the Company. For
three years, from the end of 1909, Quayle Dickson consistently
opposed the Company's demands in his pursuit of better terms for

the Banabans.

He also queried the legality of the 'phosphate and trees'
agreements which had.been in effect since 1903. Despite opposition
from, Company representatives, who argued that the removal of trees was
covered by a clause in the 1900 agreement which permitted 'any other

arrangements' necessary for the mining of phosphate, he refused to

15 S. of S. to H.C., no. 23, 18 April 1907 - WPHC, Despatches from
S. of S.

16 H.C. to S. of S., no. 56, 16 May 1908 - WPHC, Despatches to
S. of S.

17 R.C. to H.C., Confidential, 14 Dec. 1909 - WPHC, Inwards
Correspondence, General, 491/1909.
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sanction any further agreements.18 When the Company appealed, the
Secretary of State ruled that the transfers amounted to land sales

, .. 19
and were, therefore, invalid.

With the appointment of Sir Henry May as High Commissioner in
1911 the Banabans acquired é further advocate. On receiving evidence
of the Company's high profit margins, May strongly urged Harcourt,
the Secretary of State, to set a minimum price of £100 per acre for
land at Ocean Island. Basing his argument on figures supplied to
Mahaffy, the Assistant High Commissioner, by Ellis, May showed that
the Company was mining an average of 12,600 tons of phosphate per acre
for a net profit of 22s. per ton - that is, a profit of nearly
£14,000 from land that had cost £20.20 In reply, Harcourt stated
that, in accordance with Quayle Dickson's original recommendation,
a basic price of £20 per acre had been agreed upon in discussion
with the P.P.C. and that he was, therefore, in no position to

recommend an increase.

The situation was simplified by the Banabans who refused to sell’
any further land under the terms offered and stated that they néw
wished to preserve as much land as possible for their descendants.22
By this time the Banabans had not only realiéed.the potential value
of their land but they had also become dependent on the Resident
Commissioner for advice. Quayle Dickson refused to recommend ;hat
they should accept the Company's offer and, as a consequence, thé

Banabans declined to sell.

Quayle Dickson was frequently criticised by both Harcourt and

May for the delays in negotiations at Ocean Island. 1In reply to one

18 P.P.C. to C.0., 9 Nov. 1909, enclosed in S. of S. to H.C.,
Confidential, 25 Nov. 1911 - WPHC, Confidential Despatches from
S. of S.

19 -C.0. to P.P.C., 5 April 1911, enclosed in H.C. to R.C.,
Confidential, 5 June 1911 - WPHC, Despatches to R.C.

20 H.C. to S. of S., Telegram, 25 May 1911, enclosed in H.C. to
R.C., Confidential, 5 June 1911 - copy in WPHC, Inwards
Correspondence, General, 491/1909.

21 8. of 8. to H.C., Telegram, 25 May 1911, enclosed in H.C. to
R.C., Confidential, 5 June 1911 - ibid.

22 R.C. to H.C., Confidential, 24 Nov. 1911 - WPHC, Inwards
Correspondence, General, 491/1909. e
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such letter of criticism from May, Quayle Dickson wrote:

I regret exceedingly that you should have thought it

necessary to warn me that "if the settlement does not

proceed to my satisfaction, I shall be constrained to

place it in other hands'. No one is more anxious to

come to a settlement than I am, but I cannot with my

two years experience here help seeing that the native

case is a strong one.?23
Despite his sympathies, May was not so strongly partisan as his
Resident Commissioner at Ocean Island and was himself under pressure
from the Colonial Office to procure a settlement. Finally, in 1912,
the delays at Ocean Island and the exposure of irregularities in
Quayle Dickson's administration of the Gilbert and Ellice Islands led
to his dismissal from the office of Resident Commissioner and his
appointment, at a lower salary, to the position of Colonial Secretary

in the Falkland Isiands.24

It was left to E.C. Eliot, Quayle Dickson's successor, to carry
through the negotiations on behalf of the Banabans. Under an
agreement signed in November 1913, land leases were fixed between £40
and £60 an acre, depending on location and quality, with supplementary
payments in respect of food-bearing trees. 1In addition to the foyalty
payable to the Government, the Company was to contribute to a trust
fund for the Banaban community, also at the rate of 6d. per ton -
with an estimated annual payment of £5,000. The Banabans were to be
permitted to cultivate all leased lands until they should be requifed
for mining purposes. Despite the obvious financiél implications the
Company gave an undertaking - which it never honoured - to replant
worked-out lands wherever poésible. One hundred and forty-five acres
were thus transferred in 1913 placing a total of 250 acres at the

disposal of the Company.25

Protests from the Company regarding contributions to the Banaban

Fund were overruled by the Secretary of SEate, who told the P.P.C.

23 R.C. to H.C., no. 214/35A/1911, 15 Sept. 1911 - ibid.

24 Assistant H.C. to H.C., 11 Sept. 1911, and subsequent
correspondence - ibid., 1567/1911.

25 Copy of agreement signed on 12 Nov. 1913, enclosed in R.C. to
D.C., 0.I.D., 24 April 1963 - GEIC, Secretariat, 3rd series,
F167/3/1; - see also correspondence in WPHC, Inwards
Correspondence, General, 1132/1916.
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that the initial 6d. per ton royalty (payable, at that time, to
imperial funds) had been assessed at five per cent of the value of
Ocean Island phosphate as declared by the Company. The value of
phosphates from Christmas Island (Indian Ocean), Harcourt said, had
ranged from 28s. to 36s. pef ton during the previous three years
and stated that, in the absence of proof to the contrary, he had
assessed the Ocean Island product at 20s. a ton. The combined
royalty of ls. per ton, therefore, remained at five per cent of the

assessed value.

The Government intended that, when Ocean Island becaﬁe
uninhabitable for the Banabans, the Fund should be used tolpurchase
an island for their fesettlement. The proposal to remove the Banabans
had first been pﬁt forward by Mahaffy, in 1909, when he suggested that
Kuria in the Gilbert group might be suitable.27 The Company reacted
predictably. The P.P.C. admitted that mined lands were left
virtually uninhabifable but maintained that any financial provision
for the long-term future of the Banabans was premature. The Board.
expressed to the Secretary of State a common view conce;ning7the

future of Pacific peoples:

At the present rate of progress = and it is not likely
to be materially accelerated in the near future - about
twelve acres are annually worked out. It would therefore
take more than a century to work out the whole 1292
acres. All over the Pacific the population of the
islands is diminishing, and a hundfgd years hence the.
native inhabitants of Ocean Island - already few [about
450] - may not improbably have wholly disappeared.28

26 C.0. to P.P.C., 1 July 1912 - C.0. Confidential Print,
Australian no. 206. It was also suggested in the House of
Commons that the P.P.C., had obtained its licence under false
pretences by understating the value of Ocean Island phosphate.
See, for example, questions asked by Pointer, 24 and 31 July,
11 and 18 Dec.,. 1912 - G.B.P.D., XLI, 1147-8, 2025-7; XLV,
443-4, 1477.

27 Assistant to H.C. to H.C., Confidential, 14 Apr11 1909 - WPHC,
Inwards Correspondence, General 491/1909

28 P.P.C. to C.0., 9 Nov. 1909, enclosed in S. of S. to H.C.,
Confidential, 25 Nov. 1909 - WPHC, Confidential Despatches
from S. of S, .
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Nor was Harcourt prepared to consider the removal of the Banabans.

Such a proposal could not be entertained, he cabled, and was not to

be discussed with either the Banabans or the Company.29 Within a year,
however, Colonial Office thinking had changed, and the Banaban Fund

had been established for the purpose.

The placing of 250 acres in the hands of the Company was
designed to allow uninterrupted mining for a period of twenty years.
As a consequence, therefore, apart from a few minor land disputes,
and complaints over the Company's prices and profits at its store on
Oceah Island, the Administration replaced the Banabans as the Company's
chief combatant. Eliot, in particular, believed that the Company
should be taxed, directly or indirectly, at a higher rate than the
6d. per ton royalty. The Company, on the other hénd, fought a losing
battle for the principle that it should contribute only to the cost

of administration at Ocean Island.

In 1916 Lord Balfour of Burleigh, Chairman of the P.P.C.,
approached the Secretary of State for relief from taxation at Ocean
Island. Balfour argued that in 1908, Crewe, as Secretary of State,
had suggested that the Protectorate should aim at a toﬁal annual
revenue of £9,000 but that between 1911 and 1915 revenue had averaged
more than three times that amount, of which the P.P.C. had
contributed in the region of £6,000 per year. Balfour further
argued that the capitation tax, repealed in 1908 and re-imposed in
1913, combined with royaltieé payable to both Banabans and Government,
and a tax on fuel 0il of 6d. per gallon was 'unduly burdensome and
unfair to the Company'. The Board also asked for 'representation’
of the Company in the Government of the Gilbert and Ellice Islands
Colony' on the grounds that it contributed substantially to the
revenue of the territory.30 Neither officials of the Colonial
Office nor Bonar Law, the Seéretary of State, were stpathetiC to
the Company's case. Bonar Law informed the Company that he

considered it 'esséntial that provision should be made for the

29 S. of S. to H.C., Telegram, 29 Nov. 1911 - WPHC, Inwards
Correspondence, General, 491/1909.

30 Balfour of Burleigh to Bonar Law, 14 Sept. 1916, enclosed: in
S. of S. to H.C., no. 228, 16 Nov. 1916 - ibid., 15/1917.
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necessary taxation to enable administration to be carried on

. . A . 31
efficiently under existing conditions'.

From 1920 the exploitation of the phosphates was placed in the
hands of the British Phosphate Commissioners [B.P.C.], a non-profit
making organisation formed by ‘the Governments of the United Kingdom,
Australia and New Zealand. Negotiations commenced at the _
Versailles Peace Conference over the future of Nauru resulted in
agreement among the three Governments to purchase the rights and
assets of the P.P.C. at both Ocean Island and Nauru. The agreed
price was £3,500,000 (paid up capital of the Company amounted to
less than £1,000,000) with thebcovernments contributing
forty-two per cent, forty-two per cent and sixteen per cent

respectively.3?

-The declared policy of the B.P.C. was, and has remained, to
supply phosphate to the partner countries at the lowest possible
prices. Such a policy has inevitably brought the B.P.C. into
conflict with both Banabans and the Government of the Gilbert and
Ellice Islands Colony as each has sought greater shares in the
financial benefits derived from the industry: the former in '
respect of land and phosphate, and the latter to subsidise an

otherwise non-viable economy.

Where the. P.P.C. had attempted to produce phosphate as cheaply
as possible in order to maximise profits, the B.P.C. has done so
in order to sell at the lowest possible price. At the production
end, therefore, there was little difference between the policies

of the P.P.C. and those of the B.P.C. although new supporting

arguments were put forward. It is also significant that Albert Ellis

became the first New Zealand Commissioner and A.R. Dickinson, Managing

Director of the P.P.C., his colleague from the United Kingdbm.33

A year after the B.P.C. takeover, the Commissioners approached

Sir Cecil Rodwell, the High Commissioner, in an attempt to have the

31 C.0. to P.P.C., 16 Nov. 1916, enclosed in S. of S. to H.C.,
no. 228, 16 Nov. 1916 - ibid.

32 Agreement ..., 25 Juhe 1920 - loc.cit.

33 Ellis, Ocean Island and Nauru, 179.
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B.P.C,'s contribution to the Colony's budget decreased. Ellis laid
emphasis on the fact that all of the Gilbert and Ellice Islands
were productive and exported considerable quantities of copra, and
that the B.P.C. already contributed £18,000 a year in wages to
Gilbertese and Ellice Islanders.

Ellis again argued 'that the Gilbert and Ellice Islands should
be self-supporting as regards expense of administration'. He went
even further by pleading a case for the 'deserving' farmers of

Australia and New Zealand:

_ the Governments of the United Kingdom, Australia
and New Zealand purchased the Pacific Phosphate
Company's interests in order to ensure the regular
supply of high grade phosphate to the agricultural
interests of those countries at bed rock prices. A

very large proportion of the users of phosphate are
struggling farmers, who can ill-afford the expense of
purchasing fertilisers. The object of the Commissioners
in seeking a reduction of taxation and other expenses in
connection with producing the phosphate is therefore a
most deserving one .3

It is significant that in the 1920s such arguments could not
only be advanced but could be accepted as valid. In so far as they
were prepared to exploit the wasting asset of a colonial territory
for their own benefit, the metropolitan Governments of Britain,

Australia and New Zealand were, and have remained, involved in omne

of the most extreme examples of economic imperialism in the Pacific.

' When, a decade later, Sir Murchison Fletcher, the High

Commissioner, had the temerity to suggest'that the people of the

Gilbert and Ellice Islands (including the Banabans).were subsidising

agricultural development in other countries he drew a predictably
sharp response from the British Phosphate Commissioners in support

of their Governments' policy:

His Excellency referred to the difference between the
world's market price and that at which the phosphate
was being supplied by the Commission, and asked where
the large sums represented by that difference actually
went - to Australia and New Zealand? - .... and stated
that he considered it would be fair to divide equally
between the Colony and the Australian and New Zealand

34 B.P.C. to Sec. to W.P.H.C., 21 Sept. 1921 - WPHC, Inwards
Correspondence, General, 2473/1921.
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farmers, the bonus represented by the difference between
the world's market price of phosphate and the price at
which it was sold by the British Phosphate Commissioners.
Mr. Lodge stated that the three Governments would never
look at such a suggestion. He Excellency thought that
probably they would not, and Mr. Lodge emphatically

they would never consider it. [sic]33

The plight of the Australasian farmers notwithstanding, when
the B.P.C. sought a further 150 acres of land in the mid-1920s
High Commissioner Hutson looked for a means of obtaining a better
deal for the Banabans. He was less concerned with the Colony's
finances at this stage. The surplus of assets over liabilities
amounted to some £50,000, or a yearfs revenue, and the B.P.C., thrbugh
royalties, capitétion taxes and import duties, provided approximately

half of the revenue.

Hutson regarded the Banaban position with some concern. He
noted the statement of one Banaban, as reported by McClure, the
Resident Commissioner, that no lands would be sold in future for less
than £5,000 per acre. 1In tﬁe light of figures available, Hutson N
thought the demand to be fair:

If one takes into consideration the fact that the sale
price of the land now held by the Commission was £60
per acre, and that an acre of phosphate land produces,
on a conservative estimate from 25 to 30,000 tons of
phosphate at a nett value of 30/- per ton, so I am
informed, the proceeds being thus £37,500 to £48,000
per acre, the reply made by the Banaban, whether
innocently or prompted, does not appear to me to be

an unreasonable one.37

Negotiations over the land continued until 1927 when it became
clear that the Banabans were prepared to part with their lands only
on terms that the B.P.C. found unacceptable and even the High
Commissioner considered excessive. The result was the Mining

Ordinance of 1928.38 Under the Ordinance land could be purchased

35 'Notes of discussion at Interview granted by His Excellency the
High Commissioner to the British Phosphate Commission
representatives at Suva on 6th July, 1932' - ibid., 1884/1932.
Lodge was the Commissioner for the United Kingdom.

36 GEIC, Colony Annual Report, 1924-6, 13-15.

37 Memorandum. by Hutson, 15 July 1925 - WPHC, Inwards Correspondence,
General, 1619/1925.

38 Ordiqancg No. 4 ofV1928,
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by the Crown and placed at the'diéposal of an -authorised
licence-holder provided that the Secretary of State considered the
purchase of such land to be in the public interest and the Resident
Commissioner was satisfied as to the payments offered. Previously,
in the absenée of legislation to theAcontrary, it had been
ackriowledged that the Bahabans en joyed bqth surface and mineral
fights over their land - a view implicit inh the agreement of 1913.
The Ordinance, however, declared that land rights were surface
rights only and that mineral rights wefe_vested in the Crown. The
purchase price of land was to be assessed on the basis of surface
value plus improvements. Royalties could be paid into truét for
the benefit of the dispossessed landowners. The Ordinance was
invoked at the end of 1928 and the Banabans were effgctively.diSarmed

for their continuing struggle against the B.P.C.

It was decided that 150 acres should be purchased uﬁder the
Ordinance, at £150 per acre but debates over the amount and
distribution of other payments continued for almost two years. With
regafd to the Bgnabans it was finally decided that a sum of £35,000
should be transferred from the existing Baﬁaﬁan Fund to form the
nucleus of a new.Banéban Provident Fund to which would be added
2d.vper ton royalty until the Fund compounded to £175,000. A further
8]/2d. per ton was to be paid to the Banéban Fund (to be known -in |
future as the BanaBan Royalties Trust Fund) for the benefit of the
Banaban community generally.39 Annuities of £8 for adults and £4:for
children were paid from the latter fund along with annuities for
dispéssessed landowners and the salary of a master for the Banaban

schodl.40

Arthur Grimble, as Resident Commissioner from 1926, had tried
to hasten the settlement and to persuade the Banabans ta accept the
proffered terms. It would appear that his ambition was one of the
major determining factors in this attitude and that he hoped that a
rapid and Satisféctory end to the negotiations (from the point of

“view of the United Kingdom Government) would benefit his career.

39 See correspondence and minutes in WPHC, Inwards Correspondence,
General 1387/1930.

40 Memorandum by Vaskess  (Sec.to W,P.H.C.),27 Sept. 1941 - GEIC,
Secretariat, 2nd Series, F53/2/1 (Central Archives).
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' When the Banabans refused to accept the B.P.C.'s offer, and
legislative action became necessary, Grimble applied at regular
intervals for transfer (preferably with promotion), or leave, on the
grounds that his presence was inhibiting a settlément. He reported
to the High Commissioner that the 'genefal opinion of Banabans is
that I am their enémy and have deliberatély failed to represent
their interests'.41 From the relevant correspondence it is clear

- that the Banabans did not criticise without good cause.

Throughout the negotiations the High Commissioners, Hutson and
Fletcher, and Vaskess, the Secretary of the Western Pacific High
Commission, remained the chief advocates of the Banaban cause. When,
on the recommendation of the B.P.C., Grimble tentatively agreed to
the re-allocation of 1ld. of the royalty so as to allow an early
arrival at the limit of £175,000 in the Banaban Provident Fund, it
was Vaskess who pointed oﬁt that the change would, in the»long term,
benefit only the B.P.C. and would deprive the Banabans of both

current and future revenue.

The question of direct and indirect contributions to Cdiony
revenue remained perpetually in dispute. By 1932 Colony reserves had
reached £110,000, or. the equivalent of two years' revenué. Lodge,
the Commissioner for the United Kingdom; argued that future
accumulations were unnecessary; that the surplus was the result of
the over-taxation of the phosphate industry; and that Ocean Island '
was not a part of the Gilbert group and should therefore be separate
from the Colony. In reply, Fletcher, the High Commissioner, stated
that Ocean Island was an integral part of the Colony aﬁd was 'properly

‘taxable for the benefit of the Colony as a whole'.43

A further two years' discussion resulted in a decision to accept
a proposal from the B.P.C. for a commuted taxation agreement. The
B.P.C. was to be exempt from all licence and customs duties (except

for liquor and tobacco products) but was to continue to pay the basic

41 R.C. to H.C., Telegram, 8 April 1931 - WPHC, Inwards Correspondence,
General, 992/1931; see also, Telegram, 9 Oct. 1928 - ibid.,
2874/1928.

42 ‘Minute, Vaskess to H.C., n.d. - ibid., 1387/1930.

43 'Notes of discussion ... 6th July, 1932'- loc. cit.
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6d. per ton royalty. In lieu, the phosphate industry was to meet
the difference between the ordinary revenue of the Colony and its -
. 44 .
annual expenditure. It was originally intended that the B.P.C.
should be consulted on the draft estimates but that decisions on
expenditure would rest, as before, with the Resident Commissioner
acting with the approval of the Secretary of State. In practice,
however, the Commissioners assumed a more active role. When the
situation was reviewed in 1937, after the agreement had been in
.operation for three years, it was obvious that, from the Colony's:
point of view, a substantial revision was necessary. Richards, the
High Commissioner, commented:
I may say ... that, so far as I can see, the'agreement
has not worked out as was apparently expected by the
Administration, and I cannot avoid the conclusion that
- far too much deference has been accorded to the views
of the Commissijoners in the matter of Government
expenditure :
The Commissioners assumed a right to criticize every
item of expenditure, and, no doubt encouraged by the
conciliatory attitude of the Administration, took full
advantage of the position, extended their criticism to
all Government activities, and instituted a campaign
of Government economy.43
The agreement, Richards pointed out, had been calculated on the basis

of a depression output of 200,000 tons a year. By 1937 production
was in the vicinity of 400,000 tons.46

The outcome was a revised agreement by which the Commissioners
agreed to pay an annual sum of £20,000 to Colony revenue, in addition
to a royalty of 6d. per ton for all production in excess of 300,000
tons for the year ending 30 June 1939, and in excess of 250,000 tons
per year thereafter, with a minimum annual payment of £6,000; and
a sum approximately equal to three-eighths of the difference between

the Colony's ordinary revenue and ordinary expenditure, with a

44  Ordinance No. 3 of 1934.

45 H.C, to S. of S., Confidential, 19 March 1937 - WPHC, Inwards
Correspondence, General, 531/1935.

46 ibid.
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minimum annual payment of £9,000.47 In short, then, the B.P.C.

was to contribute a minimum of £35,000 a year compared with an annual
average of £24,000 to £25,000 for the preceeding four years.48 The
latter figure, it should be noted, represented a declining

percentage of Colony revenue.

Although the Banaban Provident Fund was steadily accumulating
to meet the costs of the projected resettlement of the Banabans, any
consideration of the issue was left in abeyance,along with the matter of
financial relations between the Colony and the B.P.C., when
Government and B.P.C. personnel were evacuated in February 1942,

a few months prior to Japanese occupation.

47 Ordinance -No. 7 of 1938.

48 GEIC, Colony Annual Report, 1934-8,passim.
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CHAPTER 4

THE GILBERT AND ELLICE ISLANDS 1908-1941: A NEGLECTED
BACKWATER OF THE EMPIRE

With the removal of the Protectorate headquarters to Ocean
Island in 1909 the Resident Commissioner was, simply by distance and
a lack of regular communication, left without any close knowledge of
the islands of the Gilbert and Ellice groups. The problem was
exacerbated, between 1909 and 1926, by the appointment of Resideﬁt
Commissioners without previous administrative experience in the
groups. Further, concentration on the affairs of Ocean Island was
both inevitable and necessary given the peculiar relationship which
existed between the phosphate industry and the Administration. All
Resident Commissioners were directly involved in negotiations over
the industry's financial contribution to:Protectorate (léter-Colony)
funds, the contrql of a multi-racial labour force and, on béhalf of
the Banabans, with discussions on iand aliénation and royalty

payments.

Subordinate staff in the Gilbert and Ellice Islands, on
the other hand, appeared to discourage closer links with Ocean
Island, preferring to tackle their respomsibilities without undue
interference. In policy matters too, Resident Commissioners, with
the possible exception of Grimble, were heavily dependent on their
District staff. Recommendations for @ajor changes in local
government policy, for example, were sometimes forwarded to the
High Commissioner in the form of memoranda prepared by District

Officers.1

By an Order in Council dated 10 November 1915 (effective from
12 January 1916) the Gilbert and Ellice Islands were annexed. By
further Orders issued in January 1916 the new Colony's boundaries
were extended to include Ocean, Fanning, Washington and the Tokeiau
(Union) Islands. The statusyof the'territory'was altered on the
instructions of the Secretary of State and, despite the frequently

recurring statement in Annual Reports that 'In the years

1 See, for example, correspondence in WPHC, Inwards Correspondence,
General, 1852/1912; 1407/1936.
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immediately following the creation of the Colony numerous
Ordinances were enacted for the better administration of the

2 : .
islands'® there was no discernible change in either administrative

policy or practice as a result of annexation.

The problem of communications, always chronic in the
Protectorate, had been worsened when the Tokelau Islands were placed
under the control of the Resident Commissioner in 1909. Located
600 miles to the east of Funafuti, the grodp's only link with the
administrative headquarters was an irregular shipping service
between Samoa and the Ellice Islands, via the Tokelaus, and thence
by an even more irregular service through Tarawa to Ocean Island.3
The extension of the Colony's limits to include Fanning and
Washington Islands (1916) and Christmas Island (1919) placed
impossible burdens on an administration that was, prior to the
Second World War, dependent on spasmodic and unreliable commercial

shipping and, at best, a single Coiony vessel.

Quayle Dickson, from 1909 to 1912, attempted to solve the
communications problem with the aid of frequent consultations with
his District Officers at Ocean Island - a practice that involved
them in long absences from their Districts and drew severe
criticism from the High Commissioner.4 Eliot, Quayle Dickson's
successor, remained almost totally absorbed in the territory's
finances and with Banaban affairs. On occasion, however, in the
course of his infrequent tours of the group, Eliot took issue with
the missions in regard to their influence over and interference
‘with the island governments. McClure advocated the return of
Colony headquarters to a ceﬁtral island of the Gilbert group in
1922 on the grounds that it was the only means by which the

~efficient administration of the ‘groups could be assured. In the

2 GEIC, Colony Annual Reports, 1949-67, passim.

3 Because of the problem of communications the Tokelau Islands
were placed under the jurisdiction of the Governor-General of
New Zealand in 1926 and administered from Western Samoa.

4 Assistant H.C. to H.C;, 11 Sept. 1911, and subsequent
correspondence - WPHC, Inwards Correspondence, General, 1567/1911.
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light of past experience, he argued, shipping could not provide a

. , 5
satisfactory solution.

_ Although successive Resident Commissioners considered that

the removal of the headquarters to a central location was desirable
for thg more efficient administration of the Colony, none were
prepared to recommend that such a step should be taken in the light
of financial implications and the state of the phosphate‘industry.
McClure, for example, despite his concern with efficiency,
suggested that the purchase of further land by the B.P.C. would
necessitate the demolition of the existing headquarters aﬁd that
the ensuing compensation should be used to finance the transfer.
When this situation arose in 1930, McClure's scheme was rejected .
by Grimble on the grounds that the Colony could not afford the
additional expenditure. of £2,000 and that the continued presence
of the Resident Commissioner was required at Ocean Island.7 |
Throughout.a decade of discussion the B.P.C. consistently opposéd
any suggestion that Colony headquarters should be moved. The
Commissioners maintained thatlthe commercial importance of the
phosﬁhate industry alone éhould ensure that the head of the

Colony's administration resided on Ocean Island.8

Attitudes towards the transfer of Colony headquarters
reflected basic assumptions underlying administrative policy before
the Second World War. .Parsimony in the Colonial Office ensured
that financial considerations would remain paramount with little
regard for administrative efficiency or the expansion of govefnment
“services. Aid from outside the Colony was not considered to be
even a remote possibility. The Secretary of State commented in
1923 that he considered an establishment of five District Officers
for twenty-four islands to be excessive, and suggested the

retrenchment of two or more officers in favour of 'travelling

5 Memorandum by McClure, 6 July 1925 - ibid., 329/1924.
6 ibid.

7 R.C. to H.C., Confidential, 11 Dec. 1930 - WPHC, Inwards
Correspondence, General, 1927/1930.

8 See correspondence and minutes - WPHC, Inwards Correspondence,
General, 3717/1931.
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officers' and added that 'it is doubtful whether a Colony with such
restricted resources as}the Gilbert and Ellice Islands can afford
both an elaborate European administration and an expensive

transport department'.9

Such statements, made when Colony revenue was comnsistently
exceeding expenditure by some 25 per cent, and when
annual government expenditure was a mere £40,000, for a total

population of about 30,000,10

give a fair indication of the
difficulties under which the Resident Commissioner and his staff
were obliged to work. "By 1924, moreover, the Colony had not only
had its establishment reduced but had also been obliged‘to dispense
with its veséel - the only regular means of contact between the
heaquatters and the islands of the Gilbert and Ellice grOups.1

It would appear that neither offiéials of the Colonial Office nor
the responsible Ministers sought a significant reallocation df
funas to social or other services. Rather, they simply attempted
to cut expenditure to the minimum - a feflédtion, perhaps, of the.

difficult economic conditions prevailing in Britain.

Lack of transport also inhibited the growth of other .
government services.‘ Although European missionaries usually
dispensed a limited range of drugs, thé missions concentrated theif
efforts in the education field and did not play any significant
role in the provision of medical services fof the islands. '
Government concern with the incidence of tuberculosis and yaws
throughout the groups, and fiiariasis in the Ellice, led to the

appointment of a medical officer in 1904.12

The Medical Department gradually expanded with-government
hospitals at Tarawa, Tabiteuea and Funafuti and small medical

stations on all other islands by 1916. Islanders were trained at

9 S. of S. to H.C., no. 173, 7 Aug. 1923 - WPHC, Despatches
from S. of S. : ) :

10 GEIC, Colony Annual Report, 1924-6, 11-14.
11 ibid., 1923-4, 9.

12 R.C. to H.C., no. 49, 11 Nov. 1907 - WPHC, Inwards
Correspondence, General,28/1908.
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Tarawa as 'dressers' for the island hospitals and a selected few
were given more advanced training in Fiji.:13 With skilled treatment
available‘only at.Tafawa and Funafuti from the 1920s, there was an
obvious demand for shipping to conduct inspection tours, and to
transport urgent cases to a Colony hospital. The need was
recognised in 1938 with the purchase of a ketch for the use of
departmental officers.l4.vHea1th services provided by the Gove:nﬁent
absorbed an average of 15 to 20 per cent of revenue throughout the

. 15
period; other departments were less fortunate.

Education, for example, was generally regarded as the preserve

of the missions. Both missions considered that education was an .
essential feature of the propagation of the faith. As a result, '. j
all villages throughout the Gilbert and Ellice Islands had at

least one, and sometimes more, schools where a heavy emphasis was ‘
placed on teaching in religious subjects. By 1914 all missions had’ }
estéblished institutions where potential pastors and teachers were

instructed under the supervision of European missionaries.

- The Government did not become involved in education until 1913. f
From that year mission education programmes recéived financial | |
assistance with grants rising from £225 in 1913 to £500 in 1‘917-18.17
In 1920 én Education Department was established and, two years later,
the King George V School (so named from 1925) opened at Tafawa with - -
sixty studehts.'l_8 Go?ernment edqcation wésbavailabie only for bbys
and restricfed.to the primary level. From the point of4view'ofAthe-
Government the sole purpose of its education programme was fo train

government clerks, as no mission school had succeeded, by 1916, in

educating any student to the standard required for an official

13 GEIC, Medical Department Report, 1916-17, 1.
14 GEIC, Medical Departmenf Report, 1938,‘9.

15 GEIC, Colony Annual Reports, 1915-37, Eassiﬁ;
- 16 - GEIC, Education Department Report, 1934, 4.

17 R.C. to H.C., no. 174, 29 Aug. 1916 - WPHC, Inwards Cofrespondence,
General, 2537/1916; S. of S. to H.C., no. 71, 21 March 1917 -
ibid., 1342/1917. S :

18 GEIC, Education Department Report, 1934, 1.

-
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interpreter.19 Assistance to mission training institutions
continued, but no grants were made in respect of the 200 village
schools in the groups. Under a scheme of co-operation for the
Gilbert Islands, the Government égreed to train five teachers a year
for both Protestant and Catholic missions from 1930, and to give
financial assistance to the 'improved village schools' to which they
were posted.zo. The S.H.M. withdrew its trainees in 1935, and the
scheme was suspended in the following year after a total of

thirty-five teachers had graduated.21

A similar school to that at Tarawa was opened at Vaitupu in
1924. The Ellice Islanders offered to provide land, buildings,
some food, £850 a year for three years (to meet all costs) and a
recurrent annual payment of £3 per pupil. In return, the Government
agreed to assume responsibility for the school and gave an
undertaking that a European headmaster would be retained in,charge.22
In 1931, however, with the transfer of Kennedy, the headmaster, to

the administrative service, the Government decided that the school

would henceforth be staffed only by local teachers.23

In 1923 Smith-Rewse, the Colony's senior District Officer,
“Holland, the head of the education scheme, Kennedy, and~Lacey, the
acting headmaster of the Banaban school, submitted proposals for a
revised education policy to the Resident Commissioner. They argued
that, despite the lack of resources and employment opportunities in
the Colony, it was the duty of the Government to provide a
progressive education programme. Education was considered to be
the best means of ensuring the.moral, intellectual and physical
improvement of the Gilbertese and Ellice Islanders. The officers
also expressed a belief that English and other basic academic

subjects should be taught in village schools sponsored by the

19 R.C. to H.C., no. 174, 29 Aug. 1916 - loc. cit.

20 R.C. to H.C., no. 352, 31 Dec. 1927 - WPHC, Inwards
Correspondence, General, 350/1928.

21 GEIC, Education Department Report, 1936, 2.

22 D.0O., E.I.D. to R.C., no. 33, 18 Aug. 1921 - WPHC, Inwards
Correspondence, General, 3258/1921. o

23 GEIC, Education Department Report, 1934, 2.
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Government.24 The opposition of McClure and his superiors to these
proposals was based not only on their views of education but also
on general attitudes towards colonial administration. McClure
believed the proposals to be 'administratively unsound and contrary
to all the accepted principles of good government of a native race'.
He further stated that no material advancement could be expected in
groups of coral islands, that the islanders were 'reasonably happy
and content' in their present state and that, therefore, any
education programme which would introduce outside ideas cbuld not
be justified and, indeed, would be harmful. As corollaries he
added that all education, save that expressly designed to train
clerks and interpreters for the Government, should remain with the
missions, and that teaching should be conducted in the vernacular

: 25
languages.

It was accepted as inevitable, by McClure and his successors,
that the Colony was geographically isolated, and would remain so,
and that, therefore, apart from financial consideraﬁions,
preservation, rather than any concept of development, should be the
major factor in policy decisions. Grimble, as Resident Commissioner, :
expressed the prevailing view:

The economic development of the islands will never be

such as to render a knowledge of English necessary to

the masses. The acquisition of such specialised knowledge

by the general population would ... be dangerous inasmuch

as it would tend to inspire the natives with ambitions

which they could never fulfil, and thus become the
potential cause of political unrest.?2

The achievements of the Ellice Islands School while it remained
under the direct control .of Kennedy, from 1924 to 1931, énd under
his influence for a further seven years, are clearly seen in the.
success of its graduates in the Colony's civil service in poét-war
years but, at the time, his ideas were regarded as bofh radical and

dangerous. Financial stringency, the dangers of filarial infection,

24 Memorandum enclosed in R.C. to H.C., no. 131, 11 July 1923 -
WPHC, Inwards Correspondence, General, 2049/1923.

25 R.C. to H.C., no. 131, 11 July 1923.- ibid.

26 R.C. to H.C., no. 318, 15 Oct. 1930 - WPHC, Inwards
Correspondence, General, 1950/1930. :
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and especially Kennedy's curriculum, which included English and
other academic subjects, were the factors which led to the decision
not to replace Kennedy with another European teacher. 1In 1931,
Grimble commented:

The type of education given at Vaitupu is unsuitable

for young boys whose destiny must remain circumscribed

- for the most part - by the bounds of ordinary village

life .... The system of Government education at

present obtaining in the Ellice Group threatens to

produce a class of youths both economically useless

and socially dangerous .... The point is that all

merely academic instruction should now be abandoned,

and a revised syllabus, having in view every need and
limitation of village life should be adopted.Z27

In accordance with this poiicy, the intake of students to King
George V School was strictly limited to thé number of anticipated
‘vacancies in the civil service. No consideration was given to the
ambitions of the islanders themselves, many of whom sought a higher
education than could be provided in mission schools. Such '
aspirations were dismissed by Government officials who believed that
the desire for education was almost solely a reflection of village
and island rivalries and was not based on any desire for education
per se, and that such ambitions, where they existed, were

undesirable and should be discouraged.28

Government attitudes towards education in this period provide -
an excellent guide to administrative policies generally and to the
future developments envisaged by officials serving in the Colony
at the time. William Telfer Campbell, like his governﬁent agents,
had been little concerned with theories of colonial administration.
Rather, he had attempted to establish practical methods of
administration that would ensure the predominance of his own will
and enable dlose control over the islanders and their governmenté.
Later, the ability of the islanders to rule themselves, under the
guidance of European officials was stressed and the emergence of a

unified self-governing polity within half a century>was confidently

27 R.C. to H.C., no. 353, 17 Dec. 1931 - ibid.

28 See, for example, minutes of discussions between the High
Commissioner and the Resident Commissioner, Suva, 28 Feb. 1935
- ibid., 294/1935 '
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predicted.29 Although this target date, set in 1930, may be
achieved it is doubtful whether the policies followed by the
Government before the Second World War could have contributed towards
such an end. Officials of that era generally envisaged the
preservation of Gilbertese and Ellice society in its existing form

within definite limits prescribed by geographical, environmental

and financial factors.

Some officials went even further and made a conscious effort
to reverse the process of social change. Of necessity, such a view
involved an attack on mission influence and the changes it had
wrought in the island communities. Because it had been longer in
the field, and had made a greater impact on the islanders, the

L.M.S. came in for the strongest criticism.

In the Gilbert and Ellice Islands, as in most parts of the
“Pacific, missionaries tended to take the view that conversion
involved the acceptance not only of mission teaching in matters of
faith and morals but also of certain social standards maintained
by the missionaries themselves. Adherents generally had little
understanding of doctrine, a fact often acknowledged_by the
missionéries.Bo Christianity became a matter of fuleé and regulations
to be blindly followed, and church attendance. Traditionél garments
and partial nakedness were shunned in favour of shirts and lavalavas
for the men and mother-hubbards for the women. For the missionaries,
such outward changes were regarded as encouraging signs of the
progress of the 'work': ' .
The effect of Christian teaching [Goward wrote to his
superiors in London] is to make the people desire to
“be decently clothed and to be cleanly, and to exchange

the dirty cocoanut leaf "riri'" for the print waistcoat
and loose gown.3l

Most administrators took a different view. Faced with a

situation in which mission domination had preceded the arrival of the

29 GEIC, Colony Annual Report, 1929-30, 6.

30 See, for example, 'Report on the ... L.M.S., 1900-1902"
- loc. cit.

31 'Statement regarding operations in the Gilbert Group', enclosed
in Goward to Thompson, 17 March 1915 - IMS, South Seas, Letters.
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British administration, and had remained a more significant -
influence in the lives of the islanders, some officials regarded the
missions with open hostility. Religious rivalries within the Native
Governments, often instigated, or at least supported by, European
missionaries, constantly drew the attention of District Officers.
The attitudes of many officials towards these dispﬁtes were based

on a belief that religious teaching had produced a class of people
inferior and degraded when compared with their ancestors. Grimble,
for example, believed that mission teaching had led to 'the birth

of the native snob; a being ashamed of his history, ashamed of ﬁis
legends, ashamed of everything that every happened to-his race
outside the chapel and the class-‘room',32 and that 'Protestant
Christianity ... remains the synonym of mental and social
emasculation forvthe native'.33 Grimble's view, which was shared

by many of his colleagues, may be seen as anti-mission, or based on
a romanticised ideal of the islanders, but there is another factor,
of even greater significance, to be considered. The influence over
the minds and lives of the islanders by the missions was regarded

as a hindrance to control by the Government; a Government which in
practice sought to establish a brand of paternalism that was at

least as authoritarian and restrictive as that of the missions.

The 1894 Native Laws remained virtually unaltered until 1917.
The most important amendments made in the intervening period
concerned the registration of births, deaths and marriages (1897);
the illegal assumption of magisterial powers (1898); civil V
marriage (1912); and 'wife exchange' (1907).34 The latter offence,
like adultery, was made a criminal offence punishable by six to
twelve months' imprisonment in addition to any sentence for adultery

(also six to twelve months' imprisonment). Other laws considered

32 Grimble to R.C., no. 27, 20 Nov. 1918, enclosed in R.C. to H.C.,

Confidential, 1 Feb. 1919 - WPHC, Inwards Correspondence,
General, 531/1919.

33 Memorandum on mission affairs in the southern Gilbert Islands,

enclosed in R.C. to H.C., no. 104, 23 June 1920 - ibid., 1448/1920.

34 'Additions to the Gilbert & Ellice Islands NATIVE LAWS since
1894', enclosed in R.C. to H.C., no. 206, 5 Sept. 1912 - ibid.,
1852/1912.
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necessary had been embodied in the all-embracing island regulations

passed by the island governments.

After correspondence with Murdoch and other District Officers
Eliot had suggested in 1912 that the constitution should be changed,
and several of the laws amended. Five years passed, however, before
the compréhénsive revision that he envisaged could be aﬁcomplished.
Although the Revised Native Laws of 191735vrepresented a significant
departure from the 1894 code it was, in fact, simply designed to

bring the legislation into line with existing practice.

The revised laws and local government constitution were to be
applied uniformly to all islands of both groups. The position of
High Chief, following Campbell's suppression of the office, was
abolished. The Native Magistrate was retained with his existing
powers and the position of Chief of Kaubure, a reality for two
decades, was officially recognised. It was the lattér's role to
preside over the monthiy meetings of the Kaubure and he.was, with
the Magistrate, responsible for the enforcement of all laws and
regulations. Native Magistrates, Chiefs of Kaubure and Scribes
were to be appointed by the Resident Commissioner on the
recommendation of a District Officer. Under the previods
constitution the only formally recognised role of the Resident
Commissioner was to confirm death sentences and to advise the island
governments at their request. The 1917 amendment acknowledged the
de facto control that government officials had exercised from the
time that Swayne was first appointed in 1893. District Officers
were also given power to review and amend all decisions of tﬁe,
Native Courté, including the settlement of land disputes for which
the Cbﬁrts were henceforth to be responsible. The selection of
Kaubure remained a local responsibility but all appointments were

subject to confirmation by a District Officer.

Amendment to the laws (as distinct from the local government
constitution) showed a trend towards 'European' standards, partly

because of administrative policy and partly as a result of pressure

35 Schedule to Ordinance No. 2 of 1917.

36 R.C. to H.C., no. 206, 5 Sept. 1912 - loc. cit.
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from mission 'interests. Attempted suicide, abortion, tinaba, incest
(although it was not made clear whether local or English definitions
were to apply), gambling, sorcery, contempt of court and aiding and
abetting were all included within the list of punishable offences.
So, too, were procuration and permitting the use of a house for

"immoral purposes'.

The system of local taxation that had been in operation since
1914 was also given legal sanction. Initially, land taxes and
fines had been placed in Island Funds from which local salaries
and expenses had been deducted together with assessed contributions
to Protectorate funds. The practice had allowed the Funds to
accumulate, especially as successive High Commissioners had refused
to sanction an increase in island taxes to finance Campbell's schemes
for an expanded administration. When Quayle Dickson raised the
overall assessﬁent from £2,500 to £4,685 in 1912, without seeking
prior approval, May, the High Commissioner, gave serious
consideration to the return of the unauthorised balance but then

decided that it should be allocated to a special public works fund.37

Within fifteen years of their creation the sum of all Island
Funds had risén to £21,59038 - an obvious target for an impoveriéhed
central administration. When the proposal to purchase a Protectorate
vessel had been approved by im Thurn, Quayle Dickson had suggested
that a loan, amounting to half of the estimated cost of about
£10,000, should be drawn from the Island Funds. Crewe, the
Secretary of State, went even further. As the vessel would improve
- the administration of the groups, and therefore be of benefit to
the islanders, he argued, a portion of the cost could fairly be
charged against the Funds.39 Accordingly, the island governments were

asked to contribute £4,500 towards the cost of a Government vessel.

37 R.C. to H.C., no. 49, 24 Feb. 1912, enclosed in H.C. to S. of S.,
no. 101, 13 April 1912 - WPHC, Despatches to S. of S.; R.C. to
H.C., no. 205, 4 Sept. 1912, and ensuing correspondence - WPHC,
Inwards Correspondence, General, 1851/1912.

38 H.C. to S. of S., no. 191, 17 Oct. 1911 - WPHC, Despatches to
S. of §.

39 S. of §S. to H.C., no. 131, 14 Oct. 1909 - WPHC, Despatches from
S. of S. :
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Later, their approval was sought for the transfer of the
balance of the Island Funds; amounting to some £17,500 to the
Protectorate.40 All islands in the Gilbert group were persuaded to
agree unconditionally to the transfer but those of the Ellice group
gave their approval only on condition that a 'special project' would
be undertaken in the Ellice Islands each year.41 Their terms were
accepted by the Resident Commissioner and the épproﬁriate assurances
made. There is no evidence, however, that Go&ernment expenditure in
the group, always meagre, was increased as a result. - From 1914 all
island governments were permitted to refain'oniy sufficient revenue
to meet their approved annual expenditure; all other proceeds from

fines and taxation were regarded as Protectorate revenue.

From 1917,‘a11 taxes were paid directly to the Cblony Government
which madé alfowance in the annual estimates for expenditure on
island administration. All expenditure by the island governments
was subject to approval by the Resident Commissioner. From 1914 the
salaries of all local government officials were fixed by the Resident
Commissioner on a scale dependent on the size of each island.
Salaries of Native Magistrates, for example, ranged from £24 to £9,
and overall expenditure by the island governments was estimated at
£103 for islands with a population in excess of 3,000 and £46 for
those with less than 500 people.42

Excluding changes in the financial relationship bet&een the
central and island governmehts, there were ﬁo significant changes
in local government policy between 1909 and 1930. The practice of
concentrating the population into easily administered villages was
continued; the power of the Native Magistrate vis a vis the Chief
of Kaubure, continued to expand; the island governments tended to
make large numbers of petty regulations and, when a District

Officer was present on any given island, his word was law.

40 H.C. to S. of S., no. 103, 15 April 1912 - WPHC, Despatches to
S. of S.

41 R.C. to H.C., no. 73, 10 April 1913 - WPHC, Inwards Correspondence,
General, 925/1913.

42 R.C. to H.C., no. 213, 17 Dec. 1913 - ibid.
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The District Officers appointed to the Colony during the period
may be divided into two groups - career colonial servants, and
local recruits. The fdrmer often had university degrees,.endeavoured
to understand the people whom they administered, learnt their
languages and a few published papers on the customs, social
organisation and material culture of the Gilbertese and Ellice
Islanders.43 Some lacked both interest and ability. Those reéruited
locally came from a variety'ofvformer occupations ranging from
traders and ship's officers to labour overseers employed by the
B.P.C.. at Ocean Island. Although some of the officials in this
category learnt the vernacular languages; they were usually men of
little formal education, their understanding of the principles of
administration was limited, they were less sympathetic and
perceptive in'their relationships with the Gilbertese and Ellice
Islanders and their approach was, on the whole, more rigi&. There
were exceptions. Murdoch, for exampié, despite his authoritarianism,
was, perhaps, the most respected and effective of the early

administrators.

Following the example set by their District Officers, officials
of the Native Governments tended to be authoritarian in their
approach towards administration. Although many served upwafds of
twenty years in office, and commanded the respect of their fellow
islahders, their authority was ultimately drawn not from their status
within the island communities but from‘the Government that they

represented.

The zeal of the Native Governments in their enforcement of laws

~ and regulations is adequately illustrated by the high proportion of

the population convicted in the Native Courts. The District Reports
for 1929-30 reveal that on one island the equivalent of 75 per cent
of the adult population was convicted during the year and, at

: . . 4 ‘
another, 80 per cent of the women were similarly convicted. 4 In

43 See the publications of Maude and Grimble listed in the
Bibliography and also those of Kennedy who transferred from the
Education Department to the Administrative Service in 1931.

44 District Annual Reports for 1929-30 - WPHC, Inwards Correspondence,
" General, 86/1931.
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explanation, it was pointed out that although there were large
numbers of convictions in the Courts, serious crimes were
comparatively rare. Rather, the high rate of convictions was
directly due to the multiplicity of island regulations, especially
those concerned with the cleanliness of houses and village land
plots. Swinbourne, the Acting Resident Commissioner, reporte& to
the Acting High Commissioner that in view of the scope of the
regulations, breaches at some time by almost all individuals could

be regarded as inevitable:

[As the island regulations] ... regulate almost every
period of an individual's life and work, they are broken
at some time by virtually every one in the community,
and it is only on islandswhere the Native Governments
are slack in the performance of their duties that any
large proportion of the community can escape conviction
in the course of any given year. Crime, however, as

it is understood in a European sense is seldom
committed by the Gilbertese and the community's strong
social sense is an efficient safeguard against the
occurrence of any offence which the native considers

to be anti-social.45

It should also be noted that prosecution for a minor offence before

a Native Court usually resulted in a conviction but, when the
offence was contrary to a 'European' rather than a customary law,
such a conviction was not usually regarded as being socially

censurable.

The Native Governments were, hOWever, extremely selective in
their enforcement of the laws and regulations. Following
precedents that had been established by European officers, the
Magistrates and Kaubure insisted on curfews, communal works
(compulsory adult labour for community projects) and clean houses
but, where the law came into conflict with custoﬁary modes of
behaviour still held in respect, no action would be taken. Despite
their illegality, the tinaba and eiriki customs were still
practised. It is also doubtful whether the law significantly
reduced the incidence of abortion. On the other hand, the
occurrence of offences, incest for example, which were considered

to be definitely anti-social and contrary to traditional codes of

45 R.C. to H.C., no. 76, 1 Feb. 1933 - ibid., 783/1933.
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social behaviour, generally resulted in family or community action

46

outside the law.

As customary law survived in some contexts in the Gilbert
Islands so, too, did traditional authority. On Makin and
Butaritari, Abaiang, and Abemama, Kuria and Aranuka, high chiefs and
their families remained as formidable forces in island politics.
Such informal authorityﬂwas often at variance with the dictates of
the Government aﬁd, because such power was reqognised by the
populace, effectively curtailed the influence of the Native
Governments. On Butaritari, for example, when charges against the
Native Magistrate were investigated in 1920, they were foﬁnd to be
an expression of the constant rivalry which existed Between the uea,
whp was accustomed to being de faéto ruler of the island, énd the
Native Government. Anderson, the investigating officer, éonsidered
that the island's government would remain powerless unless constantly
supported by a European officer.47 At Abemama, too, the high chief
retained considerable power despite attempts to overcome his
influence by the appointment of senior members of the chiefly
families to office in the Native Govefnment.48 On Marakei, Tarawa
and Maiana no strong centralised chiefship had existed, and the
influence of the former uea and their descendants posed little

threat to the island governments after the turn of the century.

Although the unimane of the southern Gilbert Islands only
Seldom'played a significant role in the Native Governments their
influence in the social and political affairs of their islands
remained considerable. Informal village and island councils
continued to meet and to exercise some degree of indirect authority
over both their fellow islanders and the Native Governments.

Where dissension did occur it was generally the product of.

religious disputes. Protestant majorities on the islands from

46 L.C. to Sec. to Govt, 5 Dec. 1938, enclosed in R.C. to H.C.,
no. 431, 13 Dec. 1938 - WPHC, F10/12/1.

47 District Annual Report, Northern Gilbert Islands, 1919,
enclosed in R.C. to H.C., no. 55, 24 March 1920 - WPHC,
Inwards Correspondence, General, 1037/1920.

48 District Annual Report, Central and Southern GilbertIslands, 1919,
enclosed in R.C. to H.C., no. 46, 6 March 1920 - ibid., 714/1920.
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Nonouti southwards, but>exc1uding Tamana and Arorae which remained
exclusively Protestant, continally tried to place obstacles in

the way of the gxpansion of the Catholic faith. Pastors attempted
‘to 'pack' the Kaubure with tﬁeir own followers and religious issues
frequently became a factor in decisions of the Native Courts.49

In the light of such provocation, and not always becausé of it,

it was hardly surprising that the priests and adherents of the
S.H.M. also contributed their share to the dissension.l At Nikunau,
for example, after disﬁutes‘between a priest and the Native Government
in 1917 over exemptions from communal Wdrks, the former, with his
adherents, retreated within his mission compound, and, with the aid
of a loaded gun, prevented the entry of the local authorities.
Strong ﬁrotests were made by Bishop Leray, head of the S.H.M. in
the Gilbert Islands, when Eliot removed the priest to Ocean Island,
but were withdrawn after an investigation had been mad'e.50 The
‘most spectacular, and probably most violent, expression of mission
rivalries in the period 1909 to 1940 qccurred at Onotoa in 1930.
When the Native Magiétrate, a. Roman Cathélic, warned . the

Protestant population that large collections for the L.M.S. would
make it difficult for them to pay'taxes, cries. of religious:
persecution were raised. Qﬁickly, the oppoéition assumed an
hysterical air, ‘developed in a Messianic movement and eventually
exploded into violence resulting in two deaths. The timely arrival
of the District Officer and the head of the L.M.S. in the

Gilbert Islands brought peace, but not an end to inter-mission

disputes.51

In the ébsence of regular shipping it was always difficult to
maintain satisfactory supervisidn over local gdvernment in ‘the
Ellice Islands and, to make matters worse, the group was oftén
without a District Officer. True, in the absence of the
inter-village rivalries and religious intolerance that existed in

the Gilberts, there was less need of supervision and the island

49 R.C. to H.C., no. 104, 3 July 1913 - ibid., 1567/1913.
50 R.C. to H.C., no. 206, 9 Oct. 1917 - ibid., 2953/1917.

51 Maude, 'The Swords of Gabriel', The Journal of Pacific
History, II (1967), 113-36. '
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governments, although often operating outside the limits prescribed
by the Colony Government, generally functioned in a manner that

satisfied a majority of the people who were ruled by them.

It was Smith;Rewse, as District Officer for the Ellice Islands
from 1909 to 1915, who first exercised close supervision 9ver»the
island governments, developed, after experimentation,'a sﬁandardised
house.design (an indication as to the degree and nature of
governmental control), and completed the consolidation of the
population into a single village for each island.52 When all
Island Funds were absorbed into Colony revenue in 1914, Smith-Rewse
suggested that each island should open a savings account as a-
safeguard for the future.53 ‘Those accounts have steadily increased
to the present day; some islands still have several thousand

dollars invested overseas and in the Colony.

Between 1915 and 1931 no less than fourteen District-Officers
served in the Ellice Islahds.54 In the light of such a rapid
turnover of staff, and continued transport difficulties, it is not
surprising thé£ the island govefnments remained, for the most part,
unsupervised. Samoan remained the language of fhe church and of
government until it. was replaced by Ellice with the appointment of

Kennedy in 1931.° Most members of the Native Governments also held

offices in the church. Gradually the island governments emerged as

avblend of indigenous and alien institutions. Where, formerly, the
office of high chief and subsidiary chief had alternated between
the heads of the two most important families, now the offices of
Native Magistrate and Chief of Kaupuli were similarly rotated.

The island governments were often placed in a dilemma, however,
when custom came into conflict with the law. In former times, the
high chiefs had periodically prohibited access to specific land

plots or reef islets in order to ensure the preservation of certain

52 District Annual Report, Ellice Islands,.1912, enclosed in R.C.
to H.C., no. 65, 6 May 1914 - WPHC, Inwards Correspondence,
General, 1442/1914. '

53 District Annual Report, Ellice Islands, 1921-2, enclosed in
R.C. to H.C., no. 197, 17 Nov. 1922 - ibid., 3510/1922.

54 District Annual Report, Ellice Islands, 1935, enclosed in R.C.
to H.C., no. 291, 12 Sept. 1936 - ibid., 744/1936.
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crops and to protect rare fish. This role was assumed by the Native
Governments but without legal powers of enforcement. Again, with
communal fishing expeditions, the breaking of a canoe-line, or
disturbing fish, would have resulted in the destruction of an
offender's canoe - a punishment that the Government would not

sanction.

Two main_causés lay behind the problems faced by the Native
Governments in the_Ellice Islands. Firstly, almost all legislation
was drafted with the Gilbert Islands in mind. The peculiar problems
of the small and remote Ellice Islands received no special
legislative recognition in the period prior to the Second World War
an&, in the ébsence of adequate information, were seldom considered
in the Resident Commissioner's office. Secondly, Colony legislation
represented a constant pressure towards conformity and, consequently,
traditional sources of pbwer within the island communitieé suffered.
Although the Government did ﬁot always seek to undermine or replace
traditional laws or values, its policies had that effect when the
island governments were denied the legal authority to enforce

customary sanctions within their communities.

There were periodic attempts to curb the influence of the
L.M.S. in the Elliée Islands and to limit financial contributions
to the mission. The church in the group remained under the control
of the Samoan committee throughout the period -~ a source of
resentment among many Ellice Islanders.56 Donations for L.M.S.
work in the Samoén District of the mission were collected during

visits of the John Williams, but the islanders received little in

return compared with their financial contributions. In addition to
the contributions which went to Samoa, the islanders were obliged
to pay salaries ranging up to £500 to all pastors and teachérs on
their islands as well as providing food and housing. As in Samoa
and like protestant missionaries and pasfors throughout the Pacific

the representatives of the L.M.S. showed few scruples in their

55 1ibid.

56 See, for example, the report on representations made to the
Resident Commissioner by the deacons of the L.M.S. church in
the Ellice Islands, R.C. to H.C., no. 104, 1 April 1938 -
ibid., 3031/1937.
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promotion and exploitation of personal, village and island rivalries
in the collection of donations. All contributions were made
publicly and the amount given, together with the donor's cumulative

total for the year, were announced at weekly meetings.57

When political troubles did arise in the Ellice Islands they
were usually centred on the young men. Whether the cause lay in a
reaction to mission control, the inevitable rebellion of youth, or
new ideas introduced by repatriated labourers, it is difficult to
say. Traditionally, the young men of each island had belonged to.
a club, known as the kau taka, which was divided into two rival
groups, each of which had a special house and was led by an older
man who acted as spokesman. The kau taka went into decline with
the arrival of pastors who attempted to focus all social activities
on the church. From about 1915, however, there was a re-emergence
of young men's clubs, known as aumaga (a Samoan term) throughout
the group. The aumaga were generally beyond the c0ntroi of the
island authorities and, on occasion, usurped the role of police and
enjoyed sufficient power to determine which regulations éhould be

obeyed and which ndt;59

By 1928 the island regulations made by the various Native
Governments under the 1917 Ordinance showed such diversity in both
their scope and the range of penalties they carried, that Grimble,
as Resident Commissioner, decided to issue a uniform set of
regulations for all islaﬁds of both groups.60 Again, the desire for
administrative conformity was the determining factor. 1It is also of
interest that where, in the past, the mission-inspired, petty and

authoritarian regulations had been passed by the island governments

57 R.C. to H.C., Confidential, 4 March 1919'- ibid., 1042/1919;
no T/C/1, 17 Nov. 1922 - ibid., 3260/1922.

58 R.C, to H.C., no. T/C/4, 20 Nov. 1922 - ibid., 3263/1922.-

59 District Annual Report, Ellice Islands, 1915-16, enclosed in R.C.
to H.C., no. 1, 1 Jan. 1917 - ibid., 318/1917; Lenwood (L.M.S.)
to R.C., 19 Nov. 1915, enclosed in R.C. to Foreign Secretary (L.M.S.)
22 Dec. 1915 - IMS, South Seas, Letters; D.O., E.I.D. to R.C.,
no. 90, 28 Sept. 1935, enclosed in R.C. to H.C., no. 330, 9 Dec.
1935 - WPHC, Inwards Correspondence, General, 68/1936.

60 R.C. to H.C., no. 40, 18 Feb. 1928 - WPHC, Inwards Correspondence,
" General, 939/1928. :
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now they were to be included in a consolidated code issued from the
Resident Commissioner's office at Ocean Island. There is no
evidence to show that the Native Governments-were consulted in any
way, but, significantly, when the Regulations for the Good Order and
Cleanliness of the Gilbert and Ellice Islands were published in 1930
it was stated that they had been 'made by the Native Magistraées.
and Kaubure of the Colony and épproved by District Officers on A

behalf of the Resident Commissioner'.61

Some of the regulations were concerned with traditional
practices for which‘standards of behaviour were clearly defined and
established in the minds of all concerned and which, if broken,
would have provoked community action. Bubuti (Gilbertese) and

fakamolemole (Ellice), or the soliciting of“goods and services, were

forbidden but it is doubtful, judging from their incidence at the
present'time, whether the practice was curbed or the regulation
enforced. A request in these terms has always impiied a definite
reciprocal obligation; if appropriate returns are not made, future
requests may be denied. The obligations involvéd.in adopfion, a
common practice in both groups, were stated when, again, customary
safeguérds still applied. The upbringing of children and the care
of ageﬂ parents, adoptive parents, dogs; pigs and fowls were also
the subjects of regulations. Feasts‘to.celebrnte marriages, births,
deaths, betrothals and puberty could only be held with thé_ .
permission of a Kaubure. 'Competitive' feasts, and public feasts
for strangers or visitors, were forbidden. Dancing was permitted
only on Wednesdays, Saturdays and public holidays between the hours
of 6 p.m. and 9 p.m. All males attending dances were to carry
lamps; no child could attend. 'Shameful gestures.and movements of
the body' in dancing, magic fituais and 'nnclean_games' were all
prohibited. Private dancing practice, with a maximum of four
nartiCipants, was permitted only on Mondays and Thursdays between

the hours. of 6 p.m. and 9 p.m.

Most families in the Gilbert and Ellice Islands had a
'sleeping house', where social activities also took place, an

'eating house' and a cooking house. Eating in a sleeping house,

61 GEIC, Regulations for the Good Order and Cleanliness of the
Gilbert and Ellice Islands,1930.
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or sleeping in an eating house, earned a fine of ls. to 10s. All
houses were to be inspected weekly by the Kaubure. Passing thg
pipe and permitting children to smoke were also offences under the
new code. Except when special permission had been obtained from a
Kaubure, all persons were to be within their villages by sunset,
and within their houses by 9 p.m. when a curfew conch was to be
sounded. Sea~-going canoes were to be inspected annually, and
canoe-fishing or sailing, except within a lagoon was prohibited
during the westerly season from November to March - an obvious

hardship for the inhabitants of the reef islands.

From the time that the Protectorate was first established,
compulsory adult labour for two to four days a week had been used
for the maintenance of public roads and buildings. In the 1930
RegulatiOns,'labour obligations were standardised. All able-bodied
persons aged between sixteen and sixty years could be required to
work for a maximum of fifty-two days per year. Government and some
mission persbnnel, and those in wage employment were exempt. In
addition all landowners were obliged to work on their lands on
'Fridays, and for the months from October to March, for a further day

each week to clear and replant unproductive lands.

Such law codes were by no means new or unusual in the Pacific.
In the first half of the 19th century, for example, the Society
‘Islands and the Cook Islands had been classic examples of
paternalistic mission rule and later in the century Fiji, as well
as the Gilbert and Ellice groups, had seen similar developments.
In all cases the acceptance of Christianity by island or regional
leaders had been followed by'the introduction of detailed law codes
drafted by mission personnel. In many territories colonial
officials adopted or adapted 'existing law' - that is, traditional
law as it had been modified or enlarged as a response to mission
teaching - as a first step towards the creation of a neﬁ adminis trative
and legal structure. And in Samoa mission-type laws had been codified
and widely enforced during the Steinberger era, before the’

establishment of formal colonialbrule.

Elsewhere in the Pacific such law codes were generally
modified or replaced as the administration had developed, but this
had not occurred in the Gilbert and Ellice Islands to any marked

extent. In such small communities twenty years of mission domination
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prior to the arrival of the British administration had engrained
certain principles of behaviour in the minds of the community
leaders. If the impoverished and understaffed administration was to
exercise any significant control, therefore, it would be obliged,
to a large degree, to work within a similar framework. In practice,
and partly by choice, the paternalistic administration of Campbell
and Murdoch was little different from that of the missions, and their
successors, like Arﬁhur Grimble, were, in some ways, forced to
continue in a similar manner. It is also significant that by 1930
Grimble had been in the Colony's service for some sixteen years
without the broadening experience of working in a different
territory. ‘His 1930 Regulations,'therefbre, may be seen to
illustrate the degree to which the Government, by inclination or

by necessity, had .adopted the form of paternalistic control first

introduced by the pastors of the L.M.S.

From the time of Grimble's depﬁrture from the Colony in 1933,
a younger generation of administrative officers sought to relieve
the islanders and their gbvernments from such close and overbearing
supervision. H.E. Maude, P.D. Macdonald and Kennedy, in particular,
argued that it was undesirable to have regulations that were not

enforced and were not enforceable.

In the matter of incest, for example, Grimble maintained that
customary law iﬁ»the Gilbert Islands had become decayed and
forgotten. Iﬁ 1929 he instructed District Officers to interpret
incest in the Native Laws as it was defined in English law and to
ensure that.this strictly limited interpretation was adopted by the
Native Courts.62' Maude took a different view. Only the insistence
on clan exogamy had decéyed, he argued. The old Gilbertese
prohibitions regarding the marriage of persons who cQuld 'trace a
common ancestor, either by blood or adoption, up to and including
the third generation' still applied; exceptions were always made
for the chiefly families of the northern Gilbert‘Islands.63 Similar
confusion had arisen over the divorce laws. Both were amended by

the Native GovernmentsOrdinance of 1941.

62 GEIC, Instructions and Hints to District Officers, Deputy
" Commissioners, and Sub-Accountants (Grimble and Clarke), 1929, 5.

63 L.C. to Sec. to Govt.,5 Dec. 1938, enclosed in R.C. to H.C.,
no. 431, 13 Dec. 1938.-- WPHC, F10/12/1..

1
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In practice, the more oppressive of Grimble's regulations were
honoured in the breach rather than in the observance, especially in
the absence of a District Officer. Despite constant representations
made by the District Officers on behalf of the Gilbertese and Ellice
Islanders, no move was made to liberalise the regulations'un;il
1936. Action was precipitated when Maude, giving expression to the
frustration he shared with other junior officers, sent copies of the
Regulations to Miss Camilla Wedgwood, an anthropologist who had
worked in Nauru in the early 1930s. She, in turn, sent them to her
father, Josiah Wedgwpod, an opposition Member in the House of
Commons.64 That 'truculent upholder of the Individuals Right to
Live', as he was later designated by the Resident Commissioner,
took the Regulations to the Secretary of State and threatened to
table them for debate in the House of Commons unless immediaté and

. . 65
substantial revisions were made.

Ironically, it was Maude, as Lands Commissioner, who was giveh
the task of touring the GilbertvIslands with a view to drawing up
a new code. The resulting Islands Regulations (1939) for the Gilbert
Islands contained a Basic set of regulations for all islands of the
group and special regulations requested.by the governments of
particular islands. foensive”regulations were removed; for
example, those concerning canoes, feasts, games, uses of eating and
sleeping houses and smoking. The bubuti regulation was withdrawn
and it was simply stated that all adoptions were to be in accordance
with custom and ere to be registered before the Native Court.
Most of the special regulations placed seasonal restrictions on

particular types of fishing.6

In 1937 Kennedy, as District,foicer for the Ellice Islands,
forwarded a memorandum to the Resident Commissioner with a list of
suggested amended regulations for the group. In particular, Kennedy
pointed to the differences in social and political structure between

the Gilbert and Ellice groups and the inapplicability of many of the

64 H.E. Maude, personal communication.

65 Barley to Barton (Acting H.C.), demi-official, 7 June 1936 -
WPHC, Inwards Correspondence, General, 1407/1936.

66 GEIC, Gilbert Islands, Island Regulations, 1939.
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regulations to the smaller communities of the Ellice Islands. He
emphasised that in his District all the inhabitants of an island
lived, for the most part of the year, in a single village, were
mostly related in some way, had shared the same schools and were all
adherents of the Protestant faith. Restrictions on iﬁterfisland
travelling had only served to reinforce this position. Regulations
concerning canoes, fishing, feasts, games and danéing were not
generally enforced, Kennedy reported, and if they had been, would
have been regarded as intolerably oppressive.67 No immediate action
was taken, however, and it was not until 1947 that revised Island

Regulations for the Ellice Islands were published.68

Kennedy also noted that there was a degree of politiéal
instability on many of thg Ellice Islands as the result of a
survival of factionalism. He pointéd out that because of a lack of
" intimate knowledge of the island communities, District Officers had
been forced to rely on 'public opinion', in so far as it could be"
determined: by an outsider, in making appointments. A shift in that
opinion could easily leave the Magistrate with the support of only

a minority of the population.

The solution, Kennedy argued, lay in a corps.of~magistrates,
graduates of the Ellice Islands School, who coulﬁ be coached in law
and court procedure and appointed Native Magistrates after a further
training period as Scribes to Native Government5u70 In effect,
Kennedy wished to place the. judicial branch of local government under
an independeﬁt magistrate and to leave political and social affairs
to the Native Governments led by the Chief of Kaupuli. Although
Barley, the Resident Commissioner, supported proposals to separate

magisterial powers from the general business of the island

67 D.O., E.I.D. to R.C., no. 26, 3 April 1937, enclosed in R.C. to
H.C., no. 232, 13 Sept. 1937 - WPHC, Inwards Correspondence,
General, 1407/1936.

68 GEIC, Ellice Islands, Island Regulations, 1947.

69 District Annual Report, Ellice Islands, 1931;2, enclosed in
R.C. to H.C., no. 171, 18 April 1933 - WPHC, Inwards
Correspondence, General, 855/1933. '

70 'Memorandum on Native Magistrates in the Ellice Islands',
enclosed in R.C. to H.C., no. 272, 8 June 1934 - ibid., 1653/1933,
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governments, he dismissed Kennedy's scheme as unrealistic and
premature on the grounds that young magistrates would not be able
to command the required respect on their islands.71 By 1935,
however, two such men, trained by Kennedy, had been appointed as

Scribes to Nétive Governments in the Ellice Islands.72

The debate over the degree to which powers could or should be
separated in the island governments continued until 1938. Barley,'
for example, considered it essential, before progress could be made,
to break down the beliefs that the Magistrate was the agent of the
Colony Government and that ﬁhe Native Governments were not
responsive or responsible to the people. He believed that the
problem would best be solved by a separation of powers within the

island governments - the position laid down in the 1917 Ordinance -

) ' L . , . . 73
and increased local participation in the selection of their members.

Barley had support from some of his District Officers, but
eventually the views of Maude, chief drafter of the new ordinance,
were accepted. Maude argued that the Native Magistrate was
recognised by all as the head of the Native Government and that any
attempt tp separate executive and judicial functions would cause
undue confusion. Maude, with his colleagues, was particularly
concerned with reform to create island governments whose members
were representative of those with whom power really lay - the old
men. On the northern islands, the high chiefs would again be
granted a place, albeit an essentially ceremonial one, in the
island governments. The Native Magistrate would be recognised as
head of the Island Council? Island Court and Lands Court, while

the Kaubure would be elected by both men and women who had reached

71 R.C. to H.C., no. 272, 8 June 1934 - ibid.

72 District Annual Report, Ellice Islands, 1935, enclosed in
R.C. to H.C., no. 291 - ibid., 744/1936.

73 Minutes of discussion between the High Commissioner and the
Resident Commissioner, Suva, 6-7 June 1938, enclosed in H.C.
to R.C., no. 220, 28 July 1938 - WPHC, F10/12/1.
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thirty years of age.74 A Native Government Ordinance which
incorporated these recommendations was promulgated in 1941 but not

introduced until seven years later.

The 1941 Ordinance also provided for the creation of Land
Courts which, it was hoped, would enable the settlement of some
76,000 pending land disputes75k- a source of concern to both
islanders and administrators. When Protectorates were established
in L892, land was considered‘to be 'frozen', that is, title was
regarded as being held by the pefson in possession at that time.
Campbell, for taxation purposes, established a lands register on
each island. Partly because of uncertainty of tenure and confusion
arising from recent civil wars, and partly because of the extremelx
litigious nature of the Gilbertese where land is concerned, the
number of disputed titles multiplied. The registers were altered
by local and European officials alike and decisions made in the more
pressing cases by Government officers who had little or no knowledge
of customs concerning the ownership and transfer of land.76 The
1917 Ordinance gave the Native Governments power to arbitrate in
land disputes but few took more than informal action. A Lands
Commission was established in 1918, with Grimble as Lands
Commissioner, but a shortage of staff (the Colony seldom had a full
establishment) and funds, saw only spasmodic activity until the
1930s when Maude and Kennedy, for the Gilbert and Ellice groups

respectively, began to approach the problem systematically.77

The first full Colony census, conducted in 1931, the recurrence

of drought and the work of the Lands Commission produced an awareness

74  'Memorandum for a Conference of Administrative Officers', Tarawa,
Nov. 1938, enclosed in R.C. to H.C., no. 424, 12 Dec. 1938 =’
ibid.

75 Maude, 'The Colonization of the Phbenix Islands', in Of Islands
and Men, 320.

76 District Annual Report,'Tarawa, Abaiang and Marakei, 1916 (Grimble),

enclosed in R.C. to H.C., no. 57, 21 Feb. 1917 - WPHC, Inwards
Correspondence, General, 1027/1917; Memorandum on 'The Settlement
of Land Disputes by Administrative Officers' (Maude), enclosed
in R.C., to H.C., Confidential, 16 Nov. 1937 - ibid., 4005/1937.

77 1ibid., 'Report of the Ellice Islands Lands Commission, 1936°',
enclosed in R.C. to H.C., no. 147, 31 May 1937 - ibid., 2150/1937.
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of population pressure in the Colony. Maude, as Lands Commissioner,
argued that the Government and the missions were largely responsible
for the problem. Both expected significant financial contributions
for their coffers from the islanders and thus the portion of
coconut production that could be used for food was reduced. 1In the
1930s, moreover, copra prices were depressed and the net income of
the Gilbertese and Ellice Islanders decreased accordingly. At the
same time, traditional checks on population control - abortion,
infanticide and compulsory emigration - were frowned upon by the
missions and later made illegal by the Government. It was therefore
the responsibility of the Government, Maude argued, to provide a
solution. The solution that Maude himself favoured was
resettlement. 8 His view of overpopulation was to be disputed a
decade later, but in 1938 proposals to resettle Gilbertese and
Ellice Islanders on Sydney, Hull and Gardner Islands in the Phoenix
group were approved and finance was provided under the Colonial
Development Scheme. Before administrative staff were withdrawn

. from the Colony at the outbreak of the Pacific War, more than

700 persons had emigrated to the Phoenix Islands.79

78 See the documents published in GEIC, Report ... on the
Colonization of the Phoenix Islands by the surplus population
of the Gilbert and Ellice Islands (Maude), 1938.

79 Maude, 'The Colonization of the Phoenix Islands', 340.
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CHAPTER 5

POLICY REAPPRAISALS

Colonisation by metropolitan powers in the Pacific during the
last two decades of the 19th'céntury was both a part and the
product of the policies that led to European expansion in Africa.
Laissez-faire policies had proved inadeqpate to ensure the supply
of tropical products or safe markets for manufactured goods.
Moreover, the demand for raw materials, a necessary prerequisite
for the 'industrialisation of Europe, had, during the 19th century,
intensified international rivalries. Although the advantages to be
gained from the acquisition of particular areas of the African
continent were often unknown or ill-defined no European pbwer with
large overseas commercial interests was prepared to exclude itself
from possible future benefits. Germany, in pafticular, from the
eariy 1880s, sought the prestige that overseas possessions bestowed
but usually extended control only to areas where German trading

interests had been firmly established.1

The settlement of British and German claims to parts of New
Guinea in 1885 marked the beginning of a decade that was to see

the rapid expansion of colonial rule in the Pacific. Germany

consoljdated its interests in the Solomons, Marshalls and Carolines.

France, which had annexed Tahiti in 1880, extended her dominion to
Wallis and Futuna in 1887 and, within a few years, to other

islands in the Austral and Society groups. -This ekpansion can
partly be explained'in terms of commercial motives,xa desire to
protect the trading interests of nationals ‘and the acceptanqe:by
metropolitan powers of an obligation to minimise conflict within
expatriate communities; or between those communities and indigenous
populations. But a belief in the inherent value of empire was, for
France and Germany, at least as important. Britain was less eager

at this stage to extend her empire.

1 Admiralty, Pacific Islands, I, 318-22; Astor (ed.), The
Colonial Problem, 17-21; Hailey, The Future of Colonial
‘ Peoples, 8-11; Robinson and Gallagher, Africa and the
Victorians: the official mind of Imperialism, passim.
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Humanitarian interests in general, and mission societies in
particular, were strong in ;heir advocacy of formal British rule in
the Pacific; but, in the absence of significant economic or
strategic benefits, the British Government was unwilling to act.

In the final analysis it was international pressure, disorder in
the island communities and commercial rivalries that prompted the
declaration of protectorates but not of sovereignty over the
Tokelau, Cook, Solomon, Gilbert and Ellice groups between 1889 and
1899.2 From the outset, then, Britain's conception of her role in
the Pacific was extremely limited - the provision of law and order,

preferably without the incurrence of costs.

A belief that colonies3 should be self-supporting was one of
the most important principles underlying British colonial policy
before the Second World War. It was further believed that private
rather than public investment should stimulate economic development
and that this, in turn, would generate demand,'and finance, for
the provision of social services.- In practice, however, few
profited from such investment apart from metropolitan companies and

their shareholders. On occasions government investment was used to

stimulate economic development fof the benefit, direct or indiréct,

of the colonial power. Many of West Africa's major railway projects
in the early 20th century, for example, served, at the expense of

the people of the colonies, the interests of large mining companies.

While Joseph Chamberlain's belief in Britain's destiny as a
great governing power may have had its appeal, there always remained
strong economic arguments in support of colonial possessions.
Despite the declarations of the sacred trust of empire and the
paramountcy of 'nmative interests' Which.became common in the 1920s,
the 'dual mandate' remained largely the language of politicians and
philosophers. In practice, it was economics rather than the Crown
that preserved the unity of the Empire. Territories which could

not contribute economically tended to be neglected. Smaller colonies,

2 Admiralty, Pacific Islands, I, 322-9; Morrell, Britain in the
" Pacific Islands, 187-360.

3 1In the discussion that follows the term colonies has been used
in a general sense to describe overseas dependencies including
- protectorates and mandated territories.
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therefore, usually rested on a shaky financial base. Their revenue
was derived mainly from customs duties and simple forms of local
taxation. Salaries and administrative costs, especially in the
scattered island groups of the Pacific, dominated expenditure

columns and thus little was left to finance social development.4

In 1892 Britain had assumed responsibility for the Gilbert and
Ellice Islands only with extreme reluctance. Because of the
parsimonious attitude taken by the Colonial Office, and for reasons
of administrative convenience, the groups were treated as a single
unit. When Ocean Island was annexed to safeguard the interests of
the Pacific Islands Company that island was also placed under the
Resident Commissioner's control. And the formation of the Gilbert
and Ellice Islands Colony in 1915 represented little more than a

tidying-up of British real estate holdings in the central Pacific.

Prior to 1900 the Gilbert and Ellice Islands Protectorate was
an almost irrelevant appendage of Britainfs colonial empire. It
produced nothing of consequence, it was not df strategic importance,
and most of the trade was in‘non-British hands. . At first, the
potential value of the phosphate on Ocean Island was not realised
and no action was taken to provide for government representation
on the island. Although the industry was expected to contribute to
the revenue of the local administration for the twenty years that
the phosphate was mined by a private company, the payments made
were minimal in absolute terms. Whatever views local administrators
may have had towards the disputes between the Company and the
Banabans, pressure from the Colonial Office tended to favour the
Company. In negotiations conducted in London the Secretary of
State and Colonial Office officials seemed to seek the minimum for
the landowners in terms of payments and standards of living that
would free them from political criticism at home. There was no
attempt, for example, to insist on either the Company or, later,
the B.P.C., paying full commercial price for phosphate land. The
reason is not difficult to find. 1In accordance with prevailing
views on policy, colonies were expected to contribute in some way

to the economic welfare of the metropolitan power.

4 See Dutt, The Crisis of Britain and the British Empire, 69-77;
Furnivall, Colonial Policy and Practice, A comparative study
of Burma and Netherlands India, 276-318.
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The economic functions of empire, as they were present in the
particular circumstances of the Gilbert and Ellice Islands Colony,
became even clearer when the British Phosphate Commissioners
commenced operations in 1920. "The B.P.C. was formed with the
explicit aim of exploiting the phosphates in the interests of the
three partner governments. Because of high shipping costs the
United Kingdom took only small tonﬁages for a few years, and then
none at all, but continued to receive indirect benefits from the
industry in the form of cheap and plentiful imports of agricultural
products from Australia and New Zealand. 1In the years immediately
prior to the Second World War the B.P.C. was exporting nearly

400,000 tons of phosphate annually from Ocean Island while

contributing about £35,000 to Colony revenue.

At this time annual Colony expenditure averaged about
£70,000 - or approximately £2 per head for the resident
population - a clear indication of the limited scope of Government
activity. 'Government' was essentially the supervision of local
government; or 'Native Administration' as it was called. The role

of government officers was to keep the peace and rectify injustice,

ensure the collection of taxation and provide a few basic services.
Because of the smallness of the Colony, and its peculiar geography,

the civil service was large in proportion to the population.

Although the Colony Government operated within the general
framework of policy laid down in London, that policy was,
essentially, undefined. Administrators became aware of changes in
British policy only througﬁ decisions given on particular issues
supplemented by an occasional circular despatch. Often, too, those
decisions depended not on the overall approach taken by any
government in London but on the attitudes of the person(s) in the
Colonial Office handling the Colony's affairs. Unless they directly
affected the Colony, copies of Parliamentary Debates or Command
Papers - even those like the 1923 White Paper on Kenya which have
come to be regarded as milestones in the development of colonial

.5 ' . . . .
policy - were not sent to administrative officers in the Colony.

5 'Indians in Kenya' - Cmd 1922 (1923).
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The Resident Commissioner of the Gilbert and Ellice Islands
Colony was, and has remained, responsible to the High Commissioner
for the Western Pacific. When matters were referred to the High
Commissioner's office, however, problems tended to be approached on
an ad hoc basis without any serious attempt being made to ensure
that decisions were either consistent or co-ordinated. And those
decisions were often made with little regard for conditions in the
Colony of which the High Commissioner was, at best, ill-informed.
In the half-century prior to the Second World War only Thurston (1893),
im Thurn (1906) and Fletcher (1931) visited the Colony. Further,
the position of the High Commissioner was, until 1952, a part-time
job as the office was conjoint with those of Governor of Fiji and
Consul-General for the Western Pacific. Thus there was little time
for Western Pacific affairs, resulting in de facto decision-making
power resting, for the most part, with the Secretary to the ﬁigh

Commissioner.

In the years immediately preceding the Second World War
initiative shown by some officers led tobattempts to modify and
up-date government activity in the Colony. Co-operative societies
were formed, people were resettled in the Phoenix Islands and. local
government policy was substantially revised. But it was the hiatus
in administration caused by the war; the withdrawal of administrative
staff for three years, and occupation by Japanese and, later,
American troops, that enabled and, indeed, forced a comprehensive
reappraisal of policy for the Colony. This reappraisal, made by
Colony and High Commission staff_(éome of whom had served in the
Colony), combined with a far-reaching revision of British colonial
policy during the war years, produced radical changes in the Colony.

and led to the introduction of its'people into the modern world.

Depressed prices for tropical products during the late 1920s
and throughout the 1930s represented a severe blow to the economies
of many colonies. Wages were reduced and there was a marked
increase in unemployment amongst people who could no longer fall
béck on the relative security of rural life. Discontent in the
West Indies, expressed in disturbances in urban slums and depressed
rural areas, forced politicans and the public alike to reconsider
the validity of existing policies especially so far as the

relationship between Britain and its colonies was concerned.
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The re-thinking process that took place in'government circles
between 1935 and 1945 was both stimulated and guided by increased
discussion of colonial problems in the press and in academic
journals and institutions, and by the publication of several books -
on the administration of dependencies from both the policy and
practical points of view. There were seminars and conferences,
especially at Oxford and Cambridge Universities, on colonial affairs
attended by people of the influence and standing of Lord Olivier,

a former Gngfnor of Jamaica and chairman of the 1930 Royal
Commission on tHe West Indies sugar industry, Lord Hgiley and
Margery Perham. Articles on topical iséues, as well as on policy

generally, appeared in the Times, the Manchester Guardian and the

New Statesman. Most importantly, there was a close liaison between

government officials and academics engaged in research into

colonial affairs.

A study sponsored by the Royal Institute of International
Affairs on The Colonial Problem,6 published in 1937, was followed a

year later by the monumental African Survey written under the

directorship of Lord Hailey. Hailey then wrote Britain and Her

Dependencies (1943) and for a decade or more vigorously promoted the

need for new policies. Even earlier, W.M.‘Macmillan, a prominent
Fabian and former Professor of History at the University of the
Witwatersrand, had written on the problems of South Africa7 and, in
1936, drew atéention to the plight of the people of Ehe West Indies.

His work, appropriately entitled Warningifrom the West Indies was

published - just prior to the disturbances that led to the appointment
of the Royal Commission on West Indian affairs under the
chairmanship of Lord Moyne and, ultimately, to the Colonial

Development and Welfare Act.

When the Moyne Commission reported to the Government in 1940
it was already‘accepted that drastic changes would need to be made
to Britain's colonial policy. There was sufficient unrest in the

more politically advanced areas of the Empire to suggestthat economic

6 Astor (ed.), The Colonial Problem.

7 See Macmillan, The Cape Colour Question (1927), Bantu, Boer
and Britain (1929); Complex.South Africa (1930). See also
" Africa Emergent (1938).
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development did not necessarily lead to widespread 'spin-off'
benefits for the populace at large or social development. It was
accepted that financial aid was ,essential if the welfare of colonial
peoples was to be safeguarded and, as a corollary, that the United
Kingdom would be required to take a positive approach to the problem

and provide the bulk of the finance.

In its report the Commission strongly recommended that
£1,000,000 be provided annually, for use in the British West Indies,
for a period of twenty years 'to finance schemes for the general
improvement of education, the health services, housing and slum
clearance, the creation of labour departments, the promotion of
social welfare facilities, and land settlement'.8 These proposals
were broadened into the Colonial Development and Welfare Scheme

announced in a White Paper in February 1940.9

The resultant Colonial Development and Welfare Act of 1940
marks, perhaps, the most important turning-point in British
colonial policy in the 20th century. For the first time the
United Kingdom Government abandoned the principle that colonies
should be self-supporting and expressed, in practical terms, a
willingness to provide aid to its colonies without expecting
benefits in return. The 1929 Colonial Development Act,‘for
example, had been intended 'to promote commerce with, or industry
in, the United Kingdom'.lo Under this Act funds had usually been
made available only for capital works with the colonies being
expecte& to meet all recurrent costs. The range of projects which
had been eligible for funding under the scheme had been extremely
limited. Technical education, for example, could be financed but
not broader educational programmes. There were exceptions to
these general conditions but the Act was designed and administered
as part of a wider attempt to overcome economic problems in

Britain. Under the Act, a maximum of £1,000,000 per year had

8 'West Indies Royal Commission, 1938-9, Recommendations'
- Cmd 6174 (1940), 9.

9 'Statement of Policy on Colonial Development and Welfare'
- Cmd 6175 (1940). '

10 ibid., 6; see also 'The Colonial Empire (1939-1947)'
- Cmd 7167 (1947), 11-15.
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been provided but by 1940 less than half of the allocated funds
11 ‘
had been spent.

» By contrast, £5,000,000 a year for ten years was provided
under the 1940 Act with an additional £500,000 being made available
for research. Development was henceforth to be considered 'in the
widest sense' and funds were to be made available for education and
health services which had been excluded under the earlier scheme.
The Act made no distinction between funds for capital or recurrent
expenditure; grants were no longer to be restricted to capital
projects which the colonies could maintain ffom their own resources;

the colonies were no longer expected to pay their own way.

It should be noted that when the 1940 proposals were announced,
and during the ensuing'decade, there were few differences that
could be discerned between the policies of the two major parties
in the United Kingdom. Arthur Creech Jones, speaking for the Labour
Party, gave his 'whole-hearted support' to the Colonial Development
and Welfare Bili.12 When, a few years later, Creech Jones, who was
appointed Secretary of State for the Colonies in 1946, introduced
- Bills establishing the Colonial Development Corporation (1947) and
the Overseas Resources Development Bill (1948) Stanley, the
Conservative spokesman, gave his party's support to both measufes.
Later, Creech Jones was to argue that the 1940 Act did little more
than mark a change of principle and that it was because of the
Labour Government in the years 1945 to 1951 that such impetus was
given to changes in policy and increased expénditure in the
post-war years.14 Such a view was inconsistent with his earlier
statements and is not in accordance with the abundant evidence of
an 'above party' approach to colonial affairs in Parliament

throughout the 1940s.

11 'Statement of Policy ...' - Cmd 6175, 5.

12 G.B.P.D., CCCLXI (1939-40), 54

13 "ibid., CCCCXXXIX (1946-7), 440; ~CCCCXLVI (1947-8), 138.

14 Creech Jones, '"The Labour Party and Colonial Policy 1945-51', in-
: Creech Jones (ed.), New Fabian Colonial Essays, 19-37.
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The 1940s also introduced a new phase in the political
evolution of the Empire. Representative institutions had,lfrom
the early 19th century, been regarded as the prerogative of
colonies with large settler communities but the first stages. in
this process of constitutional development were not introduced in
most other colonies until the last two decades before the Second

World War. The rapid political advance that has taken place in

British territories since the war is the product of several factors:

many Africans travelled overseas for the first time as members of
the armed forces and were thus introduced to new ideas and
acquired.new émbitions;v the signing of the Atlantic Charter and
the formation of the United Nations received wide publicity and
made a considerable impact; discontent in the colonies arising
from depressed economic and social éonditions provided fertile
soil for aspiring political leaders - many of whom were drawn from
the newly-educated elites who had, perhaps, the greatest sense of
grievance against the colonial administrations. Nor was Britain
entirely impervious to the demands of nationalist grOups; The
rapid and generous response of the people in the colonies to the
war effort made a considerable impact on public opinion in
Britain. The colonies, many felt, had earned their freedom.
Britain, as a colonial power recognised, élbeit reluctantly at
first, the strength of nationalist movements in the more advanced
colonies and thereafter sought to keep political development
attuned to local aspirations. The process of decolonisation was
hastened by raised educational levels and by pressure in the

United Nations for the 'liberation' of colonial peoples.

But colonial policy, whether concerned simply with methods
of administration, or with the broader issues of political, social
or economic development - and whether it is formulated or stated
in response to commercial or othervpressufes, or as a response to
a particular crisis - remains a nebulous thing, and it may be
defined at a variety of levels. As policy is handed from one
level down to the next, general principles are often lost from
sight, confused, or modified as particular circumstances and
personalities come into play. 1In the Gilbert and Ellice Islands
Colony, for example, the pronouncements of the Secretary of State

have passed through the Colonial Office and the High Commissioner's
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office before they reach the Resident Commissioner who has the
responsibility for seeing that principleé and decisions are put
into practice. At a lower level again come the departmental
officials who are responsible for routine administration but who
often lack interest in, and knowledge of, policy matters. And
where any form of control is devolved upon local governments the
people directly involved at this level have even less interest in
policy or principle but only a concern with the day to day affairs
of their particular islénd. In practice, then, policy as it was
defined in London has often been at variance with. practice in the
islaﬁd communities. And in such a small remote territory,
especially before the days of sophisticated methods of communication,
the impact of a single dominant personality could be maximised;

the influence of William Telfer Campbell, for example, still

lingers in many of the Gilbert and Ellice Islands.

Planning for post-war reconstruction in the Gilbert and Ellice
Islands Colony began in the High.Commissioner's office in mid-1943.
Although all proposals were put forward in the light of stated
policies regarding the development of colonies for ultimate

self-government, the full implications of the 1940 Colonial

'Development and Welfare Act were not understood. The possibility

of funding under the scheme for some projects was not ignored but
the High Commissioner and his subordinates saw the Act as a means

of financing reconstruction rather than a force that would
revolutionise administration in the Colony. It was believed that
the pre-war establishment had been excessive and could nbt be
justified. Planning was oriented towards the provision of a minimum
of services, the rapid localisation of the civil service, the
devolution of all possible responsibility to the island governments
and the removal of official supervision at local and central

levels as early as possible.

In 1943 a proposal was put forward from the High Commissioner's
office for the abolition of the Colony as a separate entity and its
incorporation as a 'Native Territory' in the Colony of Fiji. It
was argued that the maintenance of the Gilbert and Ellice Islands
Colony with a separate self-contained colonial administration had
been wasteful of funds and manpower, especially where officers had

been dependent on the vagaries of a few small vessels for transport.
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It was proposed that in future only the minimum number of personnel,
on secondment from Fiji, would actually be based in the Colony.
Where possible the functions of government would be performed in
Fiji. As an additional benefit, officials employed in the Gilbert
and Ellice Islands would not have to spend a disproportionate amount
of time preparing the reports and returns expected of all
dependencieé. The scheme was only briefly considered and then’
abandoned when the’pride of the Gilbert and Ellice Islanders in
their separate identity as a Colony, and the fact that the Colony
obtained a significant portion of its revenue from the sale of
postage stamps, were considered to‘outweigh possible gains in terms
of administrative convenience. When detailed planning commenced
late in 1943 the general‘views underlying the earlier proposals e
were preserved. There was, however, some initial uncertainty as

to whether war damage and the discovery of alternative sources of
phosphate would lead to the cessation of mining operations at

Ocean Island. Sir Philip Mitchell, the High Commissioner, argued
that even if mining were to be recommenced the Colony's administration
should not rest on a financial base that would disappear within
twenty years. Therefore, personnel and government services were to
be pruned to the minimum. The Resident Commissioner and his staff
would form a 'sea-borne administration' to prevent the pre-war loss
of time and efficiency caused by haphazard shipping and the
consequent inability of officers to tour their Districts. The
Colony was not to have a full governmental structure =- treasury

and audit functions, for example, were to be performed in Fiji.

Two major inter-related principles underlay Mitchell's
proposals. Firstly, he maintained, the Colony was too small, and
its islands too scattered, for it to support a normal self-contained
administration. The pre-war establishment of forty, he said, was
far larger than could be justified in the Coloﬁy's circumstances.
Secondly, he believed that the Colony's recurrent expenditure
should be kept within the estimated recurrent revenue, that is,
exclusive of revenue contributed directly or indirectly by the
phosphate induétry. Recurrent revenue was estimated at £20,000 per
year. It was admitted, however, that expenditure could increase to
£100,000 a year in the short term while training and 'nativisation'

programmes were implemented. Mitchell believed that his proposals
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embodied the only solution to the problem of slow but inevitable
increase of expatriate personnel - an increase that resulted in
little growth but made the Colony a continuing burden on the United

Kingdom Treasury.

In a memorandum published in October 1944 Mitchell put forward
the four cardinal principles that were to form the basis of post-war
administrative policy:

(i) The Colony is to be regarded as a 'mative territory';
its inhabitants are now discharging a wide variety
of administrative and technical functions and are
assumed to be capable of being taught all the others
which their society requires, given the necessary
time, educational facilities and genuine
determination to do so.

(ii) No European or other officer is to be engaged for
any post in the islands until it has been conclusively
shown that it is impossible to obtain or train an
islander for it.

(iii) The main preoccupation of the administration must be
to train the islanders to discharge all necessary
functions for themselves.

(iv) Such European staff (other than members of the
Colonial Administrative and other Services posted to
the Colony) as it is inevitable to employ in the
meantime should be engaged on short term secondment
conditions so that it may readily make way for
trained islanders as they become available.l5

In June 1945 these principles were embodied in a detailed

memorandum written by H.E. Maude, then First Assistant Secretary

to the Western Pacific High Commission.16 Maude, like Mitchell,
wished to see the Colony progress politically, but within carefully
defined limits. Plans were made with the intention of interfering
as little as possible with traditional ways of life. The functions
of local government were to be broadened to the* point where each
island government would be virtually autonomous. To achieve such
ends it was essential that expatriate adminisfrative staff should

be kept to a minimum and in this Maude was in full agreement with

15 WPHC, Gilbert and Ellice Islands Colony, Policy and
Administration after the War, 4 Oct. 1944.

16 WPHC, Gilbert and Ellice Islands Colony, Memorandum on
: Post-War Reorganization and Administrative Policy, 6 June 1945.
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Mitchell:

To one who has watched a gradual increase in the
European Colony staff from 17 in 1928 to 40 in 1941,
and the steady multiplying of Government Departments
without an apparent commensurate growth in the
efficiency of the administration, the new proposals
have come as a welcome indication of what can be
achieved in future if we possess the necessary will
and determination. It is urged that the policy, as
finally approved by His Excellency, should be applied
inflexibly if the Colony is not to revert slowly and
insensibly to its pre-war state, in which the salaries
of the European staff absorbed such a large proportion
of the revenue that little was left for the progress and
development of the indigenous population. Convincing
pleas will very probably be made from time to time for
the re-introduction of the old top-heavy organization
and for the multiplying of European officials ad
infinitum: in each instance a plausible case can be
made out on the grounds of increased efficiency, but

it is essential, in my opinion, that it should none the
less be rejected and that the opposite policy should be
pursued of training natives to take over_the various
positions at present held by Europeans.

The means by which principles were to be put into practice were
spelled out in detail. The island governments which had been
designed to operate under the close supervision of a District
Officer were to be re~structured to allow for greater independence
of action. Financial responsibility was to be devolved as early as
possible, even if subventions from Government were needed for a
few years. The Island Councils were to be given power to establish
~and maintain schools, clinics, sanitation services and wireless '
stations. It was crucial, Maude argued, that the islanders and
their Councils should be allowed to operate on the assumption that
all revenue raised locally should be'availablé for local

expenditure.18

Maude agreed with Grantham, Mitchell's successor, that a
central administration, land-based, and larger than that envisaged
by Mitchell, would be required to provide certain services and to

co~ordinate the activities of the island governments. He did,

17. ibid., 2-3.

18 ibid., 3-5.
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nevertheless, strongly recommend that the expatriate establishment
should be pruned from the pre-war total of forty to a permanent
staff of twenty-two, plus five temporary officers to be engaged in

19
local government and lands settlement work. There were to be

reductions in all departments, especially in the Treasury and

Customs, Administration and Wireless Departments. In particular,
Maude pointed to the difficulty in justifying an establishment of
six in the Treasury, Customs and Post Office Department - one

officer for each £14,400 of Government expenditure.

A central government headquarters was to be established ét
Abemama which was favoured because of its central location and the
availability of land on the island. The 1ag60n entrance at
Abemama was not as navigable as that at Tarawa but it was believed
that it would be of adequate depth for any vessels likely to visit
the Colony.21 Although the Resident Commiss